

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2018

Stress, Anxiety, and Depression: Role of Campus Connectedness, Social Support, and Coping Among Nepalese Nursing Students

Priscilla Samson Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Nursing Commons</u>, and the <u>Psychiatric and Mental Health Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Health Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Priscilla Samson

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Leslie Hussey, Committee Chairperson, Nursing Faculty Dr. Eileen Fowles, Committee Member, Nursing Faculty Dr. Tracy Wright, University Reviewer, Nursing Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2018

Abstract

Stress, Anxiety, and Depression: Role of Campus Connectedness, Social Support, and Coping Among Nepalese Nursing Students

by

Priscilla Samson

MSc (N), Dr. M.G.R. Medical University, Chennai, 2008 PGDHHM, IGNOU, New Delhi, 2002

BSc (N), Dr. M.G.R. Medical University, Madras, 1995

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Nursing

Walden University

November 2018

Abstract

High levels of stress, anxiety, and depression (SAD) can adversely influence physical health, psychological well-being, and academic and clinical performance of nursing students. Numerous studies have identified the factors associated with SAD; however, a paucity of empirical research addresses the relationship of SAD with campus connectedness (CC), perceived social support (PSS), and coping. The purpose of this quantitative cross-sectional study, guided by Lazarus and Folkman's theory of stress, coping, and adaptation, was to determine the prevalence of SAD and examine its relationship with CC, PSS, and coping among undergraduate nursing students of Nepal. Survey research was conducted using depression anxiety stress scale, campus connectedness scale, the multidimensional scale for perceived social support, and brief cope inventory. Among 680 nursing students analyzed, the 51.7% reported moderate to extremely severe levels of SAD. A one-way multivariate analysis of variance revealed a statistically significant relationship among CC, PSS, and coping with SAD (p < .001). A discriminant analysis indicated that depression best discriminated the levels of CC and PSS. The levels of coping were found to be best discriminated by anxiety. The findings can be sourced to create awareness among educators and administrators of nursing colleges about the roles that campus connectedness, social support, and coping strategies play in the occurrence SAD. Future studies can focus on the need to establish mental health screening and social support services, such as counseling centers in nursing colleges, which may bring about a positive social change in the lives of nursing students. Stress, Anxiety, and Depression: Role of Campus Connectedness, Social Support, and Coping Among Nepalese Nursing Students

by

Priscilla Samson

MSc (N), Dr. M.G.R. Medical University, Chennai, 2008 PGDHHM, IGNOU, New Delhi, 2002

BSc (N), Dr. M.G.R. Medical University, Madras, 1995

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Nursing

Walden University

November 2018

Dedication

I dedicate my Ph.D. dissertation to

- The God Almighty, my Heavenly Father: You provided me all that was necessary for the completion of this dissertation. You are my rock, my refuge, and my strength.
- My beloved Husband, Dr. Samson Prakash Retnaraj: You initiated the thought for pursuing higher studies in me. You always believed in me, supported me, encouraged me, and comforted me.
- My charming son, Prateek Joshua Samson: You took care of yourself and papa when I was away for the residencies to another country. I hope I have inspired you to tread on a difficult path.
- The Evangelical Friends Mission: I appreciate the prayer support, financial support and encouragement I received from God's people.
- My dearest mother: You have been my source of comfort, encouragement and prayers throughout this journey.
- All my hardworking students: I did it and you can do it too!

Acknowledgments

My sincere, heartfelt and deepest gratitude to my committee Chair, Dr. Leslie C. Hussey for her continuous support during my dissertation journey. I am overwhelmed by her patience, motivation, tenacity, and the belief in me. I could not have asked for a better Chair and an abler mentor for my Ph.D. dissertation. Not only she is a fantastic mentor, but she inspired me to become a mentor for my students.

I would also like to thank my committee Member, Dr. Eileen R. Fowles and the URR member, Dr. Tracy L. Wright for their encouragement, insightful comments, thought provoking questions, and guidance that propelled me to widen my perspective resulting in a holistic research.

I am thankful to Dr. Nancy Moss, the Program Director for her leadership and for personally advising me on my dissertation during one of the residencies. Her positivity and dynamic personality has inspired me.

I am grateful to Prof. Sarala K.C., the Nursing Dean, Patan Academy of Health Sciences, Kathmandu, Nepal. Her thoughtfulness in adjusting my working hours, granting me leave to attend Ph.D. residencies, and providing letters of recommendation are significant contributors that enabled completion of my dissertation.

I also place on record, my gratitude to all the Principals of the Colleges for consenting to my requests to use their campuses for data collection.

To conclude, it will be incomplete if I do not express my thanks to all the participants, without whose participation, it would not have been possible for me to accomplish this research.

List of Tablesv
List of Figures
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study1
Introduction1
Background4
Problem Statement
Purpose of the Study
Research Questions and Hypotheses9
Theoretical Framework of the Study10
Nature of the Study
Definitions12
Assumptions13
Scope and Delimitations
Limitations
Significance
Summary
Chapter 2: Literature Review
Introduction
Literature Search Strategy19
Theoretical Foundation
Origin of Theory20

Table of Contents

Major Theoretical Propositions	21
Application of Theory in Literature	24
Rationale for Theory Application	26
Literature Review Related to Key Concepts	27
Definitions	27
Stress, Anxiety, and Depression Among Nursing Students	37
Summary and Conclusion	52
Chapter 3: Research Method	55
Introduction	55
Research Design and Rationale	56
Variables	56
Research Design and Research Questions	56
Time and Resource Constraints	57
Research Design Choice Rationale	57
Methodology	58
Target Population and Population Size	58
Sampling and Sampling Procedure	59
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	60
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	62
Depression Anxiety Stress Scale	63
Campus Connectedness Scale (CCS)	64
Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MSPSS)	65

Brief Cope Inventory (BCI)	66
Demographic Items	67
Variable Operationalization	67
Data Analysis Plan	70
Threats to Validity	73
Threats to External Validity	73
Threats to Internal Validity	74
Threats to Construct Validity	75
Ethical Procedures	76
Access to Subjects	76
Treatment of Human Subjects	76
Issues Related to Data Treatment	77
Summary	78
Chapter 4: Results	79
Introduction	79
Data Collection	80
Statistical Analyses	83
Descriptive Statistics of Sociodemographic Characteristics	83
Descriptive Statistics of Sample Variables	86
Statistical Assumptions for Multivariate Analysis of Variance	
(MANOVA)	91
MANOVA Results	115

Discriminant Analysis as a Follow-Up Procedure to MANOVA	119
Summary	133
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	134
Introduction	134
Interpretation of the Findings	135
Prevalence of Stress, Anxiety, and Depression	135
Campus Connectedness and SAD	136
Perceived Social Support and SAD	137
Coping and SAD	139
Theoretical Findings	141
Limitations of the Study	142
Recommendations	143
Implications	145
Conclusion	146
References	148
Appendix A: Sociodemographic Information	196
Appendix B: Depression Anxiety Stress Scale-21	198
Appendix C: Campus Connectedness Scale	199
Appendix D: Multidimensional Perceived Social Support Scale	200
Appendix E: Brief Cope Inventory	202

List of Tables

Table 1. Overview of Instruments	63
Table 2. Data Collection Implementation	81
Table 3. Sociodemographic Information: Personal Characteristics	84
Table 4. Sociodemographic Information: Financial Characteristics	84
Table 5. Sociodemographic Information: Educational Characteristics	85
Table 6. Sociodemographic Information: Counseling Services	86
Table 7. Descriptive Statistics for Campus Connectedness and Perceived Social Supp	port
	89
Table 8. Descriptive Statistics for Coping Used by the Students	89
Table 9. Descriptive Statistics for Stress, Anxiety, and Depression Using DASS-21	90
Table 10. Pearson's Correlation Coefficients for Outcome Variables	108
Table 11. Levene's Test for Homogeneity of Variance for the Levels of Predictor	
Variables	113
Table 12. Box's Test of Equality of Covariance Matrices for Predictor Variables	114
Table 13. Multivariate Test Results for Campus Connectedness	116
Table 14. Multivariate Test for Perceived Social Support	117
Table 15. Multivariate Test for Problem-Focused Coping	118
Table 16. Multivariate Test for Emotion-Focused Coping	119
Table 17. Significant Tests and Strength-of-Relationship Statistics for Campus	
Connectedness	121

Table 18. Coefficients for Discriminant Functions and the Pooled With-in Groups	
Correlations for Campus Connectedness	122
Table 19. Group Centroid for Discriminant Function: Campus Connectedness	122
Table 20. Group Classification: Campus Connectedness	123
Table 21. Significant Tests and Strengths-of-Relationship Statistics for Perceived Soci	ial
Support	124
Table 22. Coefficients for Discriminations and the Pooled-With-in-Groups Correlation	15
for Perceived Social Support	125
Table 23. Group-Centroid for Discriminant Function Perceived Social Support	126
Table 24. Group Classification: Perceived Social Support	126
Table 25. Significant Tests and Strengths-of-Relationship Statistics for Problem-Focus	sed
Coping	
Coping	127
Table 26. Coefficients for Discriminant Functions and the Pooled With-in-Groups	127
Table 26. Coefficients for Discriminant Functions and the Pooled With-in-Groups Correlations for Problem-Focused Coping	127 128
 Table 26. Coefficients for Discriminant Functions and the Pooled With-in-Groups Correlations for Problem-Focused Coping Table 27. Group-Centroid for Discriminant Function: Problem-Focused Coping 	127 128 129
 Table 26. Coefficients for Discriminant Functions and the Pooled With-in-Groups Correlations for Problem-Focused Coping Table 27. Group-Centroid for Discriminant Function: Problem-Focused Coping Table 28. Group Classification: Problem-Focused Coping 	127 128 129 129
 Table 26. Coefficients for Discriminant Functions and the Pooled With-in-Groups Correlations for Problem-Focused Coping Table 27. Group-Centroid for Discriminant Function: Problem-Focused Coping Table 28. Group Classification: Problem-Focused Coping Table 29. Significant Tests and Strengths-of-Relationship Statistics for Emotion-Focused 	127 128 129 129 sed
 Table 26. Coefficients for Discriminant Functions and the Pooled With-in-Groups Correlations for Problem-Focused Coping Table 27. Group-Centroid for Discriminant Function: Problem-Focused Coping Table 28. Group Classification: Problem-Focused Coping Table 29. Significant Tests and Strengths-of-Relationship Statistics for Emotion-Focuse Coping 	127 128 129 129 sed 130
 Table 26. Coefficients for Discriminant Functions and the Pooled With-in-Groups Correlations for Problem-Focused Coping Table 27. Group-Centroid for Discriminant Function: Problem-Focused Coping Table 28. Group Classification: Problem-Focused Coping Table 29. Significant Tests and Strengths-of-Relationship Statistics for Emotion-Focus Coping Table 30. Coefficients for Discriminant Functions and the Pooled With-in Groups 	127 128 129 129 sed 130
 Table 26. Coefficients for Discriminant Functions and the Pooled With-in-Groups Correlations for Problem-Focused Coping Table 27. Group-Centroid for Discriminant Function: Problem-Focused Coping Table 28. Group Classification: Problem-Focused Coping Table 29. Significant Tests and Strengths-of-Relationship Statistics for Emotion-Focuse Coping Table 30. Coefficients for Discriminant Functions and the Pooled With-in Groups Correlations for Emotion-Focused Coping 	127 128 129 129 sed 130
 Table 26. Coefficients for Discriminant Functions and the Pooled With-in-Groups Correlations for Problem-Focused Coping Table 27. Group-Centroid for Discriminant Function: Problem-Focused Coping Table 28. Group Classification: Problem-Focused Coping Table 29. Significant Tests and Strengths-of-Relationship Statistics for Emotion-Focus Coping Table 30. Coefficients for Discriminant Functions and the Pooled With-in Groups Correlations for Emotion-Focused Coping Table 31. Group Centroid for Discriminant Emotion-Focused Coping 	127 128 129 129 sed 130 131

List of Figures

Figure 1. Boxplot for campus connectedness	93
Figure 2. Boxplot for perceived social support	93
Figure 3. Boxplot for problem-focused coping	94
Figure 4. Boxplot for emotion-focused coping	94
Figure 5. Normal Q-Q plot of stress for low campus connectedness.	95
Figure 6. Normal Q-Q plot of stress for high campus connectedness.	96
Figure 7. Normal Q-Q plot of anxiety for low campus connectedness.	96
Figure 8. Normal Q-Q plot of anxiety for high campus connectedness.	97
Figure 9. Normal Q-Q plot of depression for low campus connectedness.	97
Figure 10. Normal Q-Q plot of depression for high campus connectedness	98
Figure 11. Normal Q-Q plot of stress for low perceived social support	98
Figure 12. Normal Q-Q plot of stress for high perceived social support	99
Figure 13. Normal Q-Q plot of anxiety for low perceived social support	99
Figure 14. Normal Q-Q plot of anxiety for high perceived social support	100
Figure 15. Normal Q-Q plot of depression for low perceived social support	100
Figure 16. Normal Q-Q plot of depression for high perceived social support	101
Figure 17. Normal Q-Q plot of stress for low use problem-focused coping	101
Figure 18. Normal Q-Q plot of stress for high use problem-focused coping	102
Figure 19. Normal Q-Q plot of anxiety for low use problem-focused coping	102
Figure 20. Normal Q-Q plot of anxiety for high use problem-focused coping	103
Figure 21. Normal Q-Q plot of depression for low use problem-focused coping	103

Figure 22. Normal Q-Q plot of depression for high use problem-focused coping 10	04
Figure 23. Normal Q-Q plot of stress for low use emotion-focused coping 10	04
Figure 24. Normal Q-Q plot of stress for high use emotion-focused coping 10	05
Figure 25. Normal Q-Q plot of anxiety for low use emotion-focused coping 10	05
Figure 26. Normal Q-Q plot of anxiety for high use emotion-focused coping 10	06
Figure 27. Normal Q-Q plot of depression for low use emotion-focused coping 10	06
Figure 28. Normal Q-Q plot of depression for high use emotion-focused coping 10	07
Figure 29. Scatterplot matrix for low campus connectedness	09
Figure 30. Scatterplot matrix for high campus connectedness	09
Figure 31. Scatterplot matrix of low perceived social support	10
Figure 32. Scatterplot matrix of high perceived social support	10
Figure 33. Scatterplot matrix of low use problem-focused coping	11
Figure 34. Scatterplot matrix of high use problem-focused coping	11
Figure 35. Scatterplot matrix of low emotion-focused coping	12
Figure 36. Scatterplot matrix of high use emotion-focused coping	12

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Introduction

Psychological distress including stress, anxiety, and depression are current global problems (Bilgel & Bayram, 2014). Psychological distress can be viewed as an emotional disturbance that may affect the lives of the individuals on a daily basis (Mirowsky & Ross, 2002; Wheaton, 2007). College students experience high levels of stress, anxiety, and depression compared with the general population (Besser & Zeigler-Hill, 2014; Bewick, Koutsopoulou, Miles, Slaa, & Barkham, 2010; Gallagher, 2008; MacKean, 2011). Lifetime prevalence of stress, anxiety, and depression among adolescents and young adults range from 5% to 70% globally (Sahoo & Khess, 2010). The American College Health Association (2011) and Yamashita, Saito, and Takao (2012) noted that anxiety is the most common mental health problem reported by college students. Most undergraduate students transitioning to adulthood encounter stressful situations (Lei, Xiao, Liu, & Li, 2016) that may be responsible for a high rate of depression and anxiety among them (Amarasuriya, Jorm, & Reavley, 2015; Bayram & Bilgel, 2008; Ibrahim & Abdelreheem, 2015). Nursing is considered a stressful profession (Hamaideh & Ammouri, 2011). Stress, anxiety, and depression have been identified as significant conditions related to psychological distress during nursing education (Patterson, 2016). The literature indicates a high prevalence of psychological distress among nursing students (Basu, Sinha, Ahamed, Chatterjee, & Misra, 2016; Brown, Anderson-Johnson, & McPherson, 2016; Smith & Yang, 2017). Various research findings reveal that nursing

students are often exposed to high levels of stress when compared with students from other programs (Alzayyat & Al-Gamal, 2016; Bartlett, Taylor, & Nelson, 2016).

Excessive and prolonged stress can be harmful to students' academic performance and physical and psychological well-being (Beiter et al., 2015; Hamaideh, 2015; Singh, Junnarkar, & Sharma, 2015). Students who perceive high levels of stress may often become depressed (Dahlin & Runeson, 2007; Tosevski, Milovancevic, & Gajic, 2010). Students suffering from anxiety and depression may also be at risk of poor academic performance (Papazisis, Tsiga, Papanikolaou, Vlasiadis, & Sapountzi-Krepia, 2008). Likewise, data from the American College Health Association (2013) reveal that high levels of stress among students interfere with the academic performance and achievements. Conversely, Stupnisky, Perry, Renaud, and Hladkyj (2013) stated that students who exhibit a low level of stress do well academically. During the transition from adolescence to adulthood, the failure to use adaptive coping strategies may further result in stress, anxiety, and depression (Ribeiro et al., 2017).

Nursing students are the future health care professionals and have a significant role in providing physical and psychosocial support to their clients. Therefore, the level of psychological distress needs to be minimized (Dalir & Mazloum, 2012). The literature identifies three key factors, campus connectedness (Bales, Pidgeon, Lo, Stapleton, & Magyar, 2015; Jdaitawi, 2015; Lee, Keough, & Sexton, 2002; Lee & Robbins, 1995), social support (Alimoradi, Asadi, Asadbeigy, & Asadniya, 2014; Awang, Kutty, & Ahmad, 2014; Jibeen, 2015; Pidgeon, McGrath, Magya, Stapleton, & Lo, 2014; Roohafza et al., 2014; Yasin & Dzulkifli, 2010), and coping (Bales et al., 2015; Carver, 1997; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Ni et al., 2010; Pidgeon et al., 2014) that may help in minimizing the prevalence of anxiety, stress, and depression among nursing students.

Turner (2007) noted that approximately three-quarters of undergraduate students experience depression, anxiety, or other psychological problems. In Nepal, no national data are available on the prevalence of mental health problems (Luitel et al., 2015). A recent study by Risal, Manandhar, Linde, Steiner, and Holen (2016) found high rates of anxiety and depression among the general population in Nepal. The authors suggested that depression and anxiety should be among the health care priorities in Nepal (Risal et al., 2016). Although limited studies in Nepal address the prevalence and factors related to stress, anxiety, and depression, findings from two published studies reveal high levels of depression (37.8% to 69.2%, N = 332) (Risal, Sanjel, & Sharma, 2016; Sigdel & Pokharel, 2015) among nursing students, whereas 77.5% (N = 169) of those participating in the study reported moderate stress (Shrestha & Lama, 2014).

Many nursing students in Nepal do not seek professional help for psychological distress. As Cook (2007) mentioned, most universities provide limited services to students, which is also true in Nepal. Most nursing colleges do not have counseling services to support the students. Therefore, examining the role of campus connectedness, social support, and coping in protecting students from stress, anxiety, and depression is crucial. The findings of my study may indicate a low level of campus connectedness and high levels of stress among nursing students in Nepal and provide a basis for the need for college services that will contribute to positive social change.

In Chapter 1, I include the background of the study, the problem statement, the purpose of the study, research questions and hypotheses, a brief description of the therapeutic framework based on Lazarus and Folkman's (1984) theory of stress, coping, and adaptation, and the nature of the study reflecting on the research design. I also provide the conceptual and operational definitions of the concepts, assumptions, scope and delimitations, limitations, and the significance of my study. Finally, I summarize the chapter with the key components.

Background

Extensive literature exists on the concepts of stress, anxiety, and depression among college/university students including nursing students worldwide. These concepts have been studied independently as well as together with psychological distress in many studies. Nursing education and training are highly challenging and demanding and, as a result, previous research shows a high prevalence rate of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students (Bilgel & Bayram, 2014; Patterson, 2016; Tosevski et al., 2010). The multiple stressors identified in the literature include (a) hospital environment; (b) working with sick and dying patients; (b) relationship with peers, faculty, and patients; (c) examinations; (d) increased workload and assignments; and (e) lack of leisure time (Gibbons, Dempster, & Moutray, 2009; Pryjmachuk & Richards, 2008). Most studies reveal similar stressors among nursing students worldwide with a few changes depending on the culture.

Other factors that may play a significant role in the occurrence of stress, anxiety, and depression include the levels of campus connectedness, social support, and coping. Connectedness, social support, and coping (Armstrong & Oomen-Early, 2009; Bales et al., 2015; Brandy, Penckofer, Solari-Twadell, & Velsor-Friedrich, 2015; Eckberg, Pidgeon, & Magyar, 2017; Lee et al., 2002; Pidgeon et al., 2014; Roohafza et al., 2016) protect individuals from stress and depression. The concept of coping and its relationship with stress and anxiety has been widely researched, whereas limited research has examined the role that campus connectedness plays in stress, anxiety, and depression. Lazarus and Folkman (1984) and Carver (1997) identified problem-based or active coping and emotion-based or avoidant coping. Literature has revealed that problem-based or active coping is negatively associated with stress, anxiety, and depression (Chang et al., 2007; van Berkel, 2009). On the contrary, emotion-based or avoidant coping has shown to have a positive association with stress, anxiety, and depression (van Berkel, 2009). The next researched factor influencing levels of stress, anxiety, and depression is perceived social support.

Documentation and recognition of social support is not a new concept in nursing but goes back as far as the 1930s (McKay, as cited in Sawatzky, 1998). The most common sources of social support include family and friends (Sawatzky, 1998). However, in a learning environment such as college, peer support and a sense of community are found to play a significant stress-buffering role (Sawatzky, 1998). Gurung (2006) defined *social support* as people's experience of being valued, respected, and cared for by those who are connected with them in life. Similar to coping, social support protects the person under stress (Cohen, 2004; Maulik, Eaton, & Bradshaw (2011). Roohafza et al. (2014) projected social support as an external factor that influences levels of anxiety and depression and coping as an internal factor that affects the level of depression.

The concept of campus connectedness, which has been derived from social connectedness in the context of the college environment (Lee & Robbins, 1995; Lee et al., 2002), has not been studied extensively in relation to stress, anxiety, and depression. A few studies, though, indicated that in general, college students perceiving stronger connectedness to campus have a greater likelihood of success (Stebleton, Soria, & Huesman Jr., 2014). Earlier studies on social connectedness have indicated that people with low connectedness experience increased levels of stress (Anant, as cited in Levett-Jones, Lathlean, McMillan, & Higgins, 2007) and anxiety (Sargent et al., as cited in Levett-Jones et al., 2007). The limited research done among college students has shown a significant negative relationship between campus connectedness and stress, anxiety, and depression (Alimoradi et al., 2014; Bales et al., 2015; Eckberg et al., 2017; Jdaitawi, 2015; Laux, Luse, & Mennecke, 2016; Lee & Davis, 2000; Lee & Robbins, 1995; Pidgeon et al., 2014; Samuolis, Griffin, Mason, & Dekraker, 2017; Summers, Svinicki, Gorin, & Sullivan, 2002). However, the number of studies done to establish the relationship between campus connectedness and stress, anxiety, and depression may fail to provide strong evidence. Although scarce literature is found on sense of belongingness among nursing students, no study to date has investigated campus connectedness and its relationship with stress, anxiety, and depression. Limited literature is available on the relationship between campus connectedness, social support, and coping on stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students (Horgan, Sweeney, Behan, & McCarthy,

2016). Because there was no published study done in Nepal that provided evidence regarding the role of campus connectedness and social support on stress, anxiety, and depression, the findings of this study will provide a baseline data on the prevalence of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students and their relationship with campus connectedness, social support, and coping.

Problem Statement

Nursing education is synonymous with expansive learning, rigorous training, and strict discipline that demands a high level of commitment from nursing students. The demands and rigors of the nursing curriculum may lead to psychological distress such as stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students (Chernomas & Shapiro, 2013; Jimenez, Navia-Osorio, & Diaz, 2010; Ratanasiripong, Kaewboonchoo, Ratanasiripong, Hanklang, & Chumchai, 2015). Stress, anxiety, and depression may not only affect students' learning and clinical performance (Chernomas & Shapiro, 2013), but could also endanger the lives of patients under their nursing care. Thus, students may feel compelled to discontinue a course or program (Shelton, 2012). Depression may decrease the functions of nursing students and affect the nurse-patient relationship (Uras, Poggi, Rocco, & Tabolli, 2012). Early detection of potential depression among nursing students is crucial because depression can lead to low productivity, poor quality of life, and suicidal ideation (Ab Latif & Mat Nor, 2016; Manpreet & Maheshwari, 2015).

High levels of unresolved stress may be due to failure in using effective coping strategies, which may lead to problems such as anxiety and depression (Aldiabat, Matani, & Le Navence, 2014; Eisenbarth, Champeau, & Donatelle, 2013; Goff, 2011; Pidgeon et al., 2014). The other factors that may influence stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students may include campus connectedness (Armstrong & Oomen-Early, 2009) and social support (Pidgeon et al., 2014). Campus connectedness can be explained as a student's sense of belongingness in a university environment (Lee & Robbins, 1995), whereas social support is a kind of coping mechanism that helps to effectively manage stress (Lo, 2002; Payne, 2001). The literature provides evidence that campus connectedness and social support decrease the level of stress, anxiety, and depression among college students (Armstrong & Oomen-Early, 2009; Roohafza et al., 2014).

Although several studies and research information exist related to stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students across many countries, national data on the prevalence of mental health problems such as stress, anxiety, and depression in Nepal are scarce (Luitel et al., 2015; Shakya et al., 2013). The two studies done among nursing students in Nepal show that 37.5% to 69.2% of nursing students reported experiencing depressive symptoms (Risal et al. 2016; Risal, Sanjel, & Sharma, 2016). The high levels of depression among nursing students in Nepal indicate the need for research in this area. Although the roles of social support in stress, anxiety, and depression have been studied in other countries, it has not been researched in Nepal. Mahat (1996) recommended conducting a study to examine the relationship between social support and stress. The concept of campus connectedness is relatively new and has not been researched in Nepal.

Purpose of the Study

My purpose in this nonexperimental, descriptive, correlational study was to determine the relationship of campus connectedness, perceived social support, and coping

with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal. I used a cross-sectional, quantitative design to examine the role of campus connectedness, social support, and coping on levels of stress, anxiety, and depression. I also explored the prevalence of stress, anxiety, and depression among undergraduate nursing students. The predictor variables in the study included campus connectedness, social support, and coping. The outcome variables in this study were stress, anxiety, and depression.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

RQ1: What is the relationship of campus connectedness with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal?

 $H_{a}1$: There is a relationship of campus connectedness with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal.

 H_01 : There is no relationship of campus connectedness with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal.

RQ2: What is the relationship of perceived social support with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal?

 H_a 2: There is a relationship of perceived social support with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal.

 H_0 2: There is no relationship of perceived social support with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal.

RQ3: What is the relationship of coping with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal?

 H_a 3: There is a relationship of coping with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal.

 H_0 3: There is no relationship of coping with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal.

Theoretical Framework of the Study

The theoretical basis for my study was the theory of stress, coping, and adaptation authored by Professor Lazarus (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). This theory deals with how individuals cope with a stressful situation. The major concepts of the theory include stress, coping, adaptation, stressors, person-environment relationship, and appraisal (Folkman & Lazarus, 1988; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). The theory also focuses on the psychological response of an individual to stress such as anxiety and depression (McEwen & Wills, 2014). Although the theory of stress, coping, and adaptation has been derived from behavioral sciences, many nursing researchers have used it as a theoretical framework in their research worldwide (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; McEwen & Wills, 2014). I used this theory to determine the coping strategies that the nursing students use. The theory may also establish the relationship between the concepts such as stress, coping strategies, and the psychological response of nursing students to their levels of perceived stress. I will explain in detail the theory of stress, coping, and adaptation regarding its origin, major theoretical propositions, its application in research, and rationale for theory application in Chapter 2.

Nature of the Study

The nature of this study was a quantitative, nonexperimental, cross-sectional, descriptive correlational design. First, in this study I examined the prevalence of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students. Such data required no experimental or quasi-experimental approach. Using depression anxiety stress scale (DASS-21) (Lovibond & Lovibond) I screened the prevalence of stress, anxiety, and depression). I measure other variables such as campus connectedness, social support, and coping by using the campus connectedness scale (CSS) (Lee & Robbins, 1995), the multidimensional scale of perceived social support (MSPSS) (Zimet, Dahlem, Zimet, & Farley, 1988) and the brief cope inventory (BCI) (Carver, 1997), respectively. Second, I examined the relationships among campus connectedness, social support, and coping with stress, anxiety, and depression. The descriptive correlational design focuses on the relationship between the study variables (Grove, Burns, & Gray, 2013).

I used this approach to describe the phenomenon of stress, anxiety, and depression to determine whether a relationship existed campus connectedness, social connectedness, and coping with stress, anxiety, and depression. Lazarus and Folkman's (1984) theory of stress, coping, and adaptation provided a framework to help analyze these relationships. I collected data from undergraduate bachelor of science (BSc) in nursing students enrolled in the 4-year program by self-administered questionnaire. I stored and analyzed the collected data using SPSS version 23.0 for mac.

Definitions

In this section, I provide the conceptual definitions of the study variables that includes nursing students, stress, anxiety, depression, campus connectedness, social support, and coping. I include a detailed overview of conceptual and operational definitions of predictor and outcome variables in Chapter 2.

Anxiety: A state of tension and apprehension that may occur due to the response to a perceived threat (Passer & Smith, 2009).

Campus connectedness: A type of social connectedness in the context of college environment (Lee et al., 2002). *Campus connectedness* refers to how students perceive themselves concerning their relationship with others (Jdaitawi, 2015).

Coping: The individual's efforts to reduce the distress associated with situations that may lead to perceived harm, loss, or threat (Carver & Scheier, 2005). *Coping* is a process whereby the individual makes cognitive and emotional efforts to deal with stressors (Folkman & Lazarus, 1980).

Depression: Characterized by sadness, hopelessness, and helpless feelings that the individual experiences (*Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorder*, 2013).

Nursing students: For the purpose of this study, *nursing students* refer to the students enrolled in colleges affiliated to Purbanchal University in Nepal for a-4-year BSc in nursing program. The criteria for enrollment includes successful completion of 12 years of school education.

Stress: A process that occurs between the person and the environment, in which the individuals use their ability to meet the demands posed by the existing situation (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984).

Social support: The individual's belief that care and assistance from others will be available if needed (Manju, 2017; Uchino, 2009).

Assumptions

The first assumption that I made in this study was that the nursing students would accurately report the symptoms of stress, anxiety, and depression that they experienced the week previous to the DASS-21 administration. My second assumption in this study was that the nursing students' desire to decrease stress, anxiety, and depression and increase campus connectedness.

Scope and Delimitations

In this study, I used a descriptive cross-sectional design to examine the relationship of campus connectedness, perceived social support, and coping with stress, anxiety, and depression among undergraduate nursing students in Nepal. The threat to internal validity may have occurred due to the selection of participants by using purposive sampling. However, the threat of internal validity was not a concern in this study because it is a correlational study and I did not aim to examine causality (Grove et al., 2013). This study included only one genre of undergraduate students (i.e., BSc nursing students); therefore, the findings may lack generalizability to the nursing students from other two undergraduate nursing programs namely proficiency certificate level (PCL) and bachelor of nursing science (BNS) students.

The other delimitation in this study included the choice of Lazarus and Folkman's (1984) theory of stress, coping, and adaptation over other nursing models. The Neuman systems model (Neuman, 1995) and the Roy's adaptation model (Roy, 2009) also address the concepts of stress and adaptation; however, most nurse researchers have used Lazarus and Folkman's theory of stress, coping, and adaptation as a theoretical basis in their studies due to its parsimonious elements (Roy, 2011). The Neuman systems model (1995) and the Roy adaptation model (Roy, 2009) also focus on physiological, developmental, and spiritual variables in their models; however, the scope of this study did not involve physiological reactions to stress. Finally, the findings from this study may help to determine the usefulness of the theory of stress, coping, and adaptation as it applied to nursing students in Nepal.

Limitations

A limitation of the study may be due to the nature of the self-reported information that cannot be verified. All instruments in this study were structured self-reported surveys. The students may have provided biased responses (Polit & Beck, 2008) when reporting their levels of stress, anxiety, and depression due to the stigma related to these conditions. I addressed the limitations related to response bias by assuring the students that the anonymity and confidentiality will be maintained pertaining their information. The other limitation is that the CCS for measuring campus connectedness has not been validated among nursing students. However, the tool has been used and validated among the large number of college students who belong to the disciplines of psychology, public health, and others in the universities in Australia, Hong Kong, and the United States. I included only female nursing students. The reason for recruiting only female students was, that in Nepal, the criteria for enrollment does not allow male candidates to apply for nursing education. Therefore, the findings of the study may not be generalizable to the male nursing students outside Nepal.

Significance

My purpose in this study was to examine the relationship of campus connectedness, perceived social support, coping, with stress, anxiety, and depression among undergraduate nursing students in Nepal. In the study, I also provided the opportunity to measure the levels of stress, anxiety, and depression in nursing students. In case the students in the study report high levels of stress, anxiety, and depression, I plan to communicate the findings to the nursing faculty and administrative staff of the colleges where the data were collected. Early detection and management of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students may result in increased productivity, improved quality of life, and prevention of suicide (Ab Latif & Mat Nor, 2016; Manpreet & Maheshwari, 2015).

In this study, I also identified the perceived levels of campus connectedness and social support that are relatively newer concepts in nursing. The findings from this study may reveal the role of campus, family, friends, and significant others in the psychological well-being of the students. This may equip nursing faculty, administrators, and clinical instructors in identifying the academic, clinical, and personal stressors among students.

The potential implications for positive change through this study include filling a gap in the literature by providing data on the prevalence of stress, anxiety, and depression

among nursing students in Nepal. This study may be the first study in Nepal to examine the factors such as campus connectedness and perceived social support and its relationship with stress, anxiety, and depression. Stigma related to mental health problems including depression still exists in Nepal (Luitel et al., 2015), so communicating these findings to the nursing faculty, administrators, and clinical instructors may produce evidence that will act as a "collective voice" of the nursing students. The study may also indicate the need to establish the annual mental health screening program for nursing students for early detection and management of mental health issues such as stress, anxiety, and depression (Mahmoud, Staten, Hall, & Lennie, 2012). The study findings may also bring about positive social change by indicating a need for support services such as counseling in nursing colleges in Nepal, which is currently lacking in most colleges.

Summary

A minimal level of stress may be beneficial to the nursing students as a motivating factor in improving their academic and clinical performance (Ellawela & Foneska, 2011; Gibbon, 2010). However, the high levels of stress may cause anxiety and depression (Labrague, 2013). Furthermore, the high levels of stress, anxiety, and depression may have an adverse influence on students' physical health, psychological well-being, and academic performance (Deasy, Coughlan, Pironom Jourdan, & Mannix-McNamara, 2014; Tosevski et al., 2010). Previous literature among college students has shown that factors such as campus connectedness, social support, and coping play a significant role in protecting students from high levels of stress, anxiety, and depression (Armstrong & Oomen-Early, 2009; Roohafza et al., 2014; Stebleton et al., 2014; van Berkel, 2009). Examining the role of campus connectedness, social and support, and coping with the levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal will fill the gap in the literature.

To further fill the gap in the literature related to the study variables mentioned earlier in this chapter, I will provide an exhaustive literature review on the theoretical foundation and key variables in Chapter 2. I also provide a review and synthesis of the peer-reviewed articles related to the predictor and outcome variables that justify the need for conducting this study.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

The prevalence of psychological problems such as stress, anxiety, and depression has been increasing globally among the general population (Bilgel & Bayram, 2014). Research reveals that the occurrence of stress, anxiety, and depression among university students is high (Abdel Wahed & Hassan, 2017; Bukhari & Khanam, 2015; Kessler & Bromet, 2013; Mistler, Reetz, Krylowicz, & Barr, 2012). In particular, nursing students report high levels of stress when compared with students in other educational programs (Alzayyat & Al-Gamal, 2016). The literature also identifies various factors for the high levels of stress and anxiety among nursing students. The main factors that may cause stress among students are classified into academic, clinical, and personal factors (Altiok & Ustun, 2013; Al-Zayyat & Al-Gamal, 2014; Blomberg, Bisholt, Kullen-Engstrom, & Ohlsson, 2014; Gibbon, 2010; Jimenez et al., 2010; Khater, Akhu-Zaheya, & Shaban, 2014; Labrague, 2013; Suresh, Mathews, & Coyne, 2013).

The other significant factors in promoting students' psychological well-being include campus connectedness, social support, and coping. The most researched area among these three factors is coping. Few studies examine the relationship between campus connectedness, and social support with the levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students. The findings from the empirical and theoretical research highlight the protective role of campus connectedness (Eckberg et al., 2017; Lee et al., 2002; Lee & Robbins, 1995), social support (Cohen, 1992; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Wang, Cai, Quan, & Peng, 2014; Yildirim, Karaca, Cangur, Acikgoz, & Akkus,

2017), and coping (Cohen & Wills, 1985; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Morimoto, Furuta, Kono, & Kabeya, 2017; Rahnama, Shahdadi, Bagheri, Moghadam, & Absalan, 2017) on the levels of stress, anxiety, and depression.

In this literature review, I examine the relationship between campus connectedness, social support, coping and stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students. This chapter includes the search strategy, theoretical foundation based on Lazarus and Folkman's theory of stress, coping, and adaptation, and an extensive literature review on major concepts in the study. I discuss the definitions of major concepts and the prevalence and determinants of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students. I also explore the literature related to the relationships between campus connectedness, social support, coping with stress, anxiety, and depression.

Literature Search Strategy

Literature on the major concepts in this study such as stress, anxiety, depression, campus connectedness, social support, and coping among nursing students were acquired through several databases including CINAHL Plus with full text, MEDLINE with full text, Ovid Nursing Journals full text, Nursing & Allied Health Database, ProQuest, PsycINFO, PsycARTICLES, Education Resources Information Center (ERIC), and PubMed using Walden University library. I also used search engines such as Google and Google Scholar for obtaining additional literature. Nepal Health Research Council's (NHRC) digital library was accessed to review the literature specific to Nepal. The other resources used for reviewing literature included textbooks, national and international reports, and doctoral dissertations. The search words and phrases included *stress*, *anxiety*, *depression*, *campus connectedness*, *social connectedness*, *belongingness*, *social support*, *coping*, *coping*, *stress and coping and nursing students*, *depression and nursing students*, *stress and anxiety and depression and nursing students*, *coping and nursing students*, *DASS-21*, *Lazarus & Folkman's theory*, and *psychological distress*. I filtered the literature filtered to peer-reviewed, full text articles, and publication dates between 2013 to 2018 with the exception made for the studies done in Nepal as there was scarce literature found on the related topic. I also reviewed older publications for theory and concept development, tool construction, and testing of tool validity and reliability.

Theoretical Foundation

Origin of Theory

Theories guide both research and practice in nursing (Walker & Avant, 2011). The theory used as a foundation for the current study is the theory of stress, coping, and adaptation developed by Lazarus and Folkman (1984). Professor Lazarus started working on psychological stress and coping in the 1950s (Lazarus, 1998). Lazarus' interest in psychological stress awakened during World War II as the military needed men who could encounter stress with resistance. Also, they wanted to train people to manage stress during war (Lazarus, 1993a). In their first experimental research on stress, Lazarus and Erickson discovered that stressful conditions produced varied responses in people (as cited in Lazarus, 1993a). They further reasoned that the difference in the responses occur due to the result of individual differences in motivational and cognitive variable (Lazarus, 1993a). In developing the theory of stress, coping, and adaptation, Lazarus and colleagues conducted a series of experiments for defining appraisal, and coping (Lazarus, 1993a; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984).

Major Theoretical Propositions

The theory of stress, coping, and adaptation provides a framework to address how people cope with a stressful situation. The theory focuses on the psychological response of an individual to stress (Lazarus, 1993b). The major concepts of the theory are stress, person-environment relationship, appraisal, coping, and adaptation (Folkman & Lazarus, 1988; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). The concept of *stress* defined by Lazarus and Folkman (1984) is a relationship between person and the environment that is appraised by the person as a situation that cannot be tackled with available resources. This inability to encounter the stressful situation may endanger person's well-being (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). The focus is neither on person nor the environment, but on the relationship between the person and environment (Folkman, 1984). The person-environment relationship is comprised of personality, values, beliefs, commitments, social networks, social supports, sociocultural factors, and life events.

Folkman and Lazarus (1985) used the term *cognitive appraisal* in their theory that denotes to the processes in which people evaluate and react to any stressful situation. The two cognitive appraisals include primary and secondary appraisals. *Primary appraisal* is the judgment that the individuals make about the situation and its relevance to their wellbeing. (Lazarus & Folkman, 1986; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). *Primary appraisal* refers to the extent to which the person evaluates the situation as stressful (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). If the person perceives a situation as nonstressful, the need to use coping does not
occur (Groomes & Leahy, 2002). Primary appraisal of stress is one of three types: harm, threat, and challenge (Lazarus & Folkman, 1987). *Harm* can be defined as a psychological damage that has already occurred, threat as an anticipation that harm may occur in future, and challenge as a result from being confident that coping can overcome stress (Lazarus, 1966). *Secondary appraisal* refers to how the person responds to the stressful event (Lazarus & Folkman, 1986; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). If the person perceives the situation as stressful, the secondary appraisal comes to work and involves coping (Groomes & Leahy, 2002). In secondary appraisal, the person evaluates the different available options of coping to prevent harm. These options may include accepting the situation, finding more details about the situation that have occurred, or avoiding self to react negatively to the situation (Folkman, Lazarus, Dunkel-Schetter, Delongis, & Gruen, 1986).

Coping occurs when demand is aroused by the appraised stress. Lazarus and Folkman (1998) define *coping* as a continuous process in which individuals learn to appraise the changing person-environment relationship (Lazarus & Folkman, 1998). The key features of coping include (a) coping is a process, (b) coping is contextual, and (c) coping has no priori assumptions (Folkman et al., 1986). As a process-oriented concept, coping brings change rather than stability in person-environment relationship. Coping as contextual means that person and the situation together shape coping efforts. Furthermore, coping has no prior assumptions as Lazarus and Folkman do not suggest what is effective or ineffective coping or how to succeed; rather, they focus on the efforts person takes to manage stress (Folkman et al., 1986; Lazarus & Folkman, 1986). This coping process emphasizes the person's thoughts and actions when encountering stressful situations and how these changes when the encounter stops (Folkman et al., 1986).

The two types of coping, also identified as functions of coping, are problemfocused and emotion-focused coping (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). In problem-focused coping, the person deals with the problem that is causing the stress and in *emotion*focused coping, the person regulates emotion (Eaton, Davis, Hammond, Condon, & McGee, 2011; Mackay & Pakenham, 2012). The person using problem-focused coping acts upon changing or altering the troubled person-environment relationship causing stress. On the other hand, emotion-focused coping enables the person to change or modify the reaction to the stressful situation (Lazarus, 1993a). In the development of the coping tool, "The Ways of Coping," Folkman and Lazarus (1985) constructed the items for problem-focused and emotion-focused coping. The problem-focused coping includes confrontive coping, planful problem solving, seeking social support, and positive reappraisal. The examples of emotion-focused coping include distancing, accepting responsibility, and escape-avoidance. The independent item on the way a person copes with the stressful situation is self-control that does not meet the criteria for problemfocused and emotion-focused coping.

The other concept that the theorists explored within the framework of stress and coping is social support (Dunkel-Schetter, Folkman, & Lazarus, 1987). *Social support* is a coping resource that refers to the functions performed for the person by significant others such as family members, friends, and colleagues (Thoits, 1995; Zimet et al., 1988). The results from the study conducted to find out the correlates of social support indicated

that interaction between stress and social support can be significant in coping with stressful situations (Dunkel-Schetter et al., 1987). The work by Lazarus and Folkman has been adapted by many researchers interested in social support research (Cohen & Wills, 1985; Barrera, 1986).

The adaptation to the person- environment relationship can be either adaptive or maladaptive depending on the outcome (Lazarus, 1993b). Adaptive outcomes occur when the person encounters the stressful situation effectively. Maladaptive outcomes occur when an individual does not effectively acclimate to a stressful situation. Maladaptive outcomes can affect physical health, social well-being, psychological, or morale of the individuals (Lazarus, 1993b; McEwen & Wills, 2014). The assumption of the stress, coping, and adaptation theory indicates that individuals who experience repeated stressful situations in life may become vulnerable to using coping options. As a result, they may experience anxiety and depression (Folkman et al., 1986). The other assumption that emerges from the theory of stress, coping and adaptation is that coping, either effective or ineffective, depends on the person, the specific encounter, and outcome in terms of physical and psychological health or social functioning (Lazarus, 1993b).

Application of Theory in Literature

Many nursing researchers have used this theory as a theoretical framework for their study worldwide. This theory is also the basis of Roy's adaptation and Neuman's systems model (Brenner, Zimmerman, Bauermeister, & Caldwell, 2013; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; McEwen & Wills, 2014; Thomsen, Rydahl-Hansen, & Wagner, 2010). The theory of stress, coping, and adaptation is not only limited for providing theoretical

framework for the research examining stress and coping among nursing students, but for various other groups of people facing stressful life situations. Mackay and Pakenham (2012) validated Lazarus and Folkman's theory of stress, coping, and adaptation among caregivers of mentally ill patients in Australia. The findings of the study supported the assumptions of the stress and coping model by identifying the risk factors from mental health caregiving (Mackay & Pakenham, 2012). A study among transgender individuals revealed that long-term use of avoidance coping, or emotion-focused coping may lead to stress, anxiety and depression which is congruent with the theory of stress, coping, and adaptation (Budge, Adelson, & Howard, 2013). Graungaard, Anderson, and Skov (2011) studied coping strategies used by parents caring for children with severe disabilities. The authors identified that the purpose of coping was not only to reduce stress in a particular situation, but also to find ways to sustain coping as a process that complements the work of Lazarus and Folkman. Thomsen et al. (2010) used Lazarus and Folkman's theory of coping to study coping and associated issues in cancer patients to confirm the assumption that a patient's appraisal of the stressful situation may be influenced by personal and environmental factors (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984).

There is evidence that researchers examining stress, coping, and related factors among nursing students have also used the theory of stress, coping, and adaptation as the theoretical framework. Goff (2011) and Hamaideh (2015) applied the theory of stress, coping, and adaptation for assessing college students' reactions to stressors and the impact of stressors on nursing academic performance. The appraisal of stressful situations not only affected nursing students' academic performance but it also improved motivation, decision making, coping, self-confidence, and satisfaction among students (Goff, 2011). Similarly, Mahmoud et al. (2012) and Mahmoud, Staten, Lennie, and Hall, (2015) found that maladaptive coping among college students was a predictor of depression and anxiety. This finding is congruent with Lazarus and Folkman's theory that assumes that maladaptive coping may lead to psychological ill health (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Furthermore, Fornes-Vives, Garcia-Banda, Frias-Navarro, and Rosales-Viladrich (2016) recommended adding a new coping which they named as "relationship-focused" coping to the Lazarus and Folkman's theory, as the authors predicted social relationships to be predominant in nursing profession. The theory of stress, coping, and adaptation has been also validated in a clinical setting for examining perceived stress and coping among nursing students (Zhao, Lei, He, Gu, & Li, 2015).

Rationale for Theory Application

Although the theory of stress, coping and adaptation by Lazarus and Folkman has been used and validated worldwide in the studies measuring stress, stressors, and coping among nursing students, there are not many studies done among nursing students in Nepal. The theory of stress, coping, and adaptation was preferred over other theories such as Selye's general adaptation syndrome and Roy's adaptation model as these theories mainly focus on the physiological responses rather than psychological responses. Although Neuman's systems model focuses on physiologic and psychologic stress responses, the model is complex and has multiple concepts. Also, Roy's adaptation model and Neuman's systems model have been derived from the theory of stress, coping, and adaptation, which indicates the authenticity of the theory. The other reason for selecting the theory of stress, coping, and adaptation is that the tool for measuring coping (Carver, 1997) among nursing students in the study has coping domains of emotional-focused and problem-focused coping congruent with the theory of stress, coping, and adaptation.

Literature Review Related to Key Concepts

Definitions

Stress. The word stress became part of the English language in the 14th century that meant "a physical hardship or trial" (Hayward, 2005, p. 2001). Historically, the stress originated from the French word estrece meaning narrowness and oppression, and from the Latin word stringo or stringere meaning, to draw tight (Hayward, 2005). In Oxford English dictionary, stress is referred to as a hardship, strain, adversity, affliction, and hard pressed. The synonyms of stress found in the literature include tension, pressure, strain, tightness, tautness, and distress (Moal, 2007; Steinberg & Ritzmann, 1990; Timmins, Corroon, Byrne, & Mooney, 2011). Hans Selve was the first man to use the term *stress* in physiological and biomedical research (Chrousos, Loriaux, & Gold, 1988; Koolhaas et al., 2011). Stress can be defined in the context of many different disciplines such as psychology, psychiatry, sociology, endocrinology (Steinberg & Ritzmann, 1990), biomedical, physiology (Levine, 2005; Selye, as cited in Koolhaas et al., 2011), engineering, dentistry, medicine (Hayward, 2005), information technology (Padma et al., 2015), physics (Keil, 2004; Rezini, Baki, & Rahmani, 2016), and nursing (Lazarus, 1998; Massee, 2000).

Selye defined stress as the nonspecific response of the body to any demand, good or bad, made upon it (Selye, 1976). He explained the physiological response of the body to the stressful events, referring good stress as *eustress*, and bad stress as *distress* (Selye, 1976). According to Cox (1978), when the emotional demands placed on an individual are greater than they can cope with, this imbalance gives rise to stress. Stress, in psychology, denotes the mind-body connection in which the self-appraised situational demands are greater than the resources available to face those demands (Lazarus, 1999). Stress may also refer to mental or physical states, minor irritants, life crises, verbal emphases, or problematic forces in engineering and dentistry (Hayward, 2005).

Stress in medicine is referred as a physical or psychological stimulus that can produce mental tension or physiological reaction that may lead to illness (The American Heritage Science Dictionary, n.d.). In nursing, stress has been identified as an important psychosocial factor in the educational process because it may influence academic performance and student well-being (Sawatzky, 1998). Likewise, the sociological definition of stress relates to work-related stress that could occur due to work overload and limited resources (Goodnite, 2014). Most recently, stress has been defined as the damaging emotional and physical responses that occur when the demands of life overwhelm the resources, needs or capabilities of an individual (Bennett & Shepherd, 2013; Yaman, 2015). Finally, stress refers to the physical, mental, and emotional strains that an individual experience during one's lifetime (Marzo et al., 2016). The findings from various researches reveal that long-term stress is associated with anxiety and depression (Basu et al., 2016; Bergdahl & Bergdahl, 2002; Moffat, McConnachie, Ross, & Morrison, 2004; Peng, Xiao, Yang, Wu, & Miao, 2014; Stecker, 2004).

Anxiety. The word *anxiety* originated from a Latin word, *anxietas* that came from *anxius* and was first used in 1525. (Merriam-Webster, 2018). *Anxiety* refers to fear or nervousness about what might happen or a feeling of wanting to do something very much (Merriam-Webster, 2018). The American Psychological Association (APA, 2015) refers to anxiety as an emotion characterized by the feeling of tension, worried thoughts, and physical changes like increased blood pressure. Anxiety is a perceived threat to homeostasis in an individual (Bay & Algase, 1999). Gray (1995) defines *anxiety* as a state evoked by a response to threat and punishment or threat and non-reward or novelty where the reaction is to "stop, look, listen, and get ready for action" (p. 661). People with anxiety may avoid certain situations out of worry (APA, 2015). The medical definition of anxiety by Merriam-Webster (2018) points out that anxiety is an abnormal and overwhelming sense of apprehension and fear marked by doubt concerning the reality and nature of the threat, and by self-doubt about one's capacity to cope with it.

Furthermore, Lazarus and Folkman (984) described anxiety as a strange feeling worsened by a long period of stress and the presence of multiple stressors. This definition can clarify that stress contributes to anxiety leading to poor coping (Hughes, 2005). Anxiety can be classified into two types: state and trait anxiety (Moscaritolo, 2009). State anxiety is the individual's emotional response to a particular situation, while the trait anxiety is the individual's response to the state anxiety (Moscaritolo, 2009). **Depression.** The word *depression* came into existence in the late 14th century from Old French *depressio* (Harper, 2015). From early 15th century, the words such as dejection and depression of spirits became popular, whereas, depression as a clinical term in psychology became known for in 1905 (Harper, 2015). Merriam-Webster dictionary (2018) defines *depression* as a state of feeling sad; a serious medical condition in which a person feels very sad, hopeless, and unimportant and often is unable to live in a normal way; a period in which there is a little economic activity, and many people do not have jobs. A depressed person experiences loss of certain kind of activity with an increase in avoidance and escape activity (Ferster, 1973).

For the purpose of this study, the concept of depression is a psychological disorder in which people may lack pleasure in daily activities, significant weight loss or gain, insomnia or excessive sleeping, lack of energy, inability to concentrate, feeling of worthlessness or guilt and thought of death or suicide (APA, 2015; Marzo et al., 2016). According to the US Department of Health and Human Services (2000) depression and stress can be highly associated with each other, consequently, it may lead to suicidal ideation and attempts.

Campus Connectedness. The word connectedness has been used interchangeably with words such as, a sense of belongingness, engagement, bonding, and social attachment (Agu, Omenyi, & Odimegwu, 2010; Grobecker, 2016; Hagerty, Lynch-Saver, Patusky, & Bouwsema, 1993; Townsend & McWhirter, 2005; Walton & Cohen, 2011; Whitlock, Wyman, & Moore, 2014). The Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs emphasizes on the need for belongingness as a fundamental need among human beings (Maslow, 1970). Therefore, the need for connectedness among human beings cannot be denied (Lee & Robbins, 2000). Hagerty et al. (1993) defined *connectedness* as the active involvement of one individual to another individual, group, or environment that promotes a sense of comfort and well-being and that also minimizes anxiety. *Connectedness* can also be referred as a feeling of relatedness to self and others (Lee & Robbins, 1995).

Barber and Schluterman (2008) and Townsend and McWhirter (2005) summarized two domains of connectedness: subjective domain and structural domain. In subjective domain, the individual feels a sense of interpersonal closeness with other individuals. The feelings that the individual experiences in the subjective domain include caring, sense of belongingness, trust, respect, and satisfaction with the environment (Whitlock et al., 2014). The structural domain focuses on networking, strengthening social ties, and sharing of resources with the individuals and organization (Whitlock et al., 2014).

Although campus connectedness is a newer concept in the literature, it has been derived from the concept of social connectedness (Lee, Keough, & Sexton, 2002; Lee & Robbins, 1995). Lee and Robbins (1995) derived the word social connectedness from Kohut's (1984) self-psychology theory. Social connectedness is the interdependency of self and others in a social environment (Chodorow, as cited in Lee, Draper, & Lee, 2001). Similarly, Hawkley and Cacioppo (2010) defined social connectedness as an interpersonal closeness and belongingness that individuals perceive in their social environment that may result in improved mental health and well-being. *Campus connectedness* is a kind of social connectedness that makes the individuals or students

feel that they belong to the social environment (Lee et al., 2002; Lee & Robbins, 1995). The campus is a social environment in which the students meet their learning objectives. The social environment involves students, teachers, administrators, and other staff. Campus connectedness determines the students' perception of their belonging to the members of the campus (Agu et al., 2010).

The individuals with high connectedness may feel close to others, perceive others as friends, and feel enthusiastic about participating in social group activities (Lee et al., 2001). On the contrary, lack of connectedness may cause stress, social anxiety and depression among individuals (Armstrong & Oomen-Early, 2009; Baumeister & Leary, 1995; Hagerty & William, 1999; Lee & Robbins, 1998; Lee et al., 2002). The research in the field of connectedness has also revealed that the unmet need of connectedness may have a negative impact on individual's health and well-being (Moen, 1998; Jdaitawi, 2015; Rude & Burnham, 1995; Townsend & McWhirter, 2005). Campus connectedness is essential for college students (Alam, Rafique, & Anjum, 2016) as it is positively associated with happiness, hope, and self-esteem (Khodabakhsh & Besharat, 2011).

Lee and Robbins (1995) differentiated between the concept of social or campus connectedness and social support. Perceived social support emphasizes on the support from the environmental sources including other individuals whereas, social connectedness is a more persistent and global ability to connect with the social world (Lee & Robbins, 1995). The perceived social support indicates lack of appropriate social environment, whereas, social connectedness is more concerned with the deficiencies within the self (Lee & Robbins, 1995). **Social Support.** Over the years, researchers and theorists have defined *social support* in many ways. Social support may be understood differently in different societies (Tonsing, Zimet, & Tse, 2012). In general, social support has been viewed as a coping resource (Thoits, 1986, 2011; Zimet et al., 1988). As early as in 1976, Cobb explained the concept of social support under three categories. The first category relates to the individual's belief that he is cared for and loved. This type of perceived notion can be called emotional support. The second category involves individual's belief that he is esteemed and valued which can be called esteem support. The third category relates to the individual's belief that he belongs to a network of communications (Cobb, 1976). These beliefs on social support promote coping and adaptation during stressful experiences in the life of an individual (Cobb, 1976).

Lin (1986) defined *social support* as perceived or actual actions extended by the community and the social networks. Social support can also be explained as the care from others that the individual may feel, notice, or accept (He, Guan, Kong, Cao, & Peng, 2014; Wang, 2014). The care and love may be extended by the family members, friends, teachers, or any other social group to which the individual is affiliated (Md. Yasin, & Dzulkifli, 2010). In a more recent literature, Heerde and Hemphill (2018) defines *social support* as assistance that the individuals in a social network render to each other for the management of stress. The previous research on social support provides evidence that social support may be helpful directly or as a buffering system when the individual encounters stressful situations (Baek, Tanenbaum, & Gonzalez, 2014; Cohen & McKay, 1984; Giesbrecht, Poole, Letourneau, Campbell, & Kaplan, 2013; Steese et al., 2006).

The concept of social support has two dimensions; structural and functional (Nausheen, Gidron, Peveler, & Moss-Morris, 2009). The structural dimension of social support includes the size, proximity, accessibility, and frequency of social networking (Goebert & Loue, 2009). Whereas, the functional dimension includes the perceived social support (Ekback, Benzein, Lindberg, & Arestedt, 2013) which is the focus of interest in the current study. Perceived social support refers to the individual's belief that support is available if needed (Uchino, 2009). The other benefit of perceived social support is that it determines the buffering effect on stressful life situations (Baek et al., 2014; Giesbrecht et al., 2013).

Coping. *Coping* refers to the person's capacity to deal successfully with a difficult situation (Cambridge University Press, 2018; Oxford University Press, 2018). In early research, coping was conceptualized as an unconscious effort the individual made in the form of defense mechanism (Freud, as cited in Endler & Parker, 1990). The continuous work in the field of coping conceptualized coping as a conscious response to the external stressful event (Folkman, 1984; Folkman & Lazarus, 1980; McCrae, 1984). The concept of coping implies dealing with stressful or difficult situations (Keil, 2004). The concept of coping has psychological characteristics that include either modification of external factors or internal adaptation (Folkman & Lazarus, 1980) or to reduce stress (Keil, 2004). While coping with the stressful situation, the individual tries to make an effort to gain mastery, tolerate, or minimize external and internal demands and conflicts using cognitive and behavioral functions (Folkman & Lazarus, 1980). Muller and Spitz

(2003) defined coping as "cognitive and behavioral efforts to master, reduce, or tolerate the internal and external demands that are created by the stressful transaction" (p. 507).

Lazarus and Folkman (1984) identified two approaches to coping. The first is a problem-focused approach, in which the problem is evaluated, and action taken to manage the situation. The second is an emotion-focused approach which focuses on the temporary solution. Carver (1997) proposed fourteen dimensions of coping based on problem-focused and emotion-focused coping. The dimensions of coping include: (a) active coping, (b) planning, (c) positive reframing, (d) acceptance, (e) humor, (f) religion, (g) using emotional support, (h) using instrumental support, (i) self-distraction, (j) denial, (k) venting, (l) substance use, (m) behavior disengagement, and (n) self-blame. Active coping is similar to Lazarus and Folkman's (1984) problem-focused coping. In active coping, the individual tries to take steps to remove or find a way around the stressors (Carver, Scheier, & Weintraub, 1989). The other problem-focused coping is planning by which the individual thinks about various action strategies to cope with the stressors (Carver et al., 1989).

The individual using *positive reframing* focuses working on stress-induced emotions rather than using strategies to minimize stressors causing the stress (Carver et al., 1989). *Venting* means ventilating one's feelings caused by the stress. The dimension of *religion* may vary from person to person. Religion may act as emotional support to cope with the stressors (Carver et al., 1989). The dimensions of *emotional support* and *instrumental support* are the examples of social support. However, seeking instrumental support may include seeking advice from others that can be considered problem-focused coping. Seeking emotional support is more for seeking sympathy or understanding of others that may be a type of emotion-focused coping (Carver et al., 1989).

Denial denotes coping in which the individual refuses to believe that stressors exist even while facing the stressful situation. The individual may facilitate coping by minimizing stress in denial (Cohen & Lazarus, 1973; Wilson, 1981). Denial may also have a negative impact on individual's coping due to the failure of addressing the stressors causing stress (Suls & Fletcher, 1985). The coping dimension *acceptance* is another useful style for coping. Acceptance may occur both in primary appraisal and secondary appraisal. In primary appraisal, the individual facing stress accepts the presence of stress. Whereas, in secondary appraisal, the individual accepts the absence of suitable coping (Carver et al., 1989).

The strategies of *behavioral disengagement* and *substance use* are the examples of dysfunctional coping. In behavioral disengagement, the individual's effort in coping with the stressor reduces, or individual may give up the attempt to reduce stressor that is causing stress (Carver et al., 1989). The coping strategy of *self-distraction* involves the mind of an individual from finding out the ways to escape from the stressors by engaging in activities such as watching television, playing games, shopping and so on (Carver et al., 1989). Carver (1997) added *self-blame* to the list of coping dimensions. *Self-blame* is an emotion-focused coping that may lead to maladjustment or maladaptive behavior. The coping the individuals use during the stressful situation determines their psychological adjustment and well-being (Monzani et al., 2015).

Stress, Anxiety, and Depression Among Nursing Students

Prevalence. Most undergraduate students are adolescents who may go through a transition from the protected life of a home environment to an independent life of a college. This transition may bring many challenges in the life of the adolescent (Ahmed & Julius, 2015; Beiter et al., 2015; Lovell, Nash, Sharman, & Lane, 2015). The failure to adapt to this transition may cause stress, anxiety, and depression among students (Ahmed & Julius, 2015). A wide range of research among nursing students has been conducted across the globe that reveals that college or university students score high levels of stress, anxiety, and depression. The studies focusing on undergraduate nursing students also indicate a high prevalence of stress, anxiety, and depression (Bartlett et al., 2016; Pryjmachuk & Richards, 2008; Reeve, Shumaker, Yearwood, Crowell, & Riley, 2013). A high prevalence of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students may be due to the dual demands of academic as well as clinical requirements (Rafati, Nouhi, Sabzehvari, & Dehghan-Nayyeri, 2017).

Researchers who have investigated the prevalence of stress, anxiety and depression among nursing students have used well validated and reliable tools. The most frequently used tools to identify the prevalence of stress, anxiety and depression in research include Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS- 21) (Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995). This scale has three subscales that have been widely used among university students including nursing students. The other globally used tool is General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-12) (Goldberg & William, 1988). GHQ includes items related to psychological distress, anxiety, and depression. The tools for assessing stress include Perceived Stress Scale (PSS-10) (Cohen, Kamarck, & Mermelstein, 1983), PSS- 29 (Sheu, Lin, & Hwang, 2002), Stressors in Student Nursing Scale (SINS) (Deary, Watson, & Hogson, 2003), and Student-Life Stress Inventory (SSI) (Gadzella, Fullword, & Ginther, as cited in Hamaideh, 2015).

Although DASS-21 is the most widely used scale to measure anxiety, the literature shows that the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (Spielberger, 1983) has also been used in studies related to anxiety. The tools for measuring depression include a 20- item Center for Epidemiological Study-Depression Scale (CES-20) (Radloff, as cited in Ratanasiripong et al., 2015), 10- item CES (Radloff, 1991). CES was developed mainly for evaluating depression among adolescents and young individuals (Zhang, Chernaik, & Hallet, 2017). Beck's Depression Inventory (BDI) (Beck, Steer, & Brown, 1996) and Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale (SDS) (Zung, 1965) have been used over the years among all age groups including adolescents, patients with chronic illness, and have been translated and validated in different languages.

Using the measurement scales, the researchers in the previous research have indicated a high prevalence of stress, anxiety, and depression. The results from the most studies in a literature review done by Labrague et al. (2017) have shown moderate levels of stress among students. The countries such as United States, Australia, Hong Kong, and Spain have a similar pattern of prevalence of stress ranging from 20% to 26.5%, a high prevalence of anxiety ranging between 24.7% and 39.9%, whereas the students experiencing depressive symptoms were found to be in the range of 12.9% to 24.3% (Beiter et al., 2015; Cheung et al., 2016; Eckberg et al., 2017; Pidgeon et al., 2014). In a

study done in Australia, the levels of depression, anxiety, and stress were found to be higher among students than that in a general population (Lovell et al., 2015).

The literature reveals that the prevalence of stress, anxiety, and depression have been higher in countries such as India, Sri Lanka, Republic of China, Saudi Arabia, and Brazil than in developed countries. The prevalence of stress ranging from as low as 10.91% to high as 80.5%, anxiety 50 to 56.59%, depression 23.8% to 69.2% indicates the severity of the symptoms related to these mental health problems (Alfaris et al., 2016; Basu et al., 2016; Chatterjee et al., 2014; Lei et al., 2016; Patil et al., 2016; Rathnayake & Ekanayaka, 2016; Singh & Kohli, 2015; Xu et al., 2014). There is a lack of published studies related to stress, anxiety, and depression in Nepal, particularly among nursing students. In recent years, one study was conducted to examine the prevalence of depression among nursing students using BDI (Risal et al., 2016). The results of the depression inventory showed that 40% (N = 212) of students reported depressive symptoms categorized by mild level (27%), moderate level (9%), and severe level (1.4%) (Risal et al., 2016). Similarly, Sigdel and Pokharel (2015) reported that 69.2% nursing students (N = 120) experienced depression. Among them, 40% students reported mild depression, 11.7% reported moderate depression, and 17% reported severe depression (Sigdel & Pokharel, 2015). In another study in Nepal, 77.5% (N = 169) nursing students reported moderate stress level on modified PSS. (Shrestha & Lama, 2014).

Ratanasiripong et al. (2015) argued that due to the limited resources for counseling in low or middle socio-economic countries, students may experience high levels of stress, anxiety, and depression. Previous studies have revealed many other factors that may be responsible for high prevalence of stress, anxiety and depression among nursing students.

Determinants of SAD. In the previous literature on stress, anxiety, and depression, the researchers have identified common themes and determinants of stress, anxiety, and depression using both qualitative and quantitative approach. The literature also revealed that most factors are similar among nursing students around the globe. This similarity could be due to the nature of the nursing profession. The determinants have also been described as risk factors, correlates, and stressors in the literature. I have grouped the determinants have been grouped according to their nature in the following sections.

Academic determinants. The academic factors affecting the life of nursing students may include exams (Ab Latif & Mat Nor, 2016; Clark, Nguyen, & Barbosa-Leiker, 2014; Deasy et al., 2014; Eswi, Radi, & Youssri, 2013), assignments (Alzayyat & Al-Gamal, 2014; Deasy et al., 2014; Labrague, 2013; Zhao et al., 2015), and demanding workload (Ab Latif & Mat Nor, 2016; Al-Zayyat & Al-Gamal, 2014; Clark et al., 2014; Eswi et al., 2013; Labrague, 2013; Labrague et al., 2017; Zhao, et al., 2015). The other factors involve pressure to succeed, fear of failure, and grade competition among students (Beiter et al., 2015; Cheung et al., 2016; Clark et al., 2014; Eswi et al., 2013; Labrague, 2013; Wolf, Stidham, & Ross, 2015). Labrague (2013) also identified that Filipino students felt pressure and were stressed when the teachers make a comparison from other's performance.

Clinical practice. The unique feature that differentiates nursing students from the other university students is the requirement for the clinical placement early in their program. The adolescent student who probably have never been exposed to the clinical environment start taking care of patients in the real clinical setting. This sudden transition may increase the levels of stress among students which may cause further anxiety and depression. The anxiety may relate to the factors such as practice placement (Deasy et al., 2014) and insufficiency of clinical knowledge and competence particularly found among first-year students (Ab Latif & Mat Nor, 2016; Al-Zayyat & Al-Gamal, 2014; Chernomas & Shapiro, 2013; Cheung et al., 2016; Doulatabad, Mohamadhosaini, Shirazi, & Mohebbi, 2015; Hirsch, Barlem, Tomaschewski-Barlem, Lunardi, & de Oliveira, 2015; Labrague, 2013; Reeve et al., 2013; Zhao et al., 2015). Doulatabad et al. (2015) conducted a study among nursing students in Iran in which students reported various clinical factors causing stress such as inconsistency between clinical and theoretical learning, anxiety of making a mistake and its consequences, lack of skills for using the medical equipment in the wards, and fear of causing harm to the patients.

A qualitative study conducted among nursing students in Iran (Rafati et al., 2017) revealed many similar factors related to stress among nursing students. The students reported stressors as having a sense of inadequacy, being ignored by doctors and other nursing staff, and being looked upon as a servant to them. The other factors included ineffective communication in the clinical area, prevailing sadness due to the death of the patient, being exposed to the pain and suffering of the patients, and unclear and excessive expectations from clinical staff (Rafati et al., 2017). Doulatabad et al. (2015) also

reported that fear of being affected by infections and communicable diseases while caring for infectious patients also raised the level of stress and anxiety among students.

Faculty. The factors related to faculty that may cause stress, anxiety, and depression among students include faculty incivility (Clark, 2008; Clark et al., 2014). Faculty incivility involves making demeaning remarks to the students (Clark, 2008; Mahat, 1996), being rigid and inflexible, being biased to the students and showing favoritism, and using ineffective teaching methods and outdated teaching material (Clark, 2008). In a study conducted by Doulatabad et al. (2015), nursing students reported faculty related stressors such as faculty blaming students in the presence of others, inadequate supervision by the faculty during clinical hours, inadequate faculty support when problems occur on the wards, unjust evaluation, and stressfulness of the faculty members.

Relationships. Previous studies have revealed that relationships play a significant role in the mental health of the students. Poor relationships with family, peers, and faculty may increase the levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among students. Baccalaureate nursing students reported problematic relationships as one of the predictors of stress in a qualitative study conducted in four countries including Japan, Taiwan, Thailand, and the United States (Wolf et al., 2015). Similarly, Beiter et al. (2015) and Doulatabad et al. (2015) indicated relationships with friends and faculty as a significant predictor of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students. A study done in India also identified the unhealthy relationship with peers as a predictor of stress (Chatterjee et al., 2014). Family plays a significant role in the life of the individual. The family support may help the student to cope with the stressful life events. Thus, relationship crisis with

family and, disharmony between the family members may increase the levels of stress and anxiety (Chatterjee et al., 2014; Cheung et al., 2016). Eswi et al. (2013) identified conflicts with friends, spouse, family, and faculty as common stressors among nursing students in Saudi Arabia.

Personal factors. Among personal factors, financial concern is the most commonly reported stressor among nursing students (AlFaris et al., 2016; Beiter et al., 2015; Cheung et al., 2016; Clark et al., 2014; Deasy et al., 2014; Graham, Lindo, Bryan, & Weaver, 2016; Suen, Lim, Wang, & Kowitlawakul, 2016). Multiple research findings have also revealed life style factors such as lack of sleep, failure to balance time, work, school, and family, inability to find time to relax, engage in leisure activities, pursue hobbies, and poor eating habits as leading factors for stress and anxiety among nursing students. (Beiter, et al., 2015; Cheung et al., 2016; Clark et al., 2014; Deasy et al., 2014; Wolf et al., 2015). Deasy et al. (2014) identified stressors such as being away from home, sharing accommodation with others, making new friends as more prevalent among firstyear nursing students. In a study done by Beiter et al. (2015), students living off-campus reported a higher level of stress, anxiety, and depression than those living on-campus which can be related to feelings of insecurity of off-campus students and loss of time from traveling in and out of campus.

Future uncertainties. Future uncertainties have been reported by senior students as they come closer to the finish line. These factors include insecurity over future placement and finding a job (Chatterjee et al., 2014; Suen et al., 2016), post-graduation

plans (Beiter et al., 2015), studying for NCLEX exams (Clark et al., 2014), and decisions related to their future career (Eswi et al., 2013).

Stressors among Nepalese students. Based on previous research among nursing students in Nepal, the common clinical stressors include (a) theory-practice gap, (b) unfamiliar health care settings, (c) inadequate time for preparation and submission of assignments, (d) lack of equipment to carry-out nursing procedures, (e) lack of supervision and feedback from the instructors, and (f) faulty interpersonal relationships with faculty, patients' visitors and family members (Mahat, 1996; Shrestha, 2013; Shrestha & Lama, 2014). In the first study on stress and coping among nursing students in Nepal, Mahat (1996) noted that demeaning experience that included making patients' beds and receiving negative comments about nurses or nursing profession from others caused stress among nursing students. Students in this study felt that making beds should be done by cleaning staff and not by nurses as it hampers nurses' self-image (Mahat, 1996). The nursing students in Nepal reported academic stressors as an inability to balance study and leisure time, frequent examinations, length of class hours, and lack of interest in a subject (Shrestha, 2013; Shrestha & Lama, 2014). In their study, Shrestha and Lama (2014) reported that inadequate deliberation at the start of the program on how the students can meet the objectives of the curriculum caused stress and anxiety among students. Likewise, research also revealed that students reported that personalenvironment stressors such as parents' high expectations, poor health status of self and a family member, change in eating and sleeping pattern, and lack of recreational activities were the reasons for their stress (Shrestha, 2013; Shrestha & Lama, 2014).

In a more recent study on stress and stressors among nursing and medical students in one of the medical universities in Nepal, nursing students experienced a higher prevalence of stressors than the medical students (Mandal, Lama, & Parajuli, 2016). The stressors that were more prevent among students include difficulty in understanding classes, frequent exams, insensitive and inconsiderate teachers and peer, relationship problems, financial problems, family problems and homesickness (Mandal et al., 2016).

Campus connectedness and SAD. As mentioned earlier in this chapter, campus connectedness is a kind of social connectedness that makes the students feel that they belong to the social environment (Lee et al., 2002; Lee & Robbins, 1995). It has also been referred as social connectedness and sense of belonging in the literature (Cheung et al., 2016). The concept of campus connectedness being new, has not been studied extensively. Although most research on campus connectedness has been done in the United States, a few studies have also been conducted in Hong Kong, Turkey, Australia, Saudi Arabia, Nigeria, and Japan. Campus connectedness may work as a motivating factor for the students to perform well academically and socially (Dunbar & Carter, 2017). Nursing students need to have a high campus connectedness within the classroom and clinical environment so that they can approach faculty members and counselor at the time when they need to express their worries and anxieties (Dunbar & Carter, 2017; Samuolis et al., 2017).

A series of studies conducted by Lee and his associates suggested a relationship between campus connectedness and psychological distress including anxiety and depression (Lee, Dean, & Jung, 2008; Lee, Draper, & Lee, 2001; Lee, Keough, & Sexton, 2002; Lee & Robbins, 1998). In a descriptive correlational study among baccalaureate nursing students (N = 1,296) in the United States, Grobecker (2016) examined the relationship between sense of belonging and perceived stress in the clinical setting. The findings of the study indicated a low inverse relationship between a sense of belonging and perceived stress. Bales et al. (2015) argued that there may be cross-cultural differences that may influence the relationship between campus connectedness and psychological distress. However, the findings of their study did not support the research hypothesis about cross-cultural differences among university students from three different countries, but revealed a positive relationship between connectedness and psychological well-being which they defined as lower levels of stress, anxiety, and depression. The moderating effect of campus connectedness may also play a buffer role against negative effects of stress on life satisfaction (Civitci, 2015). In a study done among Turkish undergraduate students, it was found that students with high campus connectedness had low levels of perceived stress that suggested better life satisfaction (Civitci, 2015).

Similarly, a hierarchical regression revealed that a higher-level of campus connectedness significantly predicted lower levels of anxiety symptoms, while there was no significant relationship between a high level of campus connectedness and depression (Eckberg et al., 2017). The findings on the relationship of campus connectedness on depression vary in different studies. Armstrong and Oomen-Early (2009) and Pidgeon et al. (2014) in their studies found an inverse relationship between depression and campus or social connectedness. This finding indicates that the increase in the level of campus connectedness decreases the levels of depression. Pidgeon et al. (2014) also suggested campus connectedness has the buffering effect on the relationship between stress and depression. Furthermore, Stebleton et al. (2014) created strong evidence on the relationship between campus connectedness and symptoms of stress and depression in their large-scale survey (N = 1,45,150) conducted among first-generation university students. In their study, students with a high sense of campus connectedness experienced fewer symptoms of stress and depression. The findings of the research reviewed in this section indicate campus connectedness as a predictor of stress, anxiety, and depression.

Social support and SAD. Social support, unlike campus connectedness, has been researched extensively among different subgroups such as students, patients with long-term illness, individuals with HIV, chronic mentally ill patients and so on. The literature highlights the relationship between social support and psychological distress including stress, anxiety, and depression. Social support has been considered a protective factor during the development of adolescents (Rueger, Malecki, Pyun, Aycock, & Coyle, 2016). A wide range of old and new research indicates that social support has a significant and negative association with depression (Auerbach, Bigda-Peyton, Eberhart, Webb, & Ho, 2011; Paykel, 1994; Ratanasiripong, 2012; Roohafza et al., 2014; Williams & Galliher, 2006; Xu et al., 2014). Social support was also found inversely related to anxiety among university students (Mahmoud et al., 2015). Social support theory (Cohen, 2004) also supports the notion that there is a direct and inverse relationship between social support and stress.

Social support has a moderating effect on the relationship between stress and depression (Wang et al., 2014). In a study amongst Chinese students, a hierarchical regression model indicated the moderating effect of social support and depression. The same study also revealed a significant correlation between depression and stress. Ramezankhani et al. (2013) conducted a study among 390 medical science students at a University in Iran to examine the relationship between perceived social support, depression, and perceived stress among students. The findings of Pearson's correlation test indicated a significant negative correlation between perceived stress and perceived social support. Likewise, authors also pointed out a significant relationship between stress and depression and between depression and perceived social support.

Zimet et al. (1988) developed a tool to assess perceived social support called the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MSPSS. The three sources of social support include family, friends, and significant others (Zimet et al., 1988). Family support is the most significant support in the life of an adolescent (Horgan et al., 2016). Regarding the source of social support, the authors did a study among undergraduate nursing and midwifery students in Ireland that revealed that there was a strong significance between the depressive symptoms and students' perceived relationship with their fathers. Nursing students who reported the poor relationship with their father were more likely to report depressive symptoms on Centre for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) (Horgan et al., 2016). Wolf et al. (2015) also found that social support from family and friends was negatively associated with stress and depression among nursing students in the United States. Individuals perceiving high social support may cope well with their stress which can further protect them from feeling depressive symptoms (Yildirim et al., 2017). A study among Turkish nursing students (N = 517) revealed that nursing students' stress coping levels were affected by their perceived social support which the authors measured using MSPSS (Zimet et al., 1988). Social support works as a predictor of anxiety and depression, while, stress is negatively associated with perceived social support (Bukhari & Afzal, 2017). In contrast, less social support may act as a risk factor for depression among adolescents (Rueger et al., 2016). Furthermore, social support serves as a buffer against life stressors and improves individuals' psychological well-being (Cohen & Wills, 1985; Roohafza et al., 2016).

Coping and SAD. Coping helps individuals to minimize or tolerate stress (Gustems-Carnicer & Calderon, 2013). Thus, coping promotes mental health and prevents psychological distress including stress, anxiety, and depression by creating a stress-buffer effect (Morimoto et al., 2017; Rahnama et al., 2017). The extensive literature on coping suggests that the most commonly used tools to measure coping among nursing students include (a) Brief Cope Inventory (BCI) (Carver, 1997), (b) Coping Behavior Inventory (CBI) by Sheu, Lin, & Hwang, 2002), and (c) Ways of Coping (WOC) Questionnaire (Folkman & Lazarus, 1988).

A similar pattern for using coping strategies among nursing students can be observed across countries in studies where researchers have used Brief Coping Inventory (Carver, 1997). The most common coping strategies that the nursing students use include acceptance, planning, and self-distraction (Tada, 2017; Yamashita et al., 2012; Yehia, Jacoub, & Eser, 2016). The other dominant strategies found in literature includes emotional coping (Fornes-Vives et al., 2016), using instrumental support (Yamashita et al., 2012), and religion (Yehia et al., 2016). The least used coping strategies nursing students reported are substance use, denial, humor, and avoidance (Fornes-Vives et al., 2016; Tada, 2017; Yamashita et al., 2012; Yehia et al., 2016).

The type of coping strategy determines the relationship between coping and psychological distress such as stress, anxiety, and depression. More frequent use of maladaptive or passive coping strategies such as avoidance, self-blaming, denial (Mahmoud et al., 2015), and substance use predicts a higher level of stress, anxiety, and depression (Mahmoud et al., 2012). In a study among Japanese students, stress was found to be associated with coping strategies such as self-blaming, self-distraction, religion, instrumental support, and behavior disengagement (Tada, 2017).

Several studies have also shown the negative and positive correlation between coping strategies and stress, anxiety, and depression using Pearson's correlation coefficient test. In studies done among Jordanian, Iranian, Japanese, and American nursing students authors reported a positive correlation between perceived stress and coping strategies such as venting, self-distraction, self- blame, humor, and denial (Cherkil, Gardens, & Soman, 2013; Tada, 2017; Yamashita, et al., 2012; Yehia et al., 2016). Coping strategies that have shown a negative correlation with stress, anxiety, and depression include active coping, reframing, humor, and problem-solving (Fornes-Vives et al., 2016; Roohafza et al., 2014; Tada, 2017). Humor is one strategy that has found to have both positive and negative correlation with stress which may be due to the cultural differences. It has also been maintained that nursing students learn to use adaptive strategies towards the end of their program. This can be evident in a longitudinal study in which authors examined the coping among students during their first year and third year academic session and found that nursing students used more effective coping strategies such as problem-focused strategies at the end of their program which also lowered their stress levels in compare to the stress levels in the first year (Fornes-Vives et al., 2016).

CBI is another widely used tool for measuring coping. The dominant coping strategies measured by CBI includes transference, staying optimistic, and problemsolving (Zhao et al., 2015). Using coping strategies were reported in a study among nursing students in Saudi Arabia, in which the authors reported a significant positive correlation between the strategies students used in their clinical practice such as avoidance, problem-solving, transference, and staying optimistic and levels of stress (Hamaideh, Al-Omari, & Al-Modallal, 2017). A similar group of students was found not to use the strategy of avoidance which is a maladaptive coping strategy (Zhao et al., 2015). Furthermore, a hierarchical regression analysis showed that higher previewed stress in clinical practice was associated with avoidance coping, while higher stress from taking care of patients was associated with transference coping such as watching movies, T.V., taking a shower, and physical exercise (Zhao et al., 2015). Another study among Jordanian nursing students confirms the relationship between coping strategies and stress (Alzayyal & Al-Gamal, 2016). Based on Munro's (2005) guidelines, Alzayyat and Al-Gamal reported a significant positive low correlation of avoidance strategy with perceived stress. Bales et al. (2015) also found that use of avoidance coping predicted

higher scores on stress, anxiety, and depression. In contrast, the use of planning and problem-solving approach was found to lower the level of perceived stress (Hirsch et al., 2015).

Coping also serves as a protective role for anxiety and depression (Roohafza et al., 2014). In a study done among Iranians students, the authors observed the negative association between active coping with depression and anxiety, whereas, a positive association was found between passive coping and depression and anxiety (Roohafza et al., 2014). Active coping and positive re-interpretation and growth were also found to be the protective factors for depression and anxiety (Roohafza et al., 2014). Coping with stress mediates the physical and psychological health of individuals. Thus, the nursing student with ineffective coping strategies may develop mental health problems including anxiety and depression (Yildirim et al., 2017). On the other hand, coping mitigates the adverse effects of stress on the physical and psychological health (Klainin-Yobas et al., 2014). This finding supports Lazarus and Folkman's (1984) stress, coping and adaptation theory. Overall, the findings from the various studies reveal a significant relationship between stress, anxiety, depression, and coping (Bales et al., 2015; Hirsch et al., 2015; Klainin-Yobas et al., 2014).

Summary and Conclusion

The literature review in this study highlighted the prevalence of stress, anxiety, and depression as high among nursing students around the world. Most studies related to stress, anxiety, and depression and their related factors have been conducted and published in the West. Other places of research include China, Jordan, Iran, Thailand, Brazil, Saudi Arabia, Turkey, Spain, Japan, and India. The impact of psychological problems such as stress, anxiety, and depression may include poor academic performance resulting in poor grades, social isolation, and absenteeism (Collins & Mowbray, 2005). It may also affect students' sleep pattern, poor self-care, and disengagement from hobbies and interests (Al-Dabal, Koura, Rasheed, Al-Sowielem, & Makki, 2010). Finally, the students may drop-out from the course voluntarily or may be asked to leave due to their poor physical and mental well-being (Emadpoor, Lavasani, & Shahcheraghi, 2015).

High levels of perceived social support (Alimoradi, et al., 2014; Emadpoor et al., 2015; Jibeen, 2015; Wongpakaran, Wongpakaran, & Ruktrakul, 2011; Yasin & Dzulkifli, 2010) and campus connectedness has a positive significant influence on the psychological well-being of individuals. The studies reviewed for this chapter reveal that campus connectedness, perceived social support, and coping can influence the levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students. Students who feel well connected to their learning environment and those who get support from family, peer and significant others may have lower levels of stress, anxiety, and depression. Likewise, use of adaptive coping has shown to decrease the risk of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students. Although there are few studies published on stress and coping, there is no nationwide prevalence study done on anxiety and depression among Nepalese nursing students. Also, there was no published research found that examined the role of campus connectedness and social support on stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students. The other gap found in the literature is the limited research on campus connectedness as it is the newer concept emerging from the concept of social

connectedness. Lee and Robbins (1995) recommended the use of campus connectedness scale among college students for strengthening its operationalization.

The findings from this study will fill the gap in the literature by providing information in the context of Nepal. The next chapter on research methodology provides the detailed overview on the approach for answering the research questions and filling the gaps in the literature. In Chapter 3, I describe the rationale for selecting the research design, study variables, population of the study, sampling procedures, determining sample size, instrumentation with their validity and reliability. I also provide operational definitions of study variables for clarification and plan for analyzing the data. Finally, Chapter 3 will also include the detailed ethical considerations and procedures.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

Stress, anxiety, and depression have a significant relationship with campus connectedness, social support, and coping among college students (Bales et al., 2015; Bukhari & Afzal, 2017; Eckberg et al., 2017; Pidgeon et al., 2014). However, in Nepal, lack of literature fails to provide evidence for the relationship of campus connectedness, social support, and coping with stress, anxiety, and depression. My purpose in this nonexperimental descriptive correlational study was to determine the relationship of campus connectedness, perceived social support, and coping with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal. I used a cross-sectional, quantitative design to examine the role of campus connectedness, social support and coping on the levels of stress, anxiety, and depression. I also explored the prevalence of stress, anxiety, and depression among undergraduate nursing students.

This chapter has five major sections: (a) research design and rationale, (b) methodology, (c) instrumentation and operationalization of constructs, (d) threats to validity, and (e) ethical procedures. In these sections, I provide a detailed description of the study variables, reason for selecting research design, population, sampling and sampling procedures, recruitment procedures, participation, and data collection, specification on instrumentation, external and internal validity, and ethical concerns and procedure including the institutional review board at Walden University and in Nepal.

Research Design and Rationale

Variables

I identified and defined the variables as predictor and outcome variables in this study. In correlational studies that describe predictive relationships between the variables and where none of the variables are manipulated and controlled (Grove et al., 2013), the more accurate term for the independent variable is *predictor variable* (Houser, 2015). Similarly, the dependent variable in correlational studies is referred to as an outcome variable (Houser, 2015). The predictor variables in this study were perceived campus connectedness, perceived social support, and coping, whereas the outcome variables were stress, anxiety, and depression.

Research Design and Research Questions

The research question that reflected a need to determine the relationship between variables could be best answered by conducting correlational research (Houser, 2015). The correlational studies are considered descriptive, because the variables in the study are not manipulated or controlled (Houser, 2015). The research questions in this study were (a) What is the relationship of campus connectedness with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal? (b) What is the relationship of perceived social support with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal? (c) What is the relationship of coping with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal? Because this was a descriptive correlational study, several surveys were used to determine the levels of stress, anxiety, and depression, campus connectedness, perceived social support, and coping applied among

the nursing students. I describe these surveys in a later section. Appropriate statistical tests that I planned to determine the relationships between the variables included one-way multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA), Pearson's correlation coefficient, and multivariate linear regression.

Time and Resource Constraints

The time and resource constraints related to the research design in this study was due to the large sample that was required in this study. Grove et al. (2013) suggested including a large sample size to determine relationship in correlational studies. The cost of printing increased with more number of participants in the study. Conducting this study at multiple sites also increased the cost and data collection time. The time constraint for the participants in answering the questionnaire was estimated to take 40 to 45 minutes.

Research Design Choice Rationale

A research design is a blueprint of the study that guides the researcher at various steps of the research process (Frankfort-Nachmias, Nachmias, & DeWaard, 2013; Grove et al., 2013). The selection of research design depends on factors such as the worldview of the researcher, research problem, the purpose of the study, and the research questions (Creswell, 2009; Grove et al., 2013). The worldview that governed this study was postpositivism in which deductive approach starts with Lazarus and Folkman's (1984) theory of stress, coping, and adaptation. Postpositivists believe in making an empirical observation and using measurement (Creswell, 2009). Using instruments that produces numerical data, I measured the variable in this study. I analyzed the collected data using
statistical tests and hypothesis testing. Therefore, selecting quantitative design supported my worldview of postpositivism.

Furthermore, the research problem and questions in this study indicated the need for examining the relationships between the study variables including campus connectedness, social support, coping, and stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal. Quantitative design, particularly, a correlational design, is the most appropriate design in examining the relationships between the variables (Creswell, 2009; Grove et al., 2013). The reasons for selecting a cross-sectional design include cost and time factors (Polit & Beck, 2008) as the data were collected one point in time. Last, the literature related to this study has revealed that several researchers have used crosssectional descriptive correlational research design to examine the relationship between the variables (Clark et al., 2014; Klainin-Yobas et al., 2014). Reasons, as mentioned previously, justify that descriptive cross-sectional correlational quantitative design was the most appropriate design for my study.

Methodology

Target Population and Population Size

The target population was composed of all individuals who met the sampling criteria regarding whom the researcher would like to generalize findings (Grove et al., 2013; Polit & Beck, 2008). The target population in this study included all undergraduate BSc nursing students who were enrolled in the colleges affiliated to two universities in Nepal at the time of data collection. The BSc nursing program is a 4-year degree program. The average age of the students ranges from 18 to 24 years. The BSc program in Nepal enrolled only female candidates at the time of data collection. The target population included 18 colleges. Based on the student enrollment in the year 2017, the estimated target population size in this study was 1,320.

Sampling and Sampling Procedure

Once I defined the target population, the next step was to draw a sample that represented the population adequately (Frankfort-Nachmias et al., 2013). Making an intelligent judgment about sampling is a crucial part of a research process that the researcher needs to consider carefully (Grove et al., 2013). I used convenience sampling method in this current study. Convenience sampling is one of the nonprobability sampling strategies that nurses widely use while selecting the sample for their research (Polit & Beck, 2008). Although nonprobability sampling restricts the generalizability of the study findings to the larger population, the advantages of this method include the convenient usability and economy (Polit & Beck, 2008). The selection bias that may occur in using convenience sampling in this study was reduced by excluding the participants known to me personally and the nursing students from the college where I am employed.

Sampling frame. The sampling frame helps to identify the sample from the target population (Martinez-Mesa, Gonzalez-Chica, Duquia, Bonamigo, & Bastos, 2016). In the current study, the sample frame included list of colleges which were the target population. The lists of colleges were obtained from the official websites of the universities. After identifying the colleges having BSc (N) program, I obtained the phone list of the campuses/colleges for the purpose of contacting the campus chief or principal

of the prospective colleges for discussing the possibility of conducting research in their college among students.

Power analysis and sample size. Using G^{*} Power 3.1, I calculated the sample size in this study. Erdfelder, Faul, and Buchner (1996) developed G^{*} Power, which is widely used for common statistical tests in social and behavioral sciences (Erdfelder et al., 1996; Field, 2014). This computer software program can be downloaded for free on computers to calculate sample size (Field, 2014). Using G^{*} Power software, a priori power analysis for MANOVA with global effects was performed. I set the conventional value as .05 (Field, 2014), power at .80 (Cohen, 1969), and a medium effect size of .0625, two groups, and three response variables. The sample size predicted necessary for this study was 180.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

My initial plan was to collect data from the BSc (N) students enrolled in the various colleges affiliated to the two universities in Nepal. I obtained data by using self-administered paper-pencil survey method for measuring the variables including stress, anxiety, depression, campus connectedness, social support, and coping. In the following subsections, I discuss the plans for recruiting participants, demographics, informed consent, data collection, and participant exit procedures.

Participant recruitment and demographics. I recruited the study participants by visiting the colleges and providing face-to-face information about the research to the principals and the nursing students. I also informed the students about the snack and pen they will receive at the end of completing the surveys. In Nepal, the researcher is required

to approach the principal of the School to discuss the research, who then decides whether to allow the researcher to meet the students during their school hours to invite them to participate in the study. I requested the students willing to participate in the study to come on a particular day and time in their classroom where data were collected. Inviting the students face-to-face did not require fliers.

The demographic information collected from the participants included age, current living arrangements, marital status, residence before joining college, arrangement for paying fee, financial status, the reason for choosing nursing, availability of counseling services in the college, counseling service providers, and current academic year.

Informed consent. After informing students the purpose of the current study and the criteria for participating in the study, I administered the informed consent form that included the purpose, risks, benefits of the study and verification of meeting criteria. Initially, I planned to obtain signed consent from the participants before data collection. The consent procedure was verified with the Walden IRB. I informed the participants that they are free to leave the study at any time if they do not wish to continue to participate in the study.

Data collection. I personally distributed the paper-pencil data collection tools to the participants after scheduling the date and time with the program coordinators and class advisors of the nursing colleges. The data were collected in the college where the students were enrolled. Although internet-based surveys save time and are less expensive (Frankfort-Nachmias et al., 2013), the idea of internet surveys may not have been an appropriate approach for collecting data due to lack of personal computers and internet

connectivity in all households. On the other hand, distribution of questionnaire and collection of data in person was time-consuming and expensive. However, this approach maximizes the number of completed questionnaires (Polit & Beck, 2008). In-person collection of data may also allow the researcher to clarify any possible queries of the participants (Polit & Beck, 2008). The participants were required to complete a pencil-and-paper copy of the survey. The estimated time required to complete the survey questionnaire ranged from 40-45 minutes. Nursing students completed the surveys during their free time in the college. Each participant received a pen and a snack as a small token of appreciation for their participation. I informed the participants that they would receive the results of the study. Reviewing the results of the study may increase the participants awareness of their own need of social support, campus connectedness and adaptive coping.

Participant exit procedure. The last page of data collection survey document contained a note thanking the participants for their participation in the study. Also, the participants were provided with a snack before they left the classroom as a token of appreciation for their participation.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

In this study, four self-reported instruments were used for measuring the concepts of stress, anxiety, depression, campus connectedness, social support, and coping among nursing students. The brief information is provided in the following subsections and summarized in Table 1.

Table 1

Overview	of	Instruments
----------	----	-------------

	Variable	Instrument	No. of items	Estimated time (min.)
Predictor variables	Campus connectedness	Campus connectedness scale (Lee & Robbins, 1995)	14	6-7
	Perceived social support	Multidimensional scale for perceived social support (Zimet et al., 1988)	12	5-6
	Coping	Brief cope inventory (Carver, 1997)	28	14-15
Outcome variables	Stress Anxiety Depression	Depression anxiety stress scale (Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995)	21	10-11

Depression Anxiety Stress Scale

Lovibond and Lovibond (1995) developed DASS-42-item scale which was a modified version of Self Analysis Questionnaire (SAQ) developed by Lovibond in 1983. DASS-21 is a shorter version of Dass-42 that contains three subscales including DASS-21-D for depression, DASS-21-A for anxiety, and DASS-21-S for stress. Each subscale consists of 7-items each. This scale was designed to measure negative emotional states of depression, anxiety, and stress for clinical as well as non-clinical samples and is suitable for screening normal adolescents and adults (Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995; Tran, Tran, & Fisher, 2013). The advantages of DASS-21 over the full version of DASS are twofold. First, it is shorter, less time consuming, convenient and more acceptable for participants, while maintaining required reliability, consistency and integrity (Henry & Crawford, 2005). The second advantage is that DASS -21 omits problematic items out of the full DASS, thus providing cleaner structure (Henry & Crawford, 2005). The DASS-21 is available in public domain for the research purpose provided there are no modifications made to the tool. However, permission was obtained to use the tool from Dr. Peter Lovibond (see appendix A). A copy of DASS -21 can be viewed as Appendix F.

In the original study, DASS-21 indicated good internal consistency in which the Cronbach alpha were .88, .82, .90, and .93 for Depression, Anxiety, Stress, and Total scale respectively (Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995). The DASS-21 has also been validated in populations such as Hispanic, American, Australian, and British adults (Crawford et al., 2009; Norton, 2007). The DASS-21 is found to have good reliability and validity among Asian population including Malaysia, Indonesia, Singapore, Sri Lanka, Taiwan, and Thailand (Oei, Sawang, Goh, & Mukhtar, 2013), Nepal (Kunwar, Risal, & Koirala, 2016), and India (Singh et al., 2015).

Campus Connectedness Scale (CCS)

Lee and Associates (Lee & Davis, 2000; Lee et al., 2002) developed CCS from Social Connectedness Scale (SCS) (Lee & Robbins, 1995; Lee et al., 2001). CCS is a 14item self-report scale that measures students' psychological sense of belongingness on college campus (Lee & Davis, 2000) (see Appendix G). CCS is a 6-scale Likert scale from 1 (strongly disagree) to 6 (strongly agree). The original internal reliability of CCS is .92 (Lee & Davis, 2000). The CCS has shown quality psychometrics with college student samples (Summers et al., 2002; Sulkowski, 2011). Hollister, Scalora, Hoff, and Marquez (2014) reported Cronbach's alpha of .94 in their study. The CCS has been used among colleges students in Australia (Bales et al., 2015; Eckberg et al., 2017), United States (Bales, et al., 2015; Eckberg et al., 2017; Hollister et al., 2014; Summers et al., 2002), Hong Kong (Bales et al., 2015; Eckberg et al., 2017), and South Africa (Pym, Goodman, & Patsika, 2011). I have obtained permission from the author, Dr. Richard Lee to use CSS in my study (see Appendix B).

Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MSPSS)

Zimet et al. (1988) designed MSPSS for the purpose of assessing the subjective perceptions of the individuals toward social support. The MSPSS includes 12 items, four items for each subscale: family, friends, and significant others (Zimet et al., 1988). The items are scaled from 1 (very strongly disagree) to 7 (very strongly agree). A copy of MSPSS can be viewed as Appendix H. The MSPSS has shown to have good reliability, good validity, and a fairly suitable factorial structure (Hardan-Khalil & Mayo, 2015; Zimet et al., 1988). The MSPSS has shown strong internal consistency for the tool's total score (.93 to .98) and for the subscales (.81 to .91) among college students (Bukhari & Afzal, 2017; Clara, Cox, Enns, Murray, & Torgrudc, 2003; Hardan-Khalil & Mayo, 2015; Rahat & Ilhan, 2016; Zimet et al., 1988). The scale been translated into many languages and is widely used and tested in populations within and outside the United States (Hardan-Khalil & Mayo, 2015) including Pakistan (Bukhari & Afzal, 2017), United States of America (Mahmoud et al., 2015), China (Kong, Ding, & Zhao, 2015; Wang et al., 2014), Turkey (Rahat & Ilhan, 2016; Yildirim et al., 2017), Iran (Ariapooran, 2014), South Korea (Jun & Lee, 2017), Australia (Eckberg et al., 2017), India (Sawant & Jethwani, 2010), Malaysia (Guan et al., 2013; Mohammad, Al-Sadat, Loh, & Chinna, 2014), Thailand (Ratanasiripong, 2012), and Sweden (Ekback, Benzein, Lindberg, & Arestedt, 2013). I have obtained the permission to use MSPSS from the original author, Dr. Gregory Zimet (see appendix C).

Brief Cope Inventory (BCI)

Charles Carver developed BCI (Carver, 1997) to measure the coping strategies that the individuals use when facing stressful situations. Cope is a-60-item instrument comprising 15 scales of four items each (Carver, 1997) whereas, the BCI is a shorter version of Cope. BCI consists of 14 scales with two items each, thus making it a 28-item inventory. A copy of BCI can be viewed as Appendix I. The responses on the BCI ranges from 0 (I haven't been doing this at all) to 3 (I have been doing this a lot) on a 4-point Likert scale. The BCI can be used for research purposes without seeking author's permission (see Appendix D).

The fourteen dimensions included in BCI are self-distraction, active coping, denial, substance abuse, use of emotional support, use of instrumental support, behavioral disengagement, venting, positive reframing, planning, humor, acceptance, religion, and self-blame (Carver, 1997; Monzani et al., 2015). The original reliability of scale indicated high Cronbach's alpha for domain religion (.82), and substance scale (.90). The internal consistency for the other domains were .50 to .73 (Carver, 1997).

The BCI, one of the most frequently used self-reported scale (Tada, 2017) has been widely used around the world among various groups including nursing students (Ab Latif & Mat Nor, 2016; Cherkil et al., 2013; Gibbon, 2010; Mahmoud et al., 2015; Sreeramreddy et al., 2007; Tada, 2017; Yehia et al., 2016).

Demographic Items

The list of demographic items included age, current living arrangements, marital status, residence before joining college, arrangement for paying fee, financial status, the reason for choosing nursing, availability of counseling services in the college, counseling service providers, current academic year (see Appendix E). the estimated time for completing these items was between 5 and 6 minutes.

Variable Operationalization

The concepts in this study include stress, anxiety, depression, campus connectedness, social support, and coping. These variables are conceptually defined in Chapter 1. In quantitative research, I explained how the variable will be observed and measured in the study. An operational definition of the concept specifies the operations that researcher plans to carry out to collect and measure the required information (Polit & Beck, 2008).

Stress. The DASS-21 (Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995) is comprised of three subscales, i.e., DASS-S for Stress, DASS-A for Anxiety, and DASS-D for Depression, that measure the symptoms related to stress, anxiety, and depression experienced by the participants over the past week. The instrument is a 4-point-Likert scale with seven items each for subscales. Each item has a statement with four response options to reflect the severity of stress, anxiety, and depression. The score responses start from 0 (did not apply to me at all), 1 (applied to me to some degree or some of the time), 2 (applied to me to a considerable degree or a good part of time), 3 (applied to me very much or most of the time). On DASS-21, the Stress subscale items are 1, 6, 8, 11, 12, 14, 18. The Anxiety subscale items include 2, 4, 7, 9, 15, 19, 20, and the Depression subscale items are 3, 5, 10, 13, 16, 17, 21.

The concept of stress in this study was measured using DASS-S, a subscale of DASS-21 (Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995). The subscale of stress comprises of seven items. The score on DASS-S ranges from 0 to 21 that was multiplied by 2 to calculate the final score for Stress subscale, which is 42. The cut-off score according to the severity of stress is Normal (0-14), Mild (15-18), Moderate (19-25), Severe (26-33), Extremely Severe (34+).

Anxiety. DASS-A was used to measure the level of anxiety among nursing students in this study. DASS-A is a subscale of DASS-21 (Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995). DASS-A also comprises of seven items that have four statements similar to DASS-S subscale. The total score on DASS-A ranges from 0 to 21, which was multiplied by 2 to make a total score of 42. The cut-off scores from anxiety are: Normal (0-7), Mild (8-9), Moderate (10-14), Severe (15-19), Extremely Severe (20+).

Depression. The third subscale of DASS-21, DASS-D (Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995) was used to measure the symptoms of depression among nursing students. The score on this scale ranges from 0 to 21, which was multiplied by 2 to make the total score of 42. The recommended cut-offs scores for depression are: Normal (0-9), Mild (10-13), Moderate (14-20), Severe (21-27), Extremely Severe (28+).

Campus connectedness. I used CCS (Lee & Davis, 2000; Lee et al., 2002) for measuring campus connectedness among nursing students in this study. CCS is a social connectedness scale that measures students' perception of their sense of belongingness to the campus or college (Lee & Davis, 2000; Lee et al., 2002). CCS is a-6-point-Likert scale comprising of 14 items, out of which, eight items are negative (2, 5, 6, 8, 10, 11, 13, 14). The rating response on this scale include 1 = strongly disagree, 2 = Disagree, 3 = mildly disagree, 4 = mildly agree, 5 = agree, 6 = strongly agree. The negative items will have a reverse scoring such as 1 = strongly agree, 2 = agree, 3 = mildly agree, 4 = mildly disagree, 5 = disagree, 6 = strongly disagree). The CCS score ranges from 14 to 84. The item means score with a possible range from one to six was calculated by dividing the total scale score by 14 (Lee et al., 2001). High scores on CCS reflect a stronger sense of campus connectedness.

Social support. The concept of perceived social support was measured using MSPSS (Zimet et al., 1988). This scale comprises of three subscales: family, friends, and significant other which is a 12-item scale with 7-Likert responses (1 = very strongly disagree), 2 = strongly disagree, 3 = mildly disagree, 4 = neutral, 5 = mildly agree, 6 = strongly agree, 7 = very strongly agree). In this study, the scoring was done based on mean scale score. Mean scale score denotes low support (1-2.9), moderate support (3-5), high support (5.1-7). The mean score was calculated by adding up the score in each subscale separately and diving by four. The subscale for *significant other* are the items 1, 2, 5, & 10, the items 3, 4, 8, & 11 comprises the *family* subscale, and subscale *friends*

include items 6, 7, 9, & 12. The total score was obtained by summing across all 12 items and dividing it by 12.

Coping. The concept of coping in this study was operationalized using BCI (Carver, 1997). BCI consists of 14 scales that has two items each making a total of 28 items. These items assessed which of the 14 coping strategies nursing students use. In this instrument, the strategies on BCI are classified into adaptive and maladaptive coping. The items on this scale are rated by a-4-point Likert scale ranging from 1 = I haven't been doing this at all, 2 = I have been doing this a little bit, 3 = I have been doing this a medium bit, 4 = I have been doing this a lot. While using BCI, the students were instructed to think about a relevant stressor they encountered recently and to indicate how they coped with it by selecting the options or strategies on the scale. There is no overall score for BCI. The coping strategies can be grouped into adaptive coping and maladaptive coping. In this study, the coping styles that are grouped as problem-focused coping include active coping, planning, positive reinterpretation/reframing, acceptance, and instrumental support (Mahmoud et al., 2012, 2015). The emotion-focused coping included self-distraction, denial, venting, substance use, behavioral disengagement, use of emotional support, religion, humor, and self-blame (Mahmoud et al., 2012, 2015).

Data Analysis Plan

Data analysis software and storage. I used Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) for Mac version 23, a computer software program for storage and analysis of the data in this study. Data was manually transferred to the SPSS using codes for the variables. I double checked the data entries for errors. The data was stored on my

personal computer within SPSS program in a file which was password protected. I was the only one who had access to my laptop. I also stored the data on an external hard drive as a backup which was also password protected. The external hard drive was placed in a locked cabinet when not in use. The participants' response sheets were stored and locked in a locked file cabinet in a locked cabinet.

Data cleaning and screening procedures. I cleaned the data obtained from the nursing students before data analysis. Data cleaning is the proofreading of the data to find out and correct errors and inconsistent codes (Frankfort-Nachmias et al., 2013). Data cleaning involves a check for outliers and wild codes (Polit & Beck, 2008). Outliers are the values that lie outside the normal range of values (Field, 2014). A wild code is a coded value that is not legitimate within the coding scheme for the data set. (Polit & Beck, 2008). I generated a frequency distribution for each variable to check for outliners and wild codes. I also checked the data for internal consistency by testing the compatibility of data within each participant's responses to the items. If the outlier was due to the incorrect entry of data, I rechecked the response of the participants for the correct response. If the outlier still persisted, I did not eliminate them from analysis because the responses remained within the minimum and maximum range of measuring scales. If the students failed to complete any tool, I dropped them out from the analysis. If there were missing responses on the same tool, I planned to consider up to 5% of missing data for analysis (Schafer, 1999).

Research question and hypotheses. The data analysis was done in accordance with the research questions and hypotheses formulated in this study. The research

questions in this study were: (a) What is the relationship of campus connectedness with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal? The null hypothesis was that there is no relationship of campus connectedness with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal. The alternative hypothesis was that there is a relationship of campus connectedness with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal. The alternative

(b) What is the relationship of perceived social support with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal? The null hypothesis was that there is no relationship of perceived social support with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal. The alternative hypothesis was that there is a relationship of perceived social support with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal.

(c) What is the relationship of coping with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal? The null hypothesis was that there is no relationship of coping with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal. The alternative hypothesis was that there is a relationship of coping with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal.

Analysis plan.

Statistical tests. I analyzed the data using descriptive and inferential statistics. The descriptive statistics was used to describe the sociodemographic variables of the sample. The tests included frequencies, means, and standard deviations. The inferential statistics was used to examine the correlation between the variables such as campus

connectedness, perceived social support, coping and stress, anxiety, depression. I planned to use two-way multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA), Pearson's correlation coefficient, and multivariate linear regression test for testing the null hypotheses in my study.

MANOVA test can be used when there are several independent and dependent variables (Field, 2013; Polit & Beck, 2008). In this study, the predictor variables include campus connectedness, social support, and coping, whereas, the outcome variables are stress anxiety and depression.

Pearson's correlation coefficient test was performed to measure the strength of the relationship between outcome variables (Field, 2014). This statistical test has been widely used for examining the relationship between the variables.

Multivariate linear regression test. I also planned to use multivariate linear regression to determine if the significant correlations are found between the variables. This test can be done for determining if a significant correlation exists after controlling for confounding factors (Tada, 2017) such as living arrangements, the decision on studying nursing, academic year, and financial status.

Threats to Validity

Threats to External Validity

The external validity determines how findings of the study findings will be applicable, useful, and generalizable to a larger population (Houser, 2015). In my study, the use of convenience sampling, a non-probability sampling technique may have posed a threat to the external validity. However, this issue was addressed by selecting students from multiple nursing colleges. Multiple sites studies are powerful because more confidence in the generalizability of the results can be attained if those results have been replicated in several sites (Polit & Beck, 2008). Also, only generic bachelor students (B.Sc.) students with twelve years of school education were involved in the study. These actions may reduce the threat to external validity in the study. Correlational studies require the researcher to include a large sample in the study to obtain a true reflection of variables being measured (Houser, 2015).

Threats to Internal Validity

Internal validity is the extent to which the effects detected in the study are the true reflection of reality rather than the result of extraneous variables (Polit & Beck, 2008). Internal validity is addressed more commonly in experimental research or research examining causality (Grove et al., 2013). In the correlational study, there are no experimental and control groups. Therefore, the issues related to history, selection, maturation, and testing effect may have less relevance for judging the internal validity (Mitchell, 1985). Selection bias is one of the frequently encountered threats to the internal validity of the studies not using experimental design (Grove et al., 2013). This correlational study may pose a threat to internal validity due to the non-randomized selection of the participants. The selected students may not have the same perception of the concepts of stress, anxiety, depression, campus connectedness, social support, and using coping strategies than those students who are not selected.

Threats to Construct Validity

Construct validity examines the fit between the conceptual definitions of variables and the measures used for operationalization (Grove et al., 2013). It is a key criterion for assuring the quality of the study (Polit & Beck, 2008). The conceptual definitions provide the basis for the operational definitions of the variables. The threat to construct validity may occur due to inadequate preoperational clarification of constructs. In this study, the concepts are well defined, both conceptually and operationally using concept analysis in literature. The instruments that operationalized the conceptual definitions of the concepts are well-validated by the developers. The methods used for minimizing the threat to construct validity include convergent and discriminant validity, and factor analysis (Houser, 2015; Walkey & Welch, 2010). The researchers have established construct validity in their instruments using convergent validity, discriminant validity or factor analysis.

Lee and Robbins (2000) reported a confirmatory factor analysis that revealed strong goodness fit (alpha = .91) between the construct of campus connectedness scale and another belongingness construct, social awareness. Likewise, Canty-Mitchell and Zimet (2000) conducted a factor analysis to confirm the three-factor structure proposed by Zimet et al. (1988) in establishing MSPSS, a tool to measure social support. Correlation with the Family Caring Scale supported discriminant validity of the family subscale of MSPSS (Canty-Mitchell & Zimet, 2000). Henry and Crawford (2005) tested and found that the construct validity of DASS-21 in a large non-clinical sample had adequate construct validity. The convergent validity of DASS-21 in Asian population was measured and found to be well correlated with other measures of depression, anxiety, and stress including Beck Depression Inventory (BDI), the Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI) and Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS) (Oei et al., 2013).

Ethical Procedures

Access to Subjects

First, I approached the Campus Chief and the Principal of the prospective colleges to enroll the participants in this study. The study frame was used to identify the nursing colleges and respective contact persons. The Principals were contacted by phone first. Subsequently, a formal letter via email was sent to them requesting them to allow their students to participate in my study. After obtaining the permission from the College authorities, I visited each college personally for recruiting the participants for this study. **Treatment of Human Subjects**

Institutional Review Board (IRB) review. I obtained ethical approval from the IRBs of Walden University (approval # 05-30-18-0515340) and Nepal Health Research Council (NHRC Reg. no. 280/2018). Although most data collection sites accept the NHRC's IRB approval for data acquisition, they have a local research committee that oversees the research work in the college.

Ethical concerns related to recruitment. The ethical concern that may have arose while recruiting the participants for the study involves the willingness to participate in the study. The undergraduate nursing students may have felt pressured to participate in the study against their wishes. To address this concern, I explained to the participants that they can opt out from participating in the study if they do not want to participate. I also clarified that opting out from the study will not offend me and it will not affect their academic evaluation in any way. No identifying information was requested on the survey or demographic data sheet. Paper surveys was necessary because most undergraduate students in Nepal do not own their own computers and not all have access to the internet. The other strategy that I adapted to avoid this concern was to exclude students enrolled in my place of employment.

Ethical concerns related to data collection. I obtained implied consent from the participants prior to data collection according to Walden's IRB requirement. I first distributed a copy of a consent form to each participant and explained the content of the consent form before asking them to give their consent. I also clearly stated that during the data collection if the participants desire not to continue, they were allowed to leave anytime without any negative consequences.

Issues Related to Data Treatment

Data anonymity. The data obtained was treated anonymously. The participants were not required to reveal their names, street address, phone number, and email address and the name of their college, instead the code number was used. Excluding the students from my workplace in the study also eliminated the risk of invading the privacy of the participants. The consent was implied; therefore, the names of the participants were not required.

Data protection. Soon after data collection, I stored the data on a personal Mac in a password protected file so that I alone could access the data. Since I collected data in a paper form, the paper sheets were kept in a locked closet. I did not share any data with

anyone, although an anonymous data may not pose a threat to the privacy of the participants. I plan to destroy the data after five years of study completion date.

Summary

A quantitative, descriptive, cross-sectional correlational study design was used to examine the relationship of campus connectedness, social support, coping, with stress, anxiety, and depression among undergraduate nursing students in Nepal. I used selfadministered survey instruments including DASS-21, CCS, MSPSS, and BCI to measure stress, anxiety, depression, perceived campus connectedness, perceived social support, and coping respectively. The convenience sampling was used to recruit participants for the study. The ethical approvals were obtained from IRBs of Walden University and ERB of NHRC before data collection. The data were securely stored and analyzed by using computer software SPSS version 23 for Mac. I present data analysis and results in Chapter 4.

Chapter 4: Results

Introduction

My purpose in this nonexperimental, descriptive, correlational study was to determine the relationship of campus connectedness, perceived social support, and coping with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal. The research questions were:

RQ1: What is the relationship of campus connectedness with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal?

 H_01 : There is no relationship of campus connectedness with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal.

 $H_{a}1$: There is a relationship of campus connectedness with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal.

RQ2: What is the relationship of perceived social support with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal?

 H_0 2: There is no relationship of perceived social support with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal.

 H_a 2: There is a relationship of perceived social support with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal.

RQ3: What is the relationship of coping with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal?

 H_0 3: There is no relationship of coping with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal.

 H_a 3: There is a relationship of coping with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal.

In this chapter, I discuss the data collection, time frame, and the results of the study, using tables and graphs, I display the results.

Data Collection

I originally planned for data collection among the BSc nursing students enrolled in the colleges affiliated to two health sciences universities in Nepal. The target population consisted of 1,320 students. However, due to the logistic issues that required long travels and non-availability of students during the data collection period, I included only one university that had 14 colleges with 1,072 students enrolled for BSc nursing program. I received permission for data collection from nine colleges that had altogether 744 students enrolled. After obtaining the ethical approval from Walden-IRB (approval # 05-30-18-0515340), and NHRC-ERB (Reg. no. 280/2018), I started data collection. Data collection occurred from June 1, 2018, through July 10, 2018. I have described the data collection implementation in Table 2.

Table 2

Dates	College	No. of enrolled students	No. of participants
June 1	01	80	72
June 2 & 15	02	78	75
June 5 & 6	03	77	65
June 7, 13, 25, & July 1	04	79	75
June 8, 11, 12, 15	05	118	111
June 10 & 21	06	77	56
June 14	07	77	76
June 15 & 24	08	78	77
June 16 & July 10	09	80	73

Data Collection Implementation

As a result of IRB process, I changed the plan for signed informed consent to implied consent to ensure the anonymity of data. I collected data by visiting the colleges upon students' availability. Initially, I estimated 40 to 45 minutes for the completion of the self-administered survey forms. However, the students did not exceed 30 minutes for completing the survey forms.

The minimum sample size as determined by G*Power was 180, using MANOVA for global effect, 95% power, with the alpha level of 0.05, and with a medium effect size of .0625. Correlational studies require the researcher to include a large sample in the study to obtain a true reflection of variables being measured (Houser, 2015). Therefore, I recruited 744 BSc nursing students for this study. Of 744 students, 682 students participated in this study, which yielded a response rate of 91.7%. Upon closing the survey, I manually entered the data into IBM SPSS 23 for storage and analysis. I double-checked the entry of data for completion and accuracy.

The sociodemographic characteristics of the sample included age, current living arrangements, marital status, residence before joining college, arrangement for paying the fee, financial status, the reason for choosing nursing education, availability of counseling services in the college, counseling service providers, and current academic year. I have presented the sociodemographic characteristics of the sample into personal characteristics, financial characteristics, educational characteristics, and counseling in the results section.

The use of convenience sampling, a nonprobability sampling technique may have posed a threat to the external validity. However, this issue was addressed by selecting students from nine nursing colleges. Multiple sites studies are powerful because more confidence in the generalizability of the results can be attained if those results have been replicated in several sites (Polit & Beck, 2008). Also, only generic bachelor students (BSc) students with 12 years of school education were involved in the study. These actions may reduce the threat to external validity in the study. Correlational studies require the researcher to include a large sample in the study to obtain a true reflection of variables being measured (Houser, 2015). The students enrolled for BSc nursing program in the selected university were 1,072, of which 682 participated in this study. A large sample size may have reduced the threat to Type I error and strengthened the external validity.

Statistical Analyses

In the result section, I include the descriptive statistics such as frequency, percentage, mean, standard deviation of the participants' baseline information and the survey instruments such as DASS-21, CCS, MSPSS, and BCI. I also include the tests for normal distribution and reliability for the instruments used in this study. The inferential statistics for addressing the research questions and testing the null hypotheses complete the result section.

Descriptive Statistics of Sociodemographic Characteristics

The total number of students who consented for participating in the study were 682, of which two participants did not complete the survey forms and were excluded from the study. I included 680 participants response in data analysis. Table 3 depicts the personal characteristics of the sample including age, marital status, residence before joining campus, and current living arrangement. The BSc nursing students who participated in this study were between the ages of 18 and 27 ($M = 20.29 \pm SD = 1.65$). The majority of participants (69.1%, n = 470) reported living with family, followed by 17.8% (n = 121) of participants living in the hostel and 96.5% (n = 656) were unmarried at the time of data collection.

Table 3

Sociodemographic Information: Personal Character	istics
--	--------

Characteristics	Frequency (<i>n</i>)	Percentage (%)
Age $(M = 20.29, SD = 1.65)$		
Marital status		
Single	656	96.5
Married	21	3.1
Divorced	3	.4
Residence prior to joining campus		
Rural	112	16.5
Urban	568	83.5
Current living arrangement		
Hostel	121	17.8
Living with family	470	69.1
Living with relatives	63	9.3
Others	26	3.8

Financial characteristics measured were the arrangement for paying college fee

and difficulty in paying the fee on time. These characteristics are listed in Table 4.

Table 4

Sociodemographic Information: Financial Characteristics

Characteristics	Frequency (<i>n</i>)	Percentage (%)
Arrangement for paying college fee		
Scholarship	57	8.4
Education loan	19	2.8
Parents/ Relatives	604	88.8
Difficulty in paying fee on time		
Yes	218	32.1
No	462	67.9

The educational characteristics include the reason for choosing nursing education and the current academic year of the participant. Table 5 lists the frequency of educational characteristics. The majority of the participants (72.4%, n = 492) reported self-interest as the reason for choosing nursing education. A small number of participants (n = 16) stated other reasons for choosing nursing education such as unavailability of other professional education, peer influence, and opportunity for foreign-based jobs in future.

Table 5

Characteristics	Frequency (<i>n</i>)	Percentage (%)
Reason for choosing nursing education		
Self- interest	492	72.4
Parents' influence	109	16.0
Failure in interested field	63	9.3
Others	16	2.4
Current academic year		
First	183	26.9
Second	177	26.0
Third	167	24.6
Fourth	153	22.5

Sociodemographic Information: Educational Characteristics

Table 6 depicts the frequency of the sample response for the availability of counseling services in the college. A majority of the participants (79.4%, n = 540) reported that there were no counseling services available in their college.

Table 6

Sociod	emograp	hic Inf	formation:	Counsel	ing .	Services
~~~~~	•		0	0000000	···· • • •	

Characteristics	Frequency ( <i>n</i> )	Percentage (%)
Availability of counseling services in		
college ( $N = 680$ )		
Yes	140	20.6
No	540	79.4
Counseling provider ( $n = 140$ )		
Faculty	77	55.0
Professional counselor	18	12.9
Administrative staff	44	31.4
Others	1	.7

## **Descriptive Statistics of Sample Variables**

Using the paper-pencil survey method, I measured the predictor variables of campus connectedness, perceived social support, and coping and the outcome variables of stress, anxiety, and depression. The six study variables were operationalized using four survey scales including CCS, MSPSS, Brief Cope Inventory, and DASS-21.

**Campus connectedness.** The predictor variable of campus connectedness was operationalized using the 14-items Likert scale (Lee & Davis, 2000; Lee et al., 2002). I measured the reliability of the CCS using a reliability test with Cronbach's alpha that had a value of .79. The initial validity of CSS had a Cronbach's alpha of .92 (Lee & Davis, 2000). The mean score (Table 7) was used as a cut off score for determining low and high connectedness in this study (Lee & Robbins, 1998). Mean score less than 62.42 was

considered as low connectedness, whereas mean score of 62.42 or above was categorized as high connectedness.

**Perceived social support.** The predictor variable of perceived social support was operationalized using the 12-item Likert scale MSPSS (Zimet et al., 1988). The tool reliability value of MSPSS with Cronbach's alpha in this study was .89, which was slightly lower than the initial value of .93 (Zimet et al., 1988). I categorized the perceived social support into low social support and high social support based on cut off score of individual mean score (Zimet et al., 1988). The individual mean score up to 4 was considered as low social support, and a mean score more than 4 was categorized into high social support.

**Coping.** I operationalized the predictor variable of coping using BCI (Carver, 1997), with 14 subscales consisting of two items each that indicate 28 coping strategies. Based on the Theory of Stress, Coping, and Adaptation by Lazarus and Folkman (1984) and Carver et al. (1989), I have analyzed the variable of coping into problem-focused and emotion-focused domains. The problem-focused domain has five coping strategies with two items each, whereas, the emotion-focused domain consists of nine coping strategies with two items each. Both problem-focused and emotion-focused coping were categorized into low- users and high- users based on median scores. For low- users of problem-focused coping, the cut off median score was less than 31 and for high- users, it was 31 or more. Whereas, a median score less than 40 was considered as low -users of emotion-focused coping and high- users were those who scored 40 or above. The overall internal consistency of BCI tool with Cronbach's alpha was .79, whereas, problem-

focused and emotion-focused domains had Cronbach's alpha of .72 and .73 respectively. The Cronbach's alpha value of original scale varied from .50 to .70 for each item (Carver, 1997).

**Stress, anxiety, depression.** I operationalized the outcome variables of stress, anxiety, and depression by using DASS-21 (Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995) that were comprised of three subscales; DASS-D, DASS-A, and DASS-S for measuring depression, anxiety, and stress respectively. Each subscale consists of seven items on a scale. In the original validation study, DASS-21 indicated good internal consistency in which the Cronbach alpha was .88, .82, .90, and .93 for depression, anxiety, stress, and overall scale respectively (Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995). In this study, the Cronbach's alpha was .78, .74, .76, and .89 for depression, anxiety, stress, and overall scale respectively. Although there was a variation in participants' scores, most participants reported the relatively high level of campus connectedness and perceived social support. The descriptive statistics for predictor variables campus connectedness and perceived social support are listed in Table 7.

Table 7

Descriptive Statistics for Campus Connectedness and Perceived Social Support

Scale	Ν	Items	Range of t	est scores	М	SD	α
			Potential	Observed			
CCS	680	14	14-84	24-84	62.42	9.79	.786
MSPSS	680	12	12-84	17-84	68.96	11.27	.882

*Note.* CCS= Campus Connectedness Scale, MSPSS= Multidimensional Scale for Perceived Social Support

The predictor variable coping measured by BCI revealed that participants used problem-focused coping strategies during stress. The first three coping strategies used by participants included positive reframing, active coping, and acceptance. Table 8 lists the types of problem-focused and emotion-focused strategies the 680 participants used during stress.

Table 8

Descriptive Statistics for Coping Used by the Students

Mean	SD	
6.21	1.52	
6.17	2.16	
6.13	1.52	
5.96	1.47	
5.92	1.41	
5.98	1.49	
5.74	1.49	
	Mean 6.21 6.17 6.13 5.96 5.92 5.98 5.74	Mean SD   6.21 1.52   6.17 2.16   6.13 1.52   5.96 1.47   5.92 1.41   5.98 1.49   5.74 1.49

Religion	4.97	1.70
Venting	4.83	1.60
Denial	4.32	1.65
Behavioral disengagement	4.10	1.70
Self-blame	4.02	1.62
Humor	3.55	1.67
Substance use	2.21	.73

The operationalization of the outcome variables stress, anxiety, and depression indicated that the participants had moderate to extremely severe levels of depression (51.7%, n = 350), anxiety (72.9%, n = 496), and stress (47%, n = 319) at the time of data collection. The levels of stress, anxiety, and depression are listed in Table 9.

Table 9

_

Severity	Depression		Anxiety		Stress	
	f	Percent of sample	f	Percent of sample	f	Percent of sample
Normal						
D=0-9	208	30.6	127	18.7	168	24.7
A=0-7						
S=0-14						
Mild						
D=10-13	122	17.9	57	8.4	193	28.4
A= 8-9						
S=15-18						
Moderate						
D=14-20	190	27.9	171	25.1	148	21.8
A= 10-14						
S=19-25						

Descriptive Statistics for Stress, Anxiety, and Depression Using DASS-21

Severe						
D=21-27	73	10.7	106	15.6	133	19.6
A=15-19						
S=26-33						
Extremely Severe						
D=28+	87	12.8	219	32.2	38	5.6
A= 20+						
S= 34+						
A= 15-19 S= 26-33 Extremely Severe D= 28+ A= 20+ S= 34+	87	12.8	219	32.2	38	5.6

Note. D= Depression, A= Anxiety, S= Stress.

#### Statistical Assumptions for Multivariate Analysis of Variance (MANOVA)

I selected parametric one-way MANOVA test to answer the research questions in this study. MANOVA is designed to test the relationship of several outcome variables simultaneously with predictor variables (Field, 2014). In a one-way MANOVA, the predictor variable, also known as a factor, has two or more levels (Green & Salkind, 2014). I did not use multiple regression test to examine the relationship between the variables as the assumptions of multiple regression were not met. In this study, each research question aimed to determine the relationship between three outcome variables (stress, anxiety, and depression) and a predictor variable (campus connectedness/perceived social support/coping) each having two groups or levels (low and high). I tested the assumptions underlying one-way MANOVA with the following results:

Assumption 1. There should be two or more outcome variables at the continuous level. In this study, the three outcome variables stress, anxiety, and depression were at the continuous level, which met the assumption for outcome variables.

Assumption 2. There should be one predictor variable that consists of two or more Categorical Independent Groups. This assumption was also met in this study. The three predictor variables campus connectedness, perceived social support, and coping had two groups (low and high).

**Assumption 3.** There should be independence of observation. In this study, each group had different participants. The independence assumption was not violated.

Assumption 4. There should be no univariate or multivariate outliers. in this study, surveys with a fixed range of possibilities (minimum to maximum) were used. Therefore, the participants all resulted within the range of measurement scales. The outliers shown in the boxplots (figures 1 to 4) indicate extreme responses of the participants that were within the range. Due to this reason, I did not remove any data points from the analysis. There were no multivariate outliers in the data as assessed by Mahalanobis Distance (MD). The critical value for MD for three outcome variables is 16.27 (Meyers, Gamst, & Guarino, 2006). In this study, the extreme value for MD was 14.96.



*Figure 1*. Boxplot for campus connectedness



Figure 2. Boxplot for perceived social support.


Figure 3. Boxplot for problem-focused coping.



Figure 4. Boxplot for emotion-focused coping.

Assumption 5. There should be multivariate normality. I conducted the Shapiro Wilk test to test the normality. The p value for both low and high campus connectedness with stress, high perceived social support, high use of emotion-focused coping, and low and high use of problem-focused coping with stress, anxiety, and depression were statistically significant (p<.05). The significant Shapiro-Wilk test indicated violation of the assumption of normality. However, in a large sample size, violation of normality can be overlooked (Field, 2014; Norusis, 2012). If sample size is greater than 50, using Normal Q-Q Plot for normality is preferable (Laerd Statistics, 2015). In this study, the sample size was 680 and normal Q-Q Plots (Figures 5 to 28) indicated that assumption of normality was met.



Figure 5. Normal Q-Q plot of stress for low campus connectedness.



Figure 6. Normal Q-Q plot of stress for high campus connectedness.



Figure 7. Normal Q-Q plot of anxiety for low campus connectedness.



Figure 8. Normal Q-Q plot of anxiety for high campus connectedness.



Figure 9. Normal Q-Q plot of depression for low campus connectedness.



Figure 10. Normal Q-Q plot of depression for high campus connectedness.



Figure 11. Normal Q-Q plot of stress for low perceived social support.



Figure 12. Normal Q-Q plot of stress for high perceived social support.



Figure 13. Normal Q-Q plot of anxiety for low perceived social support.



Figure 14. Normal Q-Q plot of anxiety for high perceived social support.



Figure 15. Normal Q-Q plot of depression for low perceived social support.



Figure 16. Normal Q-Q plot of depression for high perceived social support.



Figure 17. Normal Q-Q plot of stress for low use problem-focused coping.



Figure 18. Normal Q-Q plot of stress for high use problem-focused coping.



Figure 19. Normal Q-Q plot of anxiety for low use problem-focused coping.



Figure 20. Normal Q-Q plot of anxiety for high use problem-focused coping.



Figure 21. Normal Q-Q plot of depression for low use problem-focused coping.



Figure 22. Normal Q-Q plot of depression for high use problem-focused coping.



Figure 23. Normal Q-Q plot of stress for low use emotion-focused coping.



Figure 24. Normal Q-Q plot of stress for high use emotion-focused coping.



Figure 25. Normal Q-Q plot of anxiety for low use emotion-focused coping.



Figure 26. Normal Q-Q plot of anxiety for high use emotion-focused coping.



Figure 27. Normal Q-Q plot of depression for low use emotion-focused coping.



Figure 28. Normal Q-Q plot of depression for high use emotion-focused coping.

**Assumption 6.** There should be absence of multicollinearity. I checked for multicollinearity using Pearson's correlation coefficients between the outcome variables. The r values for stress, anxiety, and depression were .69, .63, and .76 respectively (Table 10) indicating that there is no multicollinearity. The values of .8 or .9 are suggestive of multicollinearity (Pallant, 2016).

		Stress	Anxiety	Depression
Stress	Pearson			
	Correlation	1	.691**	.761**
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.000	.000
	N	680	680	680
Anxiety	Pearson			
	Correlation	.691**	1	.633**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000		.000
	Ν	680	680	680
Depression	Pearson			
	Correlation	.761**	.633**	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	
	Ν	680	680	680

Pearson's Correlation Coefficients for Outcome Variables

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Assumption 7. Testing the assumption of linearity. The scatterplot matrix indicates that there was a linear relationship between each pair of outcome variables for both low and campus connectedness groups (Figures 29 & 30), low and high perceived social support groups (Figures 31 & 32), low use and high use problem-focused coping groups (Figures 33 & 34), and low use and high use emotion-focused coping groups. (Figures 35 & 36).



Figure 29. Scatterplot matrix for low campus connectedness.



Figure 30. Scatterplot matrix for high campus connectedness.



Figure 31. Scatterplot matrix of low perceived social support.



Figure 32. Scatterplot matrix of high perceived social support.



Figure 33. Scatterplot matrix of low use problem-focused coping.



Figure 34. Scatterplot matrix of high use problem-focused coping.



Figure 35. Scatterplot matrix of low emotion-focused coping.



Figure 36. Scatterplot matrix of high use emotion-focused coping.

Assumption 8. There should be homogeneity of variance. A non-significant Levene Static indicated that there was homogeneity of variance for stress and anxiety across the levels of campus connectedness and emotion-focused coping. The assumption of homogeneity of variance was violated for stress, anxiety, and depression across the levels of perceived social support and problem-focused coping. This assumption was also violated for depression across the levels of campus connectedness and emotion-focused coping (Table 11). However, the F-test is robust and violence of homogeneity of variance has minimal effect on the results (Howell, 2004; Stevens, 2009).

Table 11

Levene's Test for	· Homogeneity	of Variance	for the levels	of Predictor	Variables
-------------------	---------------	-------------	----------------	--------------	-----------

		F	df1	df2	Sig.
CC	Stress	.025	1	678	.875
	Anxiety	.059	1	678	.808
	Depression	8.684	1	678	.003
PSS	Stress	.877	1	678	.349
	Anxiety	.093	1	678	.760
	Depression	1.274	1	678	.259
PFC	Stress	.627	1	678	.429
	Anxiety	5.542	1	678	.019
	Depression	.015	1	678	.902
EFC	Stress	.088	1	678	.767
	Anxiety	.592	1	678	.442
	Depression	4.367	1	678	.037

*Note. CC*= Campus Connectedness, *PSS*= Perceived Social Support, *PFC*=Problem-Focused Coping, *EFC*= Emotion-Focused Coping.

The post-hoc comparison for the variance can be conducted to find out the variance across the levels of predictor variables. The post-hoc test could not be done as it did not meet the criteria of having more than two groups of predictor variables. All three predictor variables had two groups. However, as a follow-up statistical test, discriminant analysis was conducted. Green and Salkind (2014) and Field (2014) recommend conducting discriminant analysis if the F-test for significant MANOVA. Discriminant analysis identified that the groups of campus connectedness, perceived social support, and coping differed as described by interrelated variables such as stress, anxiety, and depression. It also revealed the variable that best distinguished among different groups. The results of discriminant analysis are presented in a later section in this chapter.

**Assumption 9**. There should be homogeneity of variance-covariance matrices. A non-significant Box M test indicates equal covariance between outcome variable for the levels of predictor variables (Table 12).

Table 12

	CC	PSS	PFC	EFC
Box' M	10.562	4.875	12.593	8.834
F	1.752	.790	2.089	1.465
df1	6	6	6	6
df2	3069517.214	26385.897	3210099.255	3310762.591
Sig.	.105	.577	.051	.186

*Box's Test of Equality of Covariance Matrices for Predictor Variables* 

Note. CC=Campus Connectedness, PSS=Perceived Social Support, PFC=Problem-Focused Coping,

EFC=Emotion-Focused Coping.

## **MANOVA Results**

Based on the results of assumptions testing, I decided to conduct one-way MANOVA to address the research questions and in this study. The first research question in this study was: What is the relationship of campus connectedness with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal?

Table 13 shows the result of a one-way MANOVA that determined the effect of two levels of campus connectedness (low and high) on the three outcome variables, the stress, anxiety, and depression. Statistically significant differences were found among the levels of campus connectedness on the outcome variables, Wilks' lambda ( $\lambda$ ) = .90, *F* (3,676) = 24.56, *p* < .001. Therefore, the null hypothesis that suggested that there would be no relationship of campus connectedness with stress, anxiety, and depression was rejected.

Effect		Value	F	Hypothesis	Error df	Sig.	Partial eta
				df			squared
Intercept	Pillai's Trace	.857	1353.677	3.000	676.000	.000	.857
	Wilks' Lambda	.143	1353.677	3.000	676.000	.000	.857
	Hotelling's	6.007	1353.677	3.000	676.000	.000	.857
	Trace						
	Roy's Largest	6.007	1353.677	3.000	676.000	.000	.857
	Root						
Campus	Pillai's Trace	.098	24.558	3.000	676.000	.000	.098
connectedness							
	Wilks' Lambda	.902	24.558	3.000	676.000	.000	.098
	Hotelling's	.109	24.558	3.000	676.000	.000	.098
	Trace						
	Roy's Largest	.109	24.558	3.000	676.000	.000	.098
	Root						

Multivariate Test Results for Campus Connectedness

The second research question in the study was: What is the relationship of perceived social support with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal?

Table 14 shows the result of a one-way MANOVA that determined the effect of two levels of perceived social support (low and high) on the three outcome variables, stress, anxiety, and depression. Statistically significant differences were found among the levels of perceived social support on the outcome variables, Wilks'  $\lambda = .97$ , *F* (3,676) = 6.19, *p*< .001. Therefore, the null hypothesis that suggested that there would be no relationship of perceived social support with stress, anxiety, and depression was rejected.

				Hypothesis			Partial eta
Effect		Value	F	df	Error df	Sig.	squared
Intercept	Pillai's Trace	.590	324.319	3.000	676.000	.000	.590
	Wilks' Lambda	.410	324.319	3.000	676.000	.000	.590
	Hotelling's Trace	1.439	324.319	3.000	676.000	.000	.590
	Roy's Largest Root	1.439	324.319	3.000	676.000	.000	.590
Perceived	Pillai's Trace	.035	8.113	3.000	676.000	.000	.035
social	Wilks' Lambda	.965	8.113	3.000	676.000	.000	.035
support	Hotelling's Trace	.036	8.113	3.000	676.000	.000	.035
	Roy's Largest	026	Q 112	2 000	676 000	000	025
	Root	.030	0.115	5.000	070.000	.000	.033

Multivariate Test for Perceived Social Support

The third research question in the study was: What is the relationship of coping with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal? This question was analyzed separately for problem-focused coping and emotion-focused coping.

Table 15 shows the result of a one-way MANOVA that determined the effect of two levels of problem-focused coping (low use and high use) on the three outcome variables, the stress, anxiety, and depression. Statistically significant differences were found among the levels of problem-focused coping on the outcome variables, Wilks'  $\lambda =$  .96, *F* (3,676) = 8.11, *p* < .001.

Using Wilks' Lambda, there was a significant effect of levels of emotion-focused coping (low use and high use) on stress, anxiety, and depression, Wilks'  $\lambda = .90$ , *F* 

(3,676) = 23.69, p < .001 (Table 16). Therefore, the null hypothesis that suggested that there would be no relationship of coping with stress, anxiety, and depression was rejected.

Table 15

				Hypothesis			Partial eta
Effect		Value	F	df	Error df	Sig.	squared
Intercept	Pillai's Trace	.846	1239.760	3.000	676.000	.000	.846
	Wilks' Lambda	.154	1239.760	3.000	676.000	.000	.846
	Hotelling's Trace	5.502	1239.760	3.000	676.000	.000	.846
	Roy's Largest Root	5.502	1239.760	3.000	676.000	.000	.846
Problem	Pillai's Trace	.027	6.193	3.000	676.000	.000	.027
-focused	Wilks' Lambda	.973	6.193	3.000	676.000	.000	.027
coping	Hotelling's Trace	.027	6.193	3.000	676.000	.000	.027
	Roy's Largest Root	.027	6.193	3.000	676.000	.000	.027

Effect				Hypothesis			Partial eta
		Value	F	df	Error df	Sig.	squared
Intercept	Pillai's Trace	.854	1323.095	3.000	676.000	.000	.854
	Wilks' Lambda	.146	1323.095	3.000	676.000	.000	.854
	Hotelling's	5 977	1222 005	2 000	676 000	000	054
	Trace	5.872	1323.095	3.000	070.000	.000	.834
	Roy's Largest	5.077	1222.005	2 000	(7( 000	000	054
	Root	5.872	1323.095	3.000	070.000	.000	.834
Emotion	Pillai's Trace	.095	23.668	3.000	676.000	.000	.095
-	Wilks' Lambda	.905	23.668	3.000	676.000	.000	.095
focused	Hotelling's	105	22 (()	2 000	(7( 000	000	005
coping	Trace	.105	23.668	3.000	6/6.000	.000	.095
	Roy's Largest	105	22 (()	2 000	(7( 000	000	005
	Root	.105	23.008	3.000	0/0.000	.000	.095

Multivariate Test for Emotion-Focused Coping

#### Discriminant Analysis as a Follow-Up Procedure to MANOVA

Discriminant analysis can be used to distinguish groups based on linear combinations of measure as a follow-up procedure to a significant MANOVA (Field, 2014; Green & Salkind, 2014). The advantage of discriminant analysis as a follow-up procedure to MANOVA is that it adequately reflects the character and complexity of multivariate data (Borgen & Seling, 1978). I conducted discriminant analysis as the Ftests for MANOVA in this study were highly significant (p < .001) and to further describe the dimension on which the groups in this study actually differs. The variables in discriminant analysis were the reversed form of MANOVA test. The continuous predictor variables included stress, anxiety, and depression, whereas, the outcome variables used were campus connectedness with two levels (low and high), perceived social support with two levels (low and high), problem-focused coping with two levels (low use and high use), and emotion-focused coping (low use and high use).

I used variables stress, anxiety, depression, and campus connectedness for the discriminant analysis of RQ1 to determine whether stress, anxiety, and depression could predict campus connectedness. The overall Wilks' lambda was significant,  $\lambda = .90$  (3, N = 680) = 69.98, p < .001 indicating that overall the predictors variables, stress, anxiety, and depression differentiated across the two levels of campus connectedness (Table 17). Function 1 had an eigenvalue of .109 and a canonical correlation of .313 (Table 17). By squaring the canonical correlation for the discriminant function (.313² = .09), I obtained the eta square on the discriminant function. Accordingly, 9% of the variability of the scores for the discriminant function was accounted for by differences among the two campus connectedness groups. The eta square value of .09 indicated a moderate effect size (Richardson, 2011).

Eigenvalues						
		% of	Cumulative	Canonical		
Function	Eigenvalue	Variance	%	correlation		
1	.109 ^a	100.0	100.0	.313		
1. First 1 canonical discriminant functions were used in the analysis.						

Significant Tests and Strength-of-Relationship Statistics for Campus Connectedness

Wilks' Lambda					
Test of	Wilks'				
Function(s)	Lambda	Chi-square	df	Sig.	
1	.902	69.982	3	.000	

The coefficients for the discriminant functions are shown in Table 18.

Discriminant function was named by determining which variable is most strongly related to it. The strength of the relationship was assessed by the magnitudes of the standardized coefficients for the predictor variables of functions (Table 18 labeled "Standardized Canonical Discriminant Function Coefficients") and the correlation coefficients between the predictor variables and the functions within the group (Table 18 labeled "Structure Matrix") (Field, 2014; Green & Salkind, 2014).The discriminant function showed a positive relationship with stress and depression and a negative relationship with anxiety. Based on the with-in groups relationship between the predictors, stress, anxiety, depression and the discriminant functions in Structure Matrix (Table 18), depression demonstrated the strongest relationship with the discriminant function. Thus, discriminant function was named as depression.

	Standardized Canonical Discriminant Function				
	Coefficient				
	Function				
	1				
Stress	.485				
Anxiety	026				
Depression	.606				
	Structure Matrix				
	Function				
	1				
Depression	.948				
Stress	.914				
Anxiety	.669				

Coefficients for Discriminant Functions and the Pooled With-in Groups Correlations for Campus Connectedness

The means of the discriminant scores for the two groups of low campus

connectedness and high campus connectedness are presented in Table 19. The average value for the discriminant function for campus connectedness was 0.36, while for high connectedness was -0.30. This finding indicated a large difference in means using linear combinations of these predictor variables.

Table 19

Group Centroid for Discriminant Function: Campus Connected	ness
------------------------------------------------------------	------

	Function
Campus	
connectedness level	1
Low connectedness	.360
High connectedness	302
Thesten dendi-ed concerical	dia

Unstandardized canonical discriminant functions evaluated at group means

The group classification results determined how well the group membership was predicted. Table 20 indicated that overall, 63.2% of the 680 samples used in the analysis were correctly classified in their original groups based on the discriminant functions. The findings suggested that 68.1% (n = 252) of the 370 participants with high campus connectedness were correctly classified and 57.4% (n = 178) of the participants with low campus connectedness were correctly classified.

Table 20

Group	<i>Classification:</i>	Campus	Connecte	dness
	./			

	Classification Results ^a				
		Predicted Group			
		Membership			
	Campus	-	Low	High	Total
	connectedness				
Original	Low	Count	178	132	310
		%	57.4	42.6	100
	High	Count	118	252	370
		%	31.9	68.1	100

1.

63.2% of original grouped cases correctly classified

I conducted discriminant analysis for RQ2 to determine whether stress, anxiety, and depression could predict perceived social support. The overall Wilks' lambda was significant,  $\lambda = .96$  (3, N = 680) = 23.93, p < .001 indicating that overall the predictors variables, stress, anxiety, and depression differentiated across the two levels of perceived social support (Table 21). Function 1 had an eigenvalue of .07 and a canonical correlation of .186 (Table 21). By squaring the canonical correlation for the discriminant function (.186² = .03), I obtained the eta square on the discriminant function. Accordingly, 3% of the variability of the scores for the discriminant function was accounted for by

differences among the two campus connectedness groups. The eta square value of .03 indicated a small effect size (Richardson, 2011).

Table 21

Significant Tests and Strengths-of-Relationship Statistics for Perceived Social Support

Eigenvalues				
		% of	Cumulative	Canonical
Function	Eigenvalue	Variance	%	Correlation
1	.036 ^a	100.0	100.0	.186

2. First 1 canonical discriminant functions were used in the analysis.

Wilks' Lambda				
Test of	Wilks'			
Function(s)	Lambda	Chi-square	df	Sig.
1	.965	23.930	3	.000

Table 22 shows the coefficients for the discriminant function that was named by determining the strongest related variable. The strength of the relationship was assessed by the magnitudes of the standardized coefficients for the predictor variables of functions and the correlation coefficients between the predictor variables and the functions within the group (Field, 2014; Green & Salkind, 2014). The discriminant function showed a positive relationship with anxiety and depression and a negative relationship with stress. Based on the within groups relationship between the predictors, stress, anxiety, depression and the discriminant functions in Structure Matrix (Table 22), depression demonstrated the strongest relationship (.95) with the discriminant function. Like the

previous model with campus connectedness, the discriminant function was named as

depression.

Table 22

	Standardized Canonical Discriminant Function		
	Coefficient		
	Function		
	1		
Stress	509		
Anxiety	.041		
Depression	1.308		
	Structure Matrix		
	Function		
	1		
Depression	.948		
Anxiety	.514		
Stress	.513		

Coefficients for Discriminations and the Pooled-With-in-Groups Correlations for Perceived Social Support

The means of the discriminant scores for the two groups of low perceived social support and high perceived social support are presented in Table 23. The average value for the discriminant function for perceived social support was .75, while for low perceived social support, it was -.05. This indicated a large difference in means using linear combinations of these predictor variables

	Function		
Perceived social			
support	1		
Low	.748		
	048		
High			
Unstandardized canonical discriminant			
functions evaluated at group means			

Group-Centroid for Discriminant Function Perceived Social Support

Table 24 indicated that overall, 69.6% of the 680 samples used in the analysis were correctly classified in their original groups based on the discriminant functions. The findings suggested that 70.1% (n = 448) of the 639 participants with high social support were correctly classified and 61% (n = 25) of the participants with low social support were correctly classified

Table 24

# Group Classification: Perceived Social Support

	Classification Results ^a				
		Predicted Group			
		Membership			
	Perceived social		Low	High	Total
	support				
Original	Low	Count	25	16	41
		%	61	39	100
	High	Count	191	448	639
		%	29.9	70.1	100

1. 69.6% of original grouped cases correctly classified

A separate discriminant analysis for RQ3 was conducted to determine whether stress, anxiety, and depression could predict problem- focused coping and emotionfocused coping. The overall Wilks' lambda was significant,  $\lambda = .97$  (3, N = 680) = 18.34, p < .001 indicating that overall the predictors variables, stress, anxiety, and depression differentiated across the two levels of problem-focused coping (Table 25). Function 1 had an eigenvalue of .03 and a canonical correlation of .164 (Table 25). By squaring the canonical correlation for the discriminant function ( $.164^2 = .03$ ), I obtained the eta square on the discriminant function. Accordingly, 3% of the variability of the scores for the discriminant function was accounted for by differences among the two problem-focused groups. The eta square value of .03 indicated a small effect size (Richardson, 2011). Table 25

Eigenvalues					
		% of	Cumula	tive	Canonical
Function	Eigenvalue	Variance	%		Correlation
1	.027 ^a	100.0	100	.0	.164
1.	First 1 c	anonical dis	scriminant fu	nction	s were used in
	the anal	ysis.			
		Wilks' l	Lambda		
Test of	Wi	lks'			
Function(s	s) Lar	nbda	Chi-square	df	Sig.
1		.973	18.343	/	3000

Significant Tests and Strengths-of-Relationship Statistics for Problem-Focused Coping

Discriminant function was named by determining which variable was most strongly related to it. The strength of the relationship was assessed by the magnitudes of the standardized coefficients for the predictor variables of functions and the correlation coefficients between the predictor variables and the functions within the group (Table 26). Discriminant function showed a positive relationship with stress and anxiety and a negative relationship with anxiety. Based on the with-in groups relationship between the predictors, stress, anxiety, depression and the discriminant functions in Structure Matrix (Table 26), anxiety demonstrated the strongest relationship with the discriminant function Table 26

	Standardized Canonical Discriminant Function		
	Coefficient		
	Function		
	1		
Stress	.436		
Anxiety	1.094		
Depression	909		
	Structure Matrix		
	Function		
	1		
Anxiety	.815		
Stress	.496		
Depression	.119		

Coefficients for Discriminant Functions and the Pooled With-in-Groups Correlations for Problem-Focused Coping

The means of the discriminant scores for the two groups of low use problemfocused coping and high use problem-focused coping are presented in Table 27. The average value for the discriminant function for problem focused coping was -.18, while for high use problem-focused coping, it was .16. This indicated a large difference in means using linear combinations of these predictor variables.

	Function	
Problem-focused		
coping	1	
Low use	176	
High use	.156	
Unstandardized canonical discriminant functions evaluated at group means		

Group-Centroid for Discriminant Function: Problem-Focused Coping

The overall, 55.0% of the 680 samples used in the analysis were correctly classified in their original groups based on the discriminant functions (Table 28). The findings suggested that 52.8% (n = 190) of the 360 participants with high use problem-focused coping were correctly classified and 57.5% (n = 184) of the participants with low use problem-focused coping were correctly classified.

Table 28

Group Classification: Problem-Focused Coping

	Classification Results ^a				
		Predicted Group			
			Membership		
	Problem-	-	Low use	High use	Total
	focused coping				
Original	Low use	Count	184	136	320
		%	57.5	42.5	100
	High use	Count	170	190	360
		%	47.2	52.8	100

1. 55.0% of original grouped cases correctly classified
As a part of RQ3, a discriminant analysis was conducted to determine whether stress, anxiety, and depression could predict emotion- focused coping. The overall Wilks' lambda was significant,  $\lambda = .90$  (3, N = 680) = 67.57, p < .001 indicating that overall the predictors variables, stress, anxiety, and depression differentiated across the two levels of emotion-focused coping (Table 29). Function 1 had an eigenvalue of .10 and a canonical correlation of .308 (Table 29). By squaring the canonical correlation for the discriminant function ( $.308^2 = .09$ ), I obtained the eta square on the discriminant function. Accordingly, 9% of the variability of the scores for the discriminant function was accounted for by differences among the two emotion-focused groups. The eta square value of .09 indicated a moderate effect size (Richardson, 2011).

Table 29

Significant Tests and Strengths-of-Relationship Statistics for Emotion-Focused Coping

Eigenvalues					
		% of	Cumulative	Canonical	
Function	Eigenvalue	Variance	%	Correlation	
1	.105 ^a	100.0	100.0	.308	

1. First 1 canonical discriminant functions were used in the analysis.

Wilks' Lambda					
Test of	Wilks'				
Function(s)	Lambda	Chi-square	df	Sig.	
1	.905	67.567	3	.000	

In Table 30, the discriminant function shows a positive coefficient with all three variables; stress, anxiety, and depression. Based on the with-in groups relationship between the predictors, stress, anxiety, depression and the discriminant functions in Structure Matrix (Table 30), anxiety demonstrated the strongest relationship with the

discriminant function. Therefore, the discriminant function for emotion-focused coping

was named as anxiety.

Table 30

	Standardized Canonical Discriminant Function		
	Coefficient		
	Function		
	1		
Stress	.158		
Anxiety	.530		
Depression	.443		
	Structure Matrix		
	Function		
	1		
Anxiety	.902		
Depression	.879		
Stress	.840		

Coefficients for Discriminant Functions and the Pooled With-in Groups Correlations for Emotion-Focused Coping

The means of the discriminant scores for the two groups of low use emotionfocused coping and high use emotion-focused coping are presented in Table 31. The average value for the discriminant function for emotion- focused coping was -.33, while for high use emotion-focused coping, it was .32. This indicated a large difference in means using linear combinations of the predictor variables.

# Table 31

	Function	
Emotion-focused		
coping	1	
Low use	331	
High use	.316	
Unstandardized canonical discriminant		

Group Centroid for Discriminant Emotion-Focused Coping

Unstandardized canonical discriminant functions evaluated at group means

Overall, 63.2% of the 680 surveys in the sample used in the analysis were correctly classified in their original groups based on the discriminant functions (Table 32). The findings suggested that 60.9% (n = 212) of the 348 participants with high use emotion-focused coping were correctly classified and 65.7% (n = 218) of the 332 of the participants with low use emotion-focused coping were correctly classified.

Table 32

	Classification Results ^a				
		Predicted Group			
		Membership			
	Emotion-		Low use	High use	Total
	focused coping				
Original	Low use	Count	218	114	332
		%	65.7	34.3	100
	High use	Count	136	212	348
		%	39.1	60.9	100

### **Summary**

The purpose of this non-experimental, descriptive, correlational study was to determine the relationship of campus connectedness, perceived social support, and coping with stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal. I used three sets of MANOVA as a primary statistical test for addressing the three research questions in this study. The MANOVA tests revealed statistically significant differences across the levels of predictor variables on outcome variables. I conducted discriminant analyses as a follow-up procedure to significant MANOVA. The results of discriminant analyses confirmed statistically significant relationships between the variable across the groups. Overall, the predictors in discriminant analyses differentiated among the two groups of outcome variables. On the basis of MANOVA and discriminant analysis findings, I rejected the null hypotheses formulated in this study. In Chapter 5, I summarize and interpret the key findings, describe the limitations, recommendations, implications for positive social change, and provide recommendations for further research.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

### Introduction

My purpose in this nonexperimental, descriptive, correlational study was to determine the relationship of campus connectedness, perceived social support, and coping with levels of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal. I used cross-sectional, quantitative design to examine the role of campus connectedness, social support, and coping on levels of stress, anxiety, and depression. The study also explored the prevalence of stress, anxiety, and depression among undergraduate nursing students. The predictor variables in the study included campus connectedness, social support, and coping. The outcome variables in this study were stress, anxiety, and depression.

In this study, I addressed a gap in the literature by examining the role of campus connectedness, perceived social support, and coping in the occurrence of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal. The use of instruments such as DASS-21, CCS, and MSPSS provided baseline information on the study variables among nursing students in Nepal. I made four major findings: (a) high prevalence of stress, anxiety, anxiety, and depression among nursing students; (b) statistically significant relationship of campus connectedness, perceived social support and coping with stress, anxiety, and depression; (c) relatively good membership between the groups of campus connectedness, perceived social support across stress, anxiety, and depression; and (d) the discriminant analysis demonstrated strongest relationship of depression with campus connectedness and perceived social support, whereas anxiety demonstrated strongest relationship with coping.

### **Interpretation of the Findings**

# Prevalence of Stress, Anxiety, and Depression

Prevalence of stress, anxiety, and depression were measured by using DASS-21 that comprises three subscales: DASS-D, DASS-A, DASS-S. The majority of students reported moderate to extremely severe level of anxiety (72%) followed by depression (51%), and stress (47%). The findings of my study concur with Basu et al. (2016) who found that students had moderate to extremely severe levels of anxiety (56.6%), followed by depression (33.3%), and stress (23.26%). In a similar study conducted in Hong Kong, nursing students reported moderate to extremely severe anxiety (39.9%), depression (24.3%), and stress (20%) (Cheung et al., 2016). Rathnayake and Ekanayaka (2016) reported different findings indicating highest prevalence of moderate to extreme level of stress (64%) followed by anxiety (50%) and depression (39%) among nursing students.

The literature reveals that the prevalence of stress, anxiety, and depression is higher in developing countries such as India, Sri Lanka, Republic of China, Saudi Arabia, and Brazil as compared with developed countries (Alfaris et al., 2016; Basu et al., 2016; Chatterjee et al., 2014; Lei et al., 2016; Patil et al., 2016; Rathnayake & Ekanayaka, 2016; Singh & Kohli, 2015; Xu et al., 2014). One of the reasons for such high levels of stress, anxiety, and depression could be the unavailability of counseling services in the nursing colleges (Amr, El-Gilany, El-Moafee, Salama, & Jimenez, 2011; Ratanasiripong et al., 2015; Rathnayake & Ekanayaka, 2016; Stebleton et al., 2014), which can most likely be evidenced through future research. I have discussed the factors causing high levels of stress, anxiety, and depression in Chapter 2. The high levels SAD also indicate that there might be few other unidentified factors that need to be investigated and addressed. In this study, I examined three factors: campus connectedness, perceived social support, and coping.

# **Campus Connectedness and SAD**

Most participants reported a high level of campus connectedness which concurs with research conducted among students from Australia, United States, and Hong Kong reporting a high level of campus connectedness. Bales et al. (2015) also reported high levels of connectedness in the sample of female university students. The reason for the high level of connectedness could be the familiarity that students have with the campus environment. Contrary to this finding, Lykes and Kemmelmeier (2013) found students from Asian background had lower levels of campus connectedness. Undergraduate students begin learning fundamental nursing skills during their clinical placement and spend most of their time in clinical settings (Honda, Levett-Jones, Stone, & Maguire, 2016). Therefore, it is important that they feel connected with their clinical environment. This study focused on campus connectedness (Ashktorab et al., 2015; Grobecker, 2016; Honda et al., 2016; Levett-Jones et al., 2007). Therefore, clinical placement connectedness should be included in future studies for the students in Nepal.

My study results showed statistically significant relationship between campus connectedness and stress, anxiety, and depression. This result is consistent with the findings from previous research which showed a significant inverse relationship between connectedness and stress (Civitci, 2015; Grobecker, 2016; Stebleton et al., 2014).

Similarly, two different studies (Armstrong & Oomen-Early, 2009; Pidgeon et al., 2014; Stebleton et al., 2014) evidenced a significant relationship between campus connectedness and depression. On the other hand, findings in the study by Eckberg et al. (2017) showed no significant relationship between campus connectedness and depression. Eckberg et al. (2017) suggested that higher level of campus connectedness significantly predicted lower levels of anxiety).

Discriminant analysis was carried out as a follow-up procedure to further describe the dimension on which the groups differed and to create group membership for stress, anxiety, and depression. The findings indicated the prediction was accurate for 63.2% of the originally grouped cases (p < .05). Discriminant analysis also examined group correlation between predictors stress, anxiety, depression, discriminant factor, and campus connectedness which demonstrated that depression had the strongest relationship with the discriminant factor. This indicated that depression was the most significant variable to differentiate groups of campus connectedness. Furthermore, the discriminant function showed a positive relationship with stress and depression and a negative relationship with anxiety. There were no studies found with discriminant analysis which could support these findings.

#### **Perceived Social Support and SAD**

Most participants in this study perceived high level of social support from family, friends, and significant others which is consistent with the findings reported by Wolf et al. (2015). Ekback et al. (2013) found slightly different scores on MSPSS which were lower than the finding in my study. The MSPSS tool measures support from family,

friends, and significant others. The reason for perceiving relatively a high level of social support could be the collectivistic familial culture in Nepal (Wang & Lau, 2015) related to the obligations they may feel to reciprocate with the same gesture of helping those who have supported them, which in turn may increase their stress level (Mojaverian & Kim, 2013; Shavitt et al., 2016).

The results in this study indicated statistically significant differences across the levels of perceived social support on stress, anxiety, and depression. This finding supports findings from previous studies, in which authors reported a significant correlation between social support, stress and depression (Ramezankhani et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2014; Wolf et al., 2015). Roohafza et al. (2016) found that students who had low levels of social support reported higher levels of anxiety and depression. Similarly, Bukhari and Afzal (2017) and Kugbey, Osei-Boadi, and Atefoe (2015) reported that perceived social support had a negative relationship with stress, anxiety, and depression. Another research suggested that a low level of social support is related to higher levels of depression among nursing students (Brandy et al., 2015).

The results of the discriminant analysis revealed that 69.6% of original grouped cases were predicted correctly. Within the group, correlations demonstrated depression to have the strongest relationship with the discriminant factor. Furthermore, discriminant function showed a positive relationship with anxiety and depression, while stress showed a negative relationship. There are no recent studies that would suggest the discriminant functions of the variables used in this study. A contradictory finding was seen in a study

which indicated that social support did not significantly differentiate the groups of stress and depression (Dumont & Provost, 1999).

# **Coping and SAD**

Based on the theoretical basis of this study, coping was analyzed as problemfocused and emotion-focused (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Three most commonly used problem-focused coping strategies in this study were positive reframing, active coping, and acceptance. Self-distraction such as watching T.V., reading, sleeping, or shopping, and religion (such as praying, meditation, and spiritual beliefs) were used as emotionfocused strategies by the students. The other emotion-focused coping strategy that the students used in this study was seeking emotional support. Overall, students were found to prefer problem-focused coping strategies over emotion-focused coping strategies. However, most recent research findings contradicted the findings of this study by reporting that emotion-focused are dominant among nursing students. (Bista, Bhattrai, & Khadka, 2017; Fornes-Vives et al., 2016; Hirsch et al., 2015; Mahat, 1996; Zhao et al., 2015). Amongst emotion-focused strategies, students were found to use distractive coping such as watching TV, movies, physical exercise or a shower, denial of a problem, and avoidance. (Hirsch et al., 2015; Zhao et al., 2015). The emotion-focused strategies can be ineffective ways of dealing with the stressful situation, and by using them, individuals will not succeed in solving the real problem (Hirsch et al., 2015). The longitudinal research findings support the findings of my study by indicating that senior students used more problem-solving coping strategies than emotion-focused coping strategies as they progressed through the course (Chan, So, & Fong, 2009; Fornes-Vives

et al., 2016). This could be due to the guidance from the educators, counselors, or family members. The nursing curriculum also offers problem-solving techniques to the students that may apply to their personal life.

My results showed statistically significant differences across two levels of (lowusers and high-users) problem-focused and emotion-focused coping. This finding concurs with the other studies that found the significant coefficient of correlations among coping strategies and stress (Fornes-Vives et al., 2016; Hirsch et al., 2015; Mahmoud et al., 2012; Singh & Kohli, 2015). However, the finding in my study contradicts Yildirim et al. (2017) study which revealed a non-significant relationship between stress and coping. Avoidance strategy, an emotion-focused coping strategy was seen to play a risk factor while active coping, a problem-focused coping, showed as a protective factor in depression and anxiety (Roohafza et al., 2014). The high-users of emotion-focused coping were found to have higher levels of depression and anxiety, whereas, anxiety and depression were not significantly related to problem-focused coping (Mahmoud et al., 2012; Roohafza et al., 2014).

The discriminant function for problem-focused coping indicated a positive relationship with stress and anxiety, whereas, a negative relationship was observed for depression. As for emotion-focused coping, the discriminant function revealed a positive relationship with all three variables, stress, anxiety, and depression. Anxiety demonstrated the strongest relationship with the discriminant function for both problemfocused and emotion-focused coping. In a previous study, discriminant analysis among variables of low and high-level depression and coping strategies found that problemfocused coping strategies lowered the level of depression. Whereas, in the case of high depression, emotion-focused strategies showed higher discriminant coefficients (Dhillon & Arora, 2017).

# **Theoretical Findings**

The Theory of Stress, Coping, and Adaptation (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984) was the theoretical basis for this study. This theory emphasizes the relationship between person and environment that comprises of social networks and social supports. The demand aroused by perceived stress induces coping. Coping is a dynamic process and the selection of coping strategies can be according to the individuals and the situation they are faced with. Theory of Stress, Coping, and Adaptation emphasizes two types of coping, problem-focused and emotion-focused coping. In the current study, both types of coping strategies were used by the students when they faced the stressful situations. It is also evident that students used more problem-focused coping strategies compared to emotion-focused coping strategies.

Contrary to the assumption of this theory where stress levels are assumed to reduce after using coping strategies, the findings of this study revealed that students experienced moderate to extremely high levels of stress, anxiety, and depression. The reason for this may be due to inappropriate selection and application of problem-focused and emotion-focused strategies to deal with the stressful situation. This concurs with the argument of Lazarus and Folkman (1984) that mismatch or misfit of coping strategies may further increase the levels of stress and anxiety. Chang and Taylor (2013) also argued that neither problem-focused nor emotion-focused coping strategies could be promoted as solutions or answer to the stressful situations. The nature and the context of the stressors have a powerful influence on the efficacy of coping strategy (Chang & Taylor, 2013; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). However, identifying the stressors was not within the scope of this study. The other assumption of the Theory of Stress, Coping, and Adaptation is that perceived social support has a relationship with stress. This study also found a significant relationship of social support with stress, anxiety, and depression thus meeting the assumption of the theory.

### Limitations of the Study

This study had several limitations relating to study design, sampling technique, data collection method, and the statistical approach. The cross-sectional approach limits data collection at one point in time. The study included nursing students from all the four academic years. The way they perceived stress, anxiety, depression may vary according to their current academic year. Therefore, a longitudinal approach could be better to compare the variance based on the academic year. The nursing students affiliated with one university participated in this study. However, to reduce bias, the participants were recruited from multiple sites that included nine colleges from two different districts. Only the female nursing students, who were enrolled in the colleges located in urban areas, participated in the study. These factors can limit the generalizability of the findings to the nursing students from outside of these two districts, from rural areas, male students, and other universities. The convenience sampling technique used in the selection of the participants can also limit the generalizability. The other limitation could be the use of self-reported CCS. Although CCS has been tested for its validity and reliability outside Nepal, there were no articles that provided evidence for its use in Nepal. The culture and the self-reported survey approach could have also affected the responses of the participants. However, the Cronbach's test revealed that CCS had a good internal consistency in this study. Also, CCS only measures students' connectedness to their college environment and leaves out the clinical connectedness. Whereas undergraduate nursing students spend long hours in the clinical areas that could affect their levels of stress, anxiety, and depression. The post-hoc test that should be conducted on the predictor variable to compare each group to all other groups (Field, 2014) could not be done in this study. The post-hoc test requires a predictor variable with more than two groups, whereas, in this study, predictor variables had only two groups. This limitation was addressed by conducting discriminant analyses on significant MANOVA.

#### Recommendations

Recommendations are based on the limitations of the study as already discussed in this chapter. Replicating a similar study with a sample from other universities that include colleges in more districts, from rural areas, and male students can be helpful in identifying the pattern of stress, anxiety, depression, and their predictors. In this study, only three predictors were examined, whereas, the literature reveals several factors related to stress, anxiety, and depression. Future studies can be conducted with many more predictors related to academic, clinical, and personal factors. A longitudinal study may help to determine the difference in the levels of stress, anxiety, and depression over time. Also, it will assist the educators, managers, and counselors to identify if changes occur in the way students use coping strategies, and the way they perceive connectedness to their campus environment and social support over four academic years. I conducted three sets of discriminant analyses among the variables of stress, anxiety, depression and levels of campus connectedness, perceived social support, and coping which revealed that the variable that best discriminated the levels of campus connectedness and perceived social support was depression. Likewise, the levels of coping were found to be best discriminated by anxiety. There is a lack of studies that have conducted discriminant analyses on the variables of stress, anxiety, depression and level of campus connectedness, perceived social support, and coping. Studies using discriminant analysis are needed to examine if there is a pattern of stress, anxiety, depression that best discriminates the levels of campus connectedness, perceived social support, and coping.

Nursing students reported a high level of stress, anxiety, and depression. A mixed-methods approach could be useful to explore the students' experiences that increase stress levels. Although the majority of the students reported a relatively high level of campus connectedness, it is recommended that other measures can be used in future studies to validate the findings in this study. Nursing students must spend long hours in clinical placement. Therefore, they should feel well connected to the clinical areas as well. I recommend the use of a tool that can measures the clinical connectedness or belongingness that students perceive and its relationship with stress, anxiety, and depression in future studies. A high percentage of students reported moderate to extremely severe levels of stress, anxiety, and depression. The study also revealed a

statistically significant relationship with campus connectedness, perceived social support, and coping. These findings suggest that there is a need for screening, referral, and counseling services in nursing colleges in Nepal to cope with the stress, anxiety, and depression. Lastly, future studies to determine the relationship between the availability of counseling services and stress, anxiety, and depression would be helpful to validate the role counseling services may play in minimizing stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students.

### Implications

Most people in Nepal, including the nursing students, do not seek professional help for psychological distress such as stress, anxiety, and depression due to the social stigma (Luitel et al., 2015). This study provided an opportunity for nursing students to be screened for stress, anxiety, and depression. A higher number of students reported having moderate to extremely severe levels of stress, anxiety, and depression. This finding indicates the need for an on-campus screening program for nursing students so that early detection and referral services can be provided. The study also examined campus connectedness and perceived social support, relatively newer predictors of stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal. Thus, filling a gap in the literature.

The majority of the students reported unavailability of counseling services in the college. A potential impact for positive social change could include commencement of counseling services in nursing campuses. Another positive social implication that the results of my study will be useful knowledge for educators, clinical instructors, and administrators, so they can assist the students feel socially supported and "connected" by

effective counseling in the campus. Communicating the findings of this study to the nursing faculty, administrators, and clinical instructors may indicate that strategies need to be planned to address the mental health of nursing students. The counseling services can play a significant role in creating awareness among the students about potential academic, clinical, and personal stressors and equipping them to adopt effective coping strategies. These implications for positive change may lead to a domino effect that improves the quality of care provided by the nursing students about the safety concerns of the patients.

### Conclusion

Stress is inevitable during the academic years of a student and a lower level of stress may likely motivate and positively help nursing students achieve their goals. Research has revealed that stressful situations if managed with effective coping, can keep stress at lower levels. Nursing students may experience high levels of stress, anxiety, and depression if they fail to use effective coping strategies, perceive low levels of social support, and campus connectedness. This study found a significant relationship of campus connectedness, social support, and coping with stress, anxiety, and depression. Most nursing students in this study used problem-focused coping strategies which are believed to be more effective than emotion-focused coping, however, their levels of stress, anxiety, and depression were relatively high. This finding suggests that extensive and in-depth research should be carried out further to explore other factors that could be related to stress, anxiety, and depression. In spite of high levels of campus connectedness severe level of stress, anxiety, and depression. Increasing levels of depression may induce self-injury or suicidal tendency in students.

The majority of the students in this study reported unavailability of counseling services in their college. Hence, the colleges should take the initiative to introduce and implement services such as periodic mental health screening and counseling facilities that will enhance the mental health of the students. Nursing students will go on to take up the nursing profession in due course of time, and this profession is prone to handling stressful or anxiety-filled times. An individual who is already under stress, is experiencing anxiety or depression, may not be able to handle the stress and anxiety of patients and such situations that they would constantly come across. Also, if the nurses themselves do not know the coping strategies and how to apply coping strategies to reduce stress, anxiety, and depression, they will not be able to help their patients. Therefore, the college administrators and the faculty need to work in sync with the management in helping students with stress and anxiety management, which will empower the students in becoming mentally healthy nursing professionals. Finally, the findings in this study have contributed to the nursing literature related to campus connectedness and social support and their relationship with stress, anxiety, and depression among nursing students in Nepal.

#### References

- Abdel Wahed, W. Y., & Hassan, S. K. (2017). Prevalence and associated factors of stress, anxiety, and depression among medical Fayoum University students.
   *Alexandria Journal of Medicine*, 53(1), 77-84. doi:10.9734/BJESBS/2014/8733
- Ab Latif, R., & Mat Nor M. Z. (2016). Stressors and coping strategies during clinical practices among diploma nursing students. *Education in Medicine Journal*, 8(3), 21-33. doi:10.5959/eimj.v8i3.422

Agu, N., Omenyi, A., & Odimegwu, C. (2010). An assessment of students' connectedness in tertiary institutions in Anambra state of Nigeria. *Educational Research and Reviews*, 5(2), 090-098. Retrieved from http://www.academicjournals.org/journal/ERR/article-full-textpdf/5BA01CB3838

- Ahmed, Z., & Julius, S. H. (2015). The relationship between depression, anxiety, and stress among women college students. *Indian Journal of Health and Wellbeing*, 6(12), 1232-1234. Retrieved from https://eds-a-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=088c1c24-0d9f-44e6-a913-d1d13d447beb%40sessionmgr4007
- Alam, A., Rafique, R., & Anjum, A. (2016). Narcissistic tendencies, forgiveness, and empathy as predictors of social connectedness in students from universities of Lahore. *Dialogue (1819-6462)*, *11*(2), 136-156. Retrieved from https://eds-aebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/eds/detail/detail?vid=8&sid=29be4bc0-94ef-48b0-9a18-

b341ce81a29f%40sessionmgr4009&bdata=JnNpdGU9ZWRzLWxpdmUmc2Nvc GU9c210ZQ%3d%3d#AN=115450726&db=a9h

Al-Dabal, B. K., Koura, M. R., Rasheed, P., Al-Sowielem, L., & Makki, S. M. (2010). A comparative study of perceived stress among female medical and non-medical university students in Dammam, Saudi Arabia. *SQU Medical Journal*, *10*(2), 231-240. Retrieved from

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3074699/pdf/squmj-10-2-231.pdf

- Aldiabat, K. M., Matani, N. A., & Le Navence, C. L. (2014). Mental health among undergraduate university students: A background paper for administrator, educators, and healthcare providers. *Universal Journal of Public Health*, 2(8), 209-214. doi:10.13189/ujph.2014.020801
- AlFaris, E., Irfan, F., Qureshi, R., Naeem, N., Ashomrani, A., Ponnamperuma, G., ... van der Vleuten, C. (2016). Health Professions' students have an alarming prevalence of depression symptoms: Exploration of the associated factors. *BMC Medical Education*, 16(279). doi:1-1186/s12909-016-0794-y
- Alimoradi, M., Asadi, H., Asadbeigy, H., & Asadniya, R. (2014). The study of links between social support and psychological problems among youth. *International Journal of Basic Science & Applied Research*, 3(SP), 270-274. Retrieved from http://isicenter.org/fulltext2/paper-28022015095824.pdf
- Altiok, H. O., & Ustun, B. (2013). The stress sources of nursing students. *Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice*, 13(2), 760-766. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1017246.pdf

- Alzayyat, A., & Al-Gamal, E. (2016). Correlates of stress and coping among Jordanian nursing students during clinical practice in psychiatric-mental health course. *Stress and Health*, 32(4), 304-312. doi:10.1002/smi.2606
- Amarasuriya, S. D., Jorm, A. F., & Reavley, N. J. (2015). Quantifying and predicting depression literacy of undergraduates: A cross-sectional study in Sri Lanka. *BMC Psychiatry*, 15(1). doi:10.1186/s12888-015-0658-8
- American College Health Association. (2011). *National college health assessment II. Reference group executive summary*. Retrieved from http://www.achancha.org/docs/ACHA-NCHA-

II_ReferenceGroup_ExecutiveSummary_Spring2011.pdf

- American College Health Association. (2013). American College Health Association-National College Health Assessment II: Thompson Rivers University Executive Summary Spring 2013. Hanover, MD. Retrieved from https://www.tru.ca/__shared/assets/NCHA_II_Spring_201329926.pdf
- American Psychological Association (APA). (2015). *Anxiety*. Retrieved from www.apa.org/topics/anxiety
- Amr, M., El-Gilany, A., El-Moafee, H., Salama, L., & Jimenez, C. (2011). Stress among Mansoura (Egypt) baccalaureate nursing students. *The Pan African Medical Journal*, 8, 26. doi:10.4314/pamj.v8i1.71083
- Ariapooran, S. (2014). Compassion fatigue and burnout in Iranian nurses: The role of perceived social support. *Iranian Journal of Nursing and Midwifery Research*, 19(3), 279-284. Retrieved from

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4061629/?report=printable

- Armstrong, S., & Oomen-Early, J. (2009). Social Connectedness, self-esteem, and depression symptomatology among collegiate athletes verses non-athletes.
   *Journal of American College Health*, 57(5), 521-526.
   doi:10.3200/JACH.57.5.521-526
- Ashktorab, T., Hasanvand, S., Seyedfatemi, N., Zayeri, F., Levett-Jones, T., & Pournia, Y. (2015). Psychometric testing of the Persian version of the Belongingness
  Scale: Clinical placement experience. *Nurse Education Today*, *35*(3), 439-433.
  doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2014.11.006
- Auerbach, R. P., Bigda-Peyton, J. S., Eberhart, N. K., Webb, C. A., & Ho, M. R. (2011).
  Conceptualizing the prospective relationship between social support, stress and depression among adolescents. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *39*(4), 475-487. doi:10.1007/s10802-010-9479
- Awang, M. M., Kutty, F. M., & Ahmad, A. R. (2014). Perceived social support and wellbeing: First year student experience in university. *International Education Studies*, 7(13), 261-270. doi:10.5539/ies.v7n13p261
- Baek, R. N., Tanenbaum, M. L., & Gonzalez, J. S. (2014). Diabetes burden and diabetes distress: The buffering effect of social support. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 48(2), 145-155. doi:10.1007/s12160-013-9585-4
- Bales, T. S., Pidgeon, A. M., Lo., B. C. Y., Stapleton, P., & Magyar, H. B. (2015). Crosscultural differences in coping, connectedness and psychological distress among university students. *International Journal for Innovation Education and Research*,

3(2), 114-125. Retrieved from http://www.ijier.net/ijier/article/view/318/238

Barber, B. K., & Schluterman, J. M. (2008). Connectedness in the lives of children and adolescents: A call for greater conceptual clarity. *Journal of Adolescents Health*, 43(3), 209-216. doi:10.1016/j/jadohealth.2008.01.012

Barrera, M. (1986). Distinction between social support concepts, measures, and models.
 *American Journal of Community Psychology*, *14*(4), 413-445.
 doi:10.1007/BF00922627

Basu, M., Sinha, D., Ahamed, A., Chatterjee, S., & Misra, R. N. (2016). Depression, anxiety, stress among nursing students of Kolkata: A cross sectional study. *Journal of Preventive Medicine and Holistic Health*, 2(2), 54-60. doi:10.18231/2454-6712.2016.0007

- Bartlett, M., Taylor, H., & Nelson, J. D. (2016). Comparison of mental health characteristics and stress between baccalaureate nursing students and non-nursing students. *Journal of Nursing Education*. 55(2), 87-90. doi:10.3928/01484834-201601114-05
- Baumeister, R., & Leary, M. R. (1995). The need to belong: Desire for interpersonal attachments as a fundamental human motivation. *Psychological Bulletin*, *117*(3), 497-529. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.117.3.497

Bay, E. J., & Algase, D. L. (1999). Fear and anxiety: A simultaneous concept analysis. *Nursing Diagnoses*, 10(3), 103-111. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-618x.1999.tb00036.x

Bayram, N., & Bilgel, N. (2008). The prevalence and socio-demographic correlations of depression, anxiety, and stress among a group of university students. *Social*  *Psychology and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *43*(8), 667-672. doi:10.1007/s00127.008-0345-x

- Beck, A. T., Steer, A., & Brown, G. R. (1996). BDI-II: Beck Depression Inventory manual (2nded.). San Antonio: Psychological Corporation. Retrieved from https://www.bmc.org/sites/default/files/For_Medical_Professionals/Pediatric_Res ources/Pediatrics_MA_Center_for_Sudden_Infant_Death_Syndrome_SIDS_/B eck-Depression-Inventory-BDI.pdf
- Beiter, R., Nash, R., McCrady, M., Rhoades, D., Linscomb, D., Clarahan, M., & Sammut, S. (2015). The prevalence and correlates of depression, anxiety, and stress in a sample of college students. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *173*, 90-96. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2014.10.054
- Bennett, K., & Shepherd, J. M. (2013). Depression in Australian women: The varied roles of spirituality and social support. *Health Psychology*, *18*(3), 429-438.
  doi:10.1177/1359105312443400
- Bergdahl, J., & Bergdahl, M. (2002). Perceived stress in adults: Prevalence and association of depression, anxiety and medication in Swedish population. *Stress* and Health, 18(5), 235-241. doi:10.1002/smi.946
- Besser, A., & Zeigler-Hill, V. (2014). Positive personality features and stress among firstyear university students: Implications for psychological distress, functional impairment, and self-esteem. *Self and Identity*, *13*(1), 24-44. doi:10.1080.15298868.2012.736690

Bewick, B., Koutsopoulou, G., Miles, J., Slaa, E., & Barkham, M. (2010). Changes in

undergraduate students' psychological well-being as they progress through university. *Studies in Higher Education*, *35*(6), 633-645. doi:10.1080/03075070903216643

- Bilgel, N., & Bayram, N. (2014). The epidemiology of depression, anxiety, stress, and anger in Turkish high school students. *British Journal of Education Society & Behavioural Science*, 4(9), 1153-1170. doi:10.9734/BJESBS/2014/8733
- Bista, B., Bhattrai, B., & Khadka, N. (2017). Stress and coping mechanisms among nursing students in Kathmandu. *Journal of Manmohan Memorial Institute of Health Sciences*, 3(1), 16-23. doi:10.3126/jmmihs.v3i1.19175
- Blomberg, K., Bisholt, B., Kullen-Engstrom, A., & Ohlsson, U. (2014). Swedish nursing students' experience of stress during clinical practice in relation to clinical setting characteristics and the organisation of the clinical education. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 23(15-16), 2264-2271. doi:10.1111/jocn.12506
- Borgen, F. H., & Seling, M. J. (1978). Uses of discriminant analysis following
   MANOVA: Multivariate statistics for multivariate purposes. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 63(6), 689-697. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.63.6.689
- Brandy, J. M., Penckofer, S., Solari-Twadell, P. A., & Velsor-Friedrich, B. (2015).
  Factors predictive of depression in first-year college students. *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing & Mental Health Services*, *53*(2), 38-44.
  doi:10.3928/02793695-20150126-03
- Brenner, A., Zimmerman, M., Bauermeister, J., & Caldwell, C. (2013). Neighborhood context and perceptions of stress over time: An ecological model of neighborhood

stressors and intrapersonal and interpersonal resources. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, *51*(3-4), 544-556. doi:10.1007/s10464-013-9571-9

- Brown, K., Anderson-Johnson, P., & McPherson, A. N. (2016). Academic-related stress among graduate students in a Jamaican school of nursing. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 20(), 117-124. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2016.08.004
- Budge, S. L., Adelson, J. L., & Howard, K. A. (2013). Anxiety and depression in transgender individuals: The roles of transition status, loss, social support, and coping. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *81*(3), 545-557. doi:10.1037/a0031774
- Bukhari, S. R., & Afzal, F. (2017). Perceived social support predicts psychological problems among university student. *The International Journal of Indian Psychology*, 4(2), 18-27. Retrieved from http://www.ijip.in/Archive/v4i2/18.01.082.20170402.pdf
- Bukhari, S. R., & Khanam, S. J. (2015). Prevalence of depression in university students belonging to different socio-economic status. *Journal of Postgraduate Medical Institution, 29*(3), 156-159. Retrieved from https://www.jpmi.org.pk/index.php/jpmi/article/view/1716/1626
- Cambridge University Press. (2018). Cambridge Dictionary. *Cope*. Retrieved from https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/cope
- Canty-Mitchell, J., & Zimet, G. D. (2000). Psychometric properties of the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support in urban adolescents.
   *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 28(3), 391-400. doi:10.1023/A:

- Carver, C. S. (1997). You want to measure coping but your protocol's too long: Consider the Brief COPE. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 4(1), 92-100. doi:10.1207/s15327558ijbm0401_6
- Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. F. (2005). Engagement, disengagement, coping, and catastrophe. In A. J. Elliot & C. S. Dweck (Eds.), *Handbook of competence and motivation* (pp. 527-547). New York, NY: Guilford Publications.
- Carver, C. S., Scheier, M. F., & Weintraub, J. K. (1989). Assessing coping strategies: A theoretically based approach. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 56(2), 267-283. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.56.2.267
- Chan, C. K. L., So, W. K. W., & Fong, D. Y. T. (2009). Hong Kong baccalaureate nursing students' stress and their coping strategies in clinical practice. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 25(5), 307-313. doi:10.1016/j.pronurs.2009.01.018
- Chang, E. M., Bidewell, J. W., Huntington, A. D., Daly, J., Johnson, A., Wilson, H., ...
  & Lambert, C. E. (2007). A survey of role stress, coping and health in Australian and New Zealand hospital nurses. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 44(8), 1354-1362. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2006.06.003
- Chang, K., & Taylor, J. (2013). Do your employees use the right stress coping strategies? International Journal of Commerce and Strategy, 5(2), 99-116. Retrieved from http://usir.salford.ac.uk/31164/1/IJCS.pdf
- Chatterjee, S., Saha, I., Mukhopadhyay, S., Misra, R., Chakroborty, A., & Bhattacharya,A. (2014). Depression among nursing students in an Indian government college.

British Journal of Nursing, 23(6), 316-320. doi:10.12968/bjon.2014.23.6.316

- Cherkil, S., Gardens, S. J., & Soman, D. K. (2013). Coping styles and its association with sources of stress in undergraduate medical students. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*, 35(4), 389-393. doi:10.4103/0253-7176.122235
- Chernomas, W. M., & Shapiro, C. (2013). Stress, depression, and anxiety among undergraduate nursing students. *International Journal of Nursing Education Scholarship*, 10(1), 255-266. doi:10.1515/ijnes.2012.0032
- Cheung, T., Wong, S. Y., Wong, K. Y., Law, L. Y., Ng, K., Tong, M. K., . . . Yip, P. S.
  F. (2016). Depression, anxiety, and symptoms of stress among baccalaureate nursing students in Hong Kong: A cross-sectional study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *13*(8), 779-804.
  doi:10.3390/ijerph13080779
- Chrousos, G. P., Loriaux, D. L., & Gold, P. W. (1988). *Mechanics of physical and emotional stress*. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag.
- Civitci, A. (2015). Perceived stress and life satisfaction in college students: Belonging and extracurricular participation as moderators. *Procedia- Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 205, 271-281. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.09.077
- Clara, I. P., Cox, B. J., Enns, M. W., Murray, L. T., & Torgrudc, L. J. (2003).
   Confirmatory factor analysis of the multidimensional scale of perceived social support in clinically distressed and student samples. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, *81*(3), 265-270. doi:10.1207/S15327752JPA8103_09

Clark, C. M. (2008). The dance of incivility in nursing education as described by nursing

faculty and students. *Advances in Nursing Science*, *31*(4), e37-e54. doi:10.1097/01.ANS.000341419.96338.a3

- Clark, C. M., Nguyen, D. T., & Barbosa-Leiker, C. (2014). Student perceptions of stress, coping, relationships, and academic civility: A longitudinal study. *Nurse Educator*, 39(4), 170-174. doi:10.1097/NNE/000000000000049
- Cobb, S. (1976). Social support as a moderator of life stress. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *38*(5), 300-314. doi:10.1097/00006842-197609000-00003
- Cohen, J. (1969). Statistical power analysis for the Behavioural sciences. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Cohen, S. (1992). Stress, social support, and disorder. In H. O. F. Veiel & U. Baumann (Eds.). *The meaning and measurement of social support* (pp. 109-124). New York, NY: Hemisphere Press.
- Cohen, S. (2004). Social relationships and health. *American Psychologist*, *59*(8), 676-684. Retrieved from https://web-a-ebscohostcom.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=2&sid=574a143ccf08-4132-a5fd-4e3d630ba5b4%40sessionmgr4010
- Cohen, F., & Lazarus, R. S. (1973) Active coping processes, coping dispositions, and recovery from surgery. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *35*, 375-389. doi:10.1097/00006842-197309000-00002
- Cohen, S., & McKay, G. (1984). Social support, stress, and the buffering hypothesis: A theoretical analysis. In A. Baum, S. E., Taylor, & J. E., Singer (Eds.). *Handbook* of Psychology and Health (pp. 253-267). Hillsdale, NJ. Retrieved from

http://psy.cmu.edu/~scohen/buffer84.pdf

- Cohen, S., & Wills, T. A. (1985). Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *98*(2), 310-357. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.98.2.310
- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A global measure of perceived stress. Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 24(4), 385-396. doi:10.2307/2136404
- Collins, M. E., & Mowbray, C. (2005). Higher education and psychiatric disabilities: National survey of campus disability services. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 75(2), 61-75. doi:10.1037/0002-9432.75.2.304
- Cook, L. J. (2007). Striving to help college students with mental health issues. Journal of Psychosocial Nursing, 45(4), 40-44. Retrieved from https://eds-a-ebscohostcom.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=3b7c688a-7326-4c81-bcae-4dfea76d009f%40sessionmgr4010
- Cox, T. (1978). Stress. Basingstoke: Macmillan Education.
- Crawford, J. R., Garthwaite, P. H., Lawrie, C. J., Henry, J. D., MacDonald, M. A.,
  Sutherland, J., & Sinha, P. (2009). A convenient method of obtaining percentile norms and accompanying interval estimates for self-report mood scales (DASS, DASS-21, HADS, PANAS, and sAD). *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *48*(2), 163-180. doi:10.1348/014466508X377757
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). *Research design: Qualitative, qualitative, and mixed methods approaches* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Dahlin, M. E., & Runeson, B. (2007). Burnout and psychiatric morbidity among medical students entering clinical training: A three-year prospective questionnaire and

interview-based study. *BMC Medical Education*, 7(1). doi:10.1186/1472-6920-7-6

Dalir, Z., & Mazloum, S. R. (2012). Relationship between mental health and interest in field of study in nursing and midwifery students. *Life Science Journal*, 9(3), Retrieved from

http://www.lifesciencesite.com/lsj/life0903/277_10666life0903_1916_1921.pdf

- Deary, I. J., Watson, R., & Hogson, R. (2003). A longitudinal cohort study of burnout and attrition in nursing students. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 43(1), 78-81. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2648.2003.02674
- Deasy, C., Coughlan, B., Pironom, J., Jourdan, D., & Mannix-McNamara, P. (2014).
  Psychological distress and coping amongst higher education students: A mixed method enquiry. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(12), e115193. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0115193
- Dhillon, R., & Arora, M. (2017). Perceived stress, self-efficacy, coping strategies and hardiness as predictors of depression. *Journal of Psychosocial Research*, *12*(2), 325-333. Retrieved from https://eds-b-ebscohost com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=12&sid=93325299-2d41-42e6-a9ce-0f5c0cf83872%40pdc-v-sessmgr02
- Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorder. (2013). (5th ed.). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press.
- Doulatabad, S. N., Mohamadhosaini, S., Shirazi, H. R. G., & Mohebbi, Z. (2015).
   Nursing students in Iran identifying the clinical environment stressors.
   *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, 21(3), 297-302. doi:10.1111/ijn.12276

- Dumont, M., & Provost, M. A. (1999). Resilience in adolescents: Protective role of social support, coping strategies, self-esteem, and social activities on experience of stress and depression. *Journal of Youth and Adolescents*, *28*(3), 343-363.
  Retrieved from https://search-proquest-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/docview/204651242?accountid=14872
- Dunbar, H., & Carter, B. (2017). A sense of belonging: The importance of fostering student nurses' affective bonds. *Journal of Child Health Care*, 2(4), 367-369. doi:10.1177/137493517739977
- Dunkel-Schetter, C., & Folkman, S., & Lazarus, R. S. (1987). Correlates of social support recipient. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 53(1), 71-80. Retrieved from https://eds-a-ebscohostcom.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=25c0d69ceabd-40fa-9e69-467f3ec1e829%40sessionmgr4009
- Eaton, P. M., Davis, B. L., Hammond, P. V., Condon, E. H., & McGee, Z. T. (2011).
   Coping strategies of family members of hospitalized psychiatric patients. *Nursing Research and Practice*. doi:10.1155/2011/392705
- Eckberg, N., Pidgeon, A. M., & Magyar, H. (2017). Examining the psychosocial and academic factors predicting depression and anxiety symptomology across first year and later year university students. *European Scientific Journal*, *13*(17), 1-16. doi:10.19044/esj.2017.v13n17p1
- Eisenbarth, C. A., Champeau, D. A., & Donatelle, R. J. (2013). Relationship of appraised stress, coping strategies, and negative affect among college students. *International*

Journal of Psychology and Behavioral Sciences, 3(5), 131-138.

doi:10.5923/j.ijphs.20130305.03

- Ekback, M., Benzein, E., Lindberg, M., & Arestedt, K. (2013). The Swedish version of the multidimensional scale of perceived social support (MSPSS): A psychometric evaluation study in women with hirsutism and nursing students. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 11(1), 168-176. doi:10.1186/1477-7525-11
- Ellawela, Y. G., & Foneska, P. (2011). Psychological distress, associated factors and coping strategies among female student nurses in the Nurses' Training School Galle. *Journal of the College of Community Physicians of Sri Lanka*, *16*(1), 23-29. Retrieved from

https://jccpsl.sljol.info/article/10.4038/jccpsl.v16i1.3868/galley/3131/download/

- Emadpoor, L., Lavasani, M. G., & Shahcheraghi, S. M. (2015). Relationship between social support and psychological well-being among students based on mediating role of academic motivation. *International Journal of Mental Health & Addiction*, *14*(3), 284-290. doi:10.1007/s11469-015-9608-4
- Endler, N. S., & Parker, J. D. A. (1990). Multidimensional assessment of coping: A critical evaluation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *58*(5), 844-854. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.58.5.844
- Erdfelder, E., Faul, F., & Buchner, A. (1996). GPower: A general power analysis program. *Behaviour Research Methods, Instruments, & Computer*, 28(1), 1-11. doi:10.3758/BF03203630

Eswi, A. S., & Radi, S., & Youssri, H. (2013). Stress/stressors as perceived by

baccalaureate Saudi nursing students. *Middle-East Journal of Scientific Research*, 14(2), 193-202. doi:10.5829.idosi.mejsr.2013.14.2.734

- Ferster, C. B. (1973). A functional analysis of depression. American Psychologist, 28(10), 857-870. doi:10.1037/h0035605
- Field, A. (2014). *Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Folkman, S. (1984). Personal control and stress and coping processes. A theoretical analysis. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 21(4), 839-852.
  doi:10.1037/0022-3514.46.4.839
- Folkman, S., & Lazarus, R. S. (1980). An analysis of coping in a middle-aged community sample. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *21*(3), 219-239. doi:10.2307/2136617
- Folkman, S., & Lazarus, R. S. (1985). If it changes it must be a process: Study of emotion and coping during three stages of a college examination. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 48(1), 150-170. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.48.1.150
- Folkman, S., & Lazarus, R. S. (1988). Coping as a mediation of emotion. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 54(3), 466-475. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.54.3.466
- Folkman, S., Lazarus, R. S., Dunkel-Schetter, C., DeLongis, A., & Gruen, R. J. (1986).
  Dynamics of a stressful encounter: Cognitive appraisal, coping, and encounter outcomes. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *50*(5), 992-1003. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.50.5.992

- Fornes-Vives, J., Garcia-Banda, G., Frias-Navarro, D., & Rosales-Viladrich, G. (2016).
   Coping, stress, and personality in Spanish nursing students: A longitudinal study.
   *Nurse Education Today*, *36*, 318-323. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2015.08.011
- Frankfort-Nachmias, C., Nachmias, D., & DeWaard, J. (2013). Research methods in the social sciences (8th ed.). New York, NY: Worth Publishers.
- Gallagher, R. P. (2008). *National survey of counseling center directors*. Retrieved from http://d-

scholarship.pitt.edu/28169/1/2008_National_Survey_of_Counseling_Center_Dire ctors.pdf

- Gibbon, C. (2010). Stress, coping and burn-out in nursing students. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 47(10), 1299-1309. doi: 10.1016/j-ijnurstu.2010.02.015
- Gibbons, C., Dempster, M., & Moutray, M. (2009). Surveying nursing students on their sources of stress: A validation study. *Nurse Education Today*, *29*(8), 867-872. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2009.04.008
- Giesbrecht, G. F., Poole, J. C., Letourneau, N., Campbell, T., & Kaplan, B. J. (2013). The buffering effect of social support on hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis function during pregnancy. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 75(9), 856-862. doi:10.1097/PSY000000000000004
- Goebert, D. (2009). Social support, mental health, minorities and acculturative stress. In Loue, S., & Sajatovic, M. (Eds.). *Determinants of minority mental health and wellness*. New York, NY: Springer.

Goff, A. (2011). Stressors, academic performance, and learned resourcefulness in

baccalaureate nursing students. *International Journal of Nursing Education Scholarship*, 8(1). doi:10.2202/1548-923X.2114

- Goldberg, D., & William, P. (1988). *A user's guide to the General Health Questionnaire*. Windsor, ON: NFER-Nelson.
- Goodnite, P. M. (2014). Stress: A concept analysis. *Nursing Forum*, 49(1), 71-74. doi:10.1111/nuf.12044
- Graham, M. M., Lindo, J., Bryan, V. D., & Weaver, S. (2016). Factors associated with stress among second year student nurses during clinical training in Jamaica. *Journal of Professional Nurs7ing*, *32*(5), 383-391.

doi:10.1016/j.profnurs.2016.01.004

- Graungaard, A. H., Anderson, J. S., & Skov, L. (2011). When resources get sparse: A longitudinal, qualitative study of emotions, coping and resource-creation when parenting a young child with severe disabilities. *Health*, 15(2), 115-136. doi:10.1177/1363459309360794
- Gray, J. (1995). The contents of consciousness: A neurological conjecture. *Behavioral* and Brain Sciences, 18(4), 659-722. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X00040395
- Green, S. B., & Salkind, N. J. (2014). Using SPSS for windows and mackintosh: Analyzing and understanding data (ed. 7th). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Grobecker, P. A. (2016). A sense of belonging and perceived stress among baccalaureate nursing students in clinical placements. *Nurse Education*, 36, 178-183. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2015.09.015

Groomes, D. A. G., & Leahy, M. J. (2002). The relationships among the stress appraisal
process, coping disposition, and level of acceptance of disability. *Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin*, *46*(1), 15-22.doi:10.1177/00343552020460010101

- Grove, S. K., Burns, N., & Gray, J. R. (2013). The practice of nursing research: Appraisal, synthesis, and generation of evidence (7th ed.). St. Louis, MO: Elsevier Saunders.
- Guan, N. C., Sulaiman, A. R., Seng, L. H., Anne, A. Y. H., Wahab, S., & Pillai, S. K.
  (2013). Factorial validity and reliability of the Tamil version of Multidimensional Scale for Perceived Social Support among a group of participants in University Malaya Medical Centre, Malaysia. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*, 35(4), 385-388. doi:10.4103/0253-7176.122234
- Gurung, R. A. R. (2006). *Health psychology: A cultural approach*. Belmont, CA: Thomson Wadsworth.
- Gustems-Carnicer, J., & Calderon, C. (2013). Coping strategies and psychological wellbeing among teacher education students. *European Journal of Psychological Education*, 28 (4), 1127-1140. doi:10.1007/s10212-012-0158
- Hagerty, B. M. K., Lynch-Saver, J., Patusky, K. L., & Bouwsema, M. (1993). An emerging theory of human relatedness. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 25(4), 291-296. Retrieved from https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/71601/j.1547-5069.1993.tb00262.x.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Hagerty, B. M., & William, R. A. (1999). The effects of sense of belonging, social support, conflict, and loneliness on depression. *Nursing Research*, 48(4), 215-219.

doi: 0.1097/00006199-199907000-00004

- Hamaideh, S. H. (2015). Stressors and reactions to stressors among university students.
   *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, *57*(1), 69-80.
   doi:10.1177/0020764010348442
- Hamaideh, S. H., Al-Omari, H., & Al-Modallal, H. (2017). Nursing students' perceived stress and coping behaviors in clinical training in Saudi Arabia. *Journal of Mental Health*, 26(3), 197-203. doi:10.3109/09638237.2016.1139067
- Hamaideh, S. H., & Ammouri, A. (2011). Comparing Jordanian nurses' job stressors in stressful and non-stressful clinical areas. *Contemporary Nurse*, *37*(2), 173-87. doi:10.5172/conu.2011.37.2.173
- Hardan-Khalil, K., & Mayo, A. M. (2015). Psychometric properties of the multidimensional scale of perceived social support. *Clinical Nurse Specialist: The Journal for Advanced Nursing Practice*, 29(5), 258-26.

doi:10.1097/NUR.00000000000148

- Harper, D. (2015). *Etymology Dictionary*. Retrieved from www.etymonline.com/index.php?term:depression
- Hawkley, L. C., & Cacioppo, J. T. (2010). Loneliness matters: A theoretical and empirical review of consequences and mechanisms. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 40(2), 218-227. doi:10.1007/s12160-010-9210-8
- Hayward, R. (2005). Historical keywords: Stress. *The Lancet, 365*(9476), 2001. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736 (05)
- He, F., Guan, H., Kong, Y., Cao, R., & Peng, J. (2014). Some individual differences

influencing the propensity to happiness: Insights from behavioral economics. *Social Indicators Research*, *119*(2), 897-908. doi:10.1007/s11205-013-0519-0

- Heerde, J. A., & Hemphill, S. A. (2018). Examination of association between informal help-seeking behavior, social support, and adolescent psychological outcome: A meta-analysis. *Developmental Review*, 47, 44-62. doi:10.1016/j.dr.2017.10.001
- Henry, J. D., & Crawford, J. R. (2005). The short-form version of depression anxiety stress scales (DASS-21): Construct validity and normative data in a large nonclinical sample. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 44(2), 227-239. doi:10.1348/014466505X29657
- Hirsch, C. D., Barlem, E. L. D., Tomaschewski-Barlem, J. G., Lunardi, V. L., & de Oliveira, A. C. C. (2015). Predictors of stress and coping strategies adopted by nursing students. *Acta Paul Enferm*, 28(3), 224-229. doi:10.1590/1982-0194201500038
- Hollister, B., Scalora, M., Hoff, S., & Marquez, A. (2014). Exposure to preincident behavior and reporting in college students. *Journal of Threat Assessment and Management*, 1(2), 129-143. doi:10.1037/tam0000015
- Honda, K., Levett-Jones, T., Stone, T., & Maguire, J. (2016). Japanese nursing students' sense of belonging: A story of Uchi (insider) and Soto (outsider). *Nurse Education in Practice*, 20, 85-92. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2016.07.004
- Horgan, A., Sweeney, J., Behan, L., & McCarthy, G. (2016). Depressive symptoms, college adjustments and peer support among undergraduate nursing and midwifery students. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72(12), 3081-3092.

doi:10.1111/jan.13074

- Houser, J. (2015). *Nursing research: Reading, using, and creating evidence* (3rd ed.). Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Howell, D. C. (2004). *Fundamental Statistics for the behavioral sciences* (5th ed.). Belmont, CA; Brooks-Cole.
- Hughes, B. M. (2005). Study, examination, and stress: Blood pressure assessments in college students. *Educational Review*, *57*(1), 21-36.
  doi:10.1080/0013191042000274169
- Ibrahim, M. B., & Abdelreheem, M. H. (2015). Prevalence of depression among medical and pharmaceutical students in Alexandria University. *Alexandria Journal of Medicine*, 51(2), 167-173. doi:10.1016/j.ajme.2014.06.002
- Jdaitawi, M. (2015). Social connectedness, academic, non-academic behaviors related to self-regulating among university students in Saudi Arabia. *International Education Studies*, 8(2), 84-100. doi:10.5539/ies.v8n2p84
- Jibeen, T. (2015). Perceived social support and mental health problem among Pakistani students. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 52(8), 1004-1008. doi:10.1007/s/0597-015-9943-8
- Jimenez, C., Navia-Osorio, P. M., & Diaz, C. V. (2010). Stress and health in novice and experienced nursing students. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 66(2), 442-455. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2009.05183.x
- Jun, W. H., & Lee, G. (2017). Comparing anger, anger expression, life stress and social support between Korean female nursing and general university students. *Journal*

of Advanced Nursing, 73(), 2914-2922. doi:10.1111/jan.13354

- Keil, R. M. K. (2004). Coping and stress: A conceptual analysis. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 45(6), 659-665. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2648.2003.02955.x
- Kessler, R. C., & Bromet, E. J. (2013). The epidemiology of depression across cultures. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 34, 119-138. doi:10.1146/annurev-pubhealth-031912-114409

Khater, W., Akhu-Zaheya, L., & Shaban, I. (2014). Sources of stress and coping behaviors in clinical practice among baccalaureate nursing students. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences*, 4(6), 194-202. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Insaf_Shaban/publication/285406471_Sourc es_of_Stress_and_Coping_Behaviours_in_Clinical_Practice_among_Baccalaurea te Nursing Students/links/565df04308ae1ef9298394f4.pdf

- Khodabakhsh, M. R., & Besharat, M. A. (2011). Mediation effect of narcissism on the relationship between empathy and quality of interpersonal relationship. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 30, 902-906. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.10.175
- Klainin-Yobas, P., Keawkerd, O., Pumpuang, W., Thunyadee, C., Thanoi., W., & He, H.
  (2014). The meditating effects of coping on stress and health relationships among nursing students: A structured equation modelling approach. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70(6), 1287-1298. doi:10.1111/jan.12283
- Kohut, H. (1984). *How does analysis cure?* New York, NY: International Universities Press.

Kong, F., Ding, K., & Zhao, J. (2015). The relationships among gratitude, self-esteem,

social support and life satisfaction among undergraduate students. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *16*(2), 477-489. doi:10.1007/s10902-014-9519-2

- Koolhaas, J. M., Bartolomucci, A., Buwalda, B., Boer, S. F., Flugge, G., Korte, S. M., . . . & Fuchs, E. (2011). Stress revisited: A critical evaluation of the stress concept. *Neuroscience and Behavioral Reviews*, *35*(5), 1291-1301. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011/02.003
- Kugbey, N., Osei-Boadi, S., & Atefoe, E. A. (2015). The influence of social support on the levels of depression, anxiety and stress among students in Ghana. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 6(25). Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1078530.pdf
- Kunwar, D., Risal, A., & Koirala, S. (2016). Study of depression, anxiety, and stress among the medical students in two medical colleges of Nepal. *Kathmandu* University Medical Journal, 53(1), 22-26. Retrieved from http://www.kumj.com.np/issue/53/22-26.pdf
- Labrague, L. J. (2013). Stress, stressors, and stress responses of student nurses in a government nursing school. *Health Science Journal*, 7(4), 424-435. Retrieved from http://www.hsj.gr/medicine/stress-stressors-and-stress-responses-of-student-nurses-in-a-government-nursing-school.pdf

Labrague, L. J., McEnroe-Petitte, D. M., Gloe, D., Thomas, L., Papathanasiou, I. V., & Tsaras, K. (2017). A literature review on stress and coping strategies in nursing students. *Journal of Mental Health*, *26*(5), 471-480.
doi:10.1080/09638237.2016.1244721

- Laux, D., Luse, A., & Mennecke, B. E. (2016). Collaboration, connectedness, and community: An examination of factors influencing student persistence in vertical communities. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *57*, 452-463. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2015.12.046
- Lazarus, R. S. (1966). *Psychological stress and the coping process*. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Lazarus, R. S. (1993a). From psychological stress to the emotions: A history of changing outlooks. *Annual Reviews of Psychology*, 44(1), 1-21.
  doi:10.1146/annurev.ps.44.020193.000245
- Lazarus, R. S. (1993b). Coping theory and research: Past, present, and future. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 55(3), 234-247. doi: 10.1097/00006842-1993050000-00002
- Lazarus, R. S. (1998). Fifty years of the research and theory of R.S Lazarus: An analysis of historical and perennial issues. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc., Publishers.
- Lazarus, R. S. (1999). *Stress and emotion: A new synthesis*. New York, NY: Springer Publishing Company, Inc.
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). *Stress, appraisal, and coping*. New York, NY: Springer.
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1986). Cognitive theories of stress and the issue of circularity. In M. H. Appley & R. Trumbell (Eds.), *Dynamics of stress: Physiological, psychological, and social perspectives* (pp. 63-80). New York,

NY: Plenum Press.

- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1987). Transactional theory and research on emotions and coping. *European Journal of Personality*, 1(3), 141-169.
  doi:10.1002/per.2410010304
- Laerd Statistics (2015). One-way MANOVA using SPSS Statistics. Statistical tutorials and software guides. Retrieved from https://statistics.laerd.com/
- Lee, R. M., & Davis, C. (2000). Cultural orientation, past multicultural experience, and a sense of belonging on campus for Asian American college students. *Journal of College Student Development*, 41(1), 110–115. Retrieved from https://searchproquest-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/docview/195173537?accountid=14872
- Lee, R. M., & Keough, K. A., & Sexton, J. D. (2002). Social connectedness, social appraisal, and perceived stress in college women and men. *Journal of Counseling* & Development, 80(3), 355-361. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6678.2002.tb00200.x
- Lee, R. M., & Robbins, S. B. (1995). Measuring belongingness: The social connectedness and the social assurance scales. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 42(2), 232-241. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.42.2.232
- Lee, R. M., & Robbins, S. B. (1998). The relationship between social connectedness and anxiety, self-esteem, and social identity. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 45(3), 338-345. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.45.3.338
- Lee, R. M., & Robbins, S. B. (2000). Understanding social connectedness in college women and men. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 78(40), 484-491. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.2000.tb01932.xT

Lee, R. M., Dean, B. L., & Jung, K. (2008). Social connectedness, extraversion, and subjective well-being: Testing a mediation model. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 45(5), 414-419. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2008.05.017

Lee, R. M., Draper, M., & Lee, S. (2001). Social connectedness, dysfunctional interpersonal behaviors, and psychological distress: Testing a mediator model. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 48(3), 310-318. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.48.3.310

- Lei, X., Xiao, L., Liu, Y., & Li, Y. (2016). Prevalence of depression among Chinese university students: A meta-analysis. *PLOS One*, *11*(4). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0153454
- Levett-Jones, T., Lathlean, J., McMillan, M., & Higgins, I. (2007). Belongingness: A critique of the concept and implications for nursing educators. *Nurse Education Today*, 27(3), 210-218. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2006.05.001

Levine, S. (2005). Developmental determinants of sensitivity and resistant to stress. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *30*(10), 939-946. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2005.03.013

- Lin, N. (1986). Conceptualizing social support. In N. Lin, A. Dean, & W. M. Ensel(Eds.). Social support, life events, and depression (pp. 17-30). Orlando, FL:Academic
- Lo, R. (2002). A longitudinal study of perceived levels of stress, coping, and self-esteem of undergraduate nursing students: An Australian case study. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *39*(2), 119-126. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2648.2000.02251.x

- Lovell, G. P., Nash, K., Sharman, R., & Lane, B. R. (2015). A cross-sectional investigation of depressive, anxiety, and stress symptoms and health-behavior participation in Australian university students. *Nursing and Health Sciences*, *17*(1), 134-142. doi:10.1111/nhs.12147
- Lovibond, S. H., & Lovibond, P. F. (1995). *Manual for depression anxiety stress scales*. (2nd ed.). Sydney: Psychology Foundation.
- Luitel, N. P., Jordans, M. J. D., Adhikari, A., Upadhaya, N., Hanlon, C., Lund, C., & Komproe, I. H. (2015). Mental health care in Nepal: Current situation and challenges for development of a district mental health care plan. *Conflict and Health*, *9*(3). doi:10.1186/s13031-014-0030-5
- Lykes, V. A., & Kemmelmeier, M. (2013). What predicts loneliness? Cultural difference between individualistic and collectivistic societies in Europe. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 45, 468-490. doi:10.1177/0022022113509881
- Mackay, C., & Pakenham, K. I. (2012). A stress and coping model of adjustment to caring for an adult with mental illness. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 48(4), 450-462. doi:10.1007/S10597-011-9435-4

MacKean, G. (2011). Mental Health and Well-Being in Postsecondary Education Settings: A Literature and Environmental Scan to Support Planning and Action in Canada. CACUSS Pre-Conference Workshop: Student Mental Health: A Call to Action, Toronto. Retrieved from http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.737.6978&rep=rep1&t

ype=pdf

- Mahat, G. (1996). Stress and coping: First-year Nepalese nursing students in clinical settings. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 35(4), 163-169. doi:10.3928/0148-4834-19960401-07
- Mahmoud, J. S. R., Staten, R. T., Hall, L. A., & Lennie, T. A. (2012). The relationship among young adult college students' depression, anxiety, stress, demographics, life satisfaction, and coping styles. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, *33*(3), 149-156. doi:10.3109/01612840.2011.632708
- Mahmoud, J. S. R., Staten, R. T., Lennie, T. A., & Hall, L. A. (2015). The relationships of coping, negative thinking, life satisfaction, social support, and selected demographics with anxiety of young adult college students. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Nursing*, 28(2), 97-108. doi:10.1111/jcap.12109
- Mandal, G. N., Lama, S., & Parajuli, P. (2016). Assessment of stress and coping strategies among medical and nursing student at BPKIHS, Nepal. *International Journal of Health Sciences & Research*, 6(10), 196-204. Retrieved from http://www.ijhsr.org/IJHSR Vol.6 Issue.10 Oct2016/31.pdf
- Manju. (2017). Psychological well-being in relation to social support and optimism: A review. *Indian Journal of Health and Well-being*. 8(8), 832-835. Retrieved from https://eds-b-ebscohost-

com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=bba3611bc86e-463b-be11-7b401a39f543%40sessionmgr101

Manpreet, K., & Maheshwari, S. K. (2015). Depression, anxiety, and stress among postgraduate nursing students. *International Journal of Therapeutic Applications*,

21, 12-18. Retrieved from

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/309242524_Depression_anxiety_and_st ress_among_postgraduate_nursing_students?enrichId=rgreq-96f7e280d4b82e0b66d8a8198cb53b5d-XXX&enrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzMwOTI0MjUyNDtBUzo0MTg3OTgx NTE3MTY4NjRAMTQ3Njg2MDY2ODU1Nw%3D%3D&el=1_x_2&_esc=publ icationCoverPdf

- Martinez-Mesa, J., Gonzalez-Chica, D. A., Duquia, R. P., Bonamigo, R. R., & Bastos, J.
  L. (2016). Sampling: How to select participant in my research study? *Anais Brasileiros De Dematologia*, *91*(3), 326-330. doi:10.1590/abd1806-481.20165254
- Marzo, R. R., Rajamanickan, T., Subramaniam, P., Somasundaram, M., Ramamoorthy,
  S., Lin, S. T. S., ... Hisham, S. A. B. N. (2016). Study of association between
  psychological stress and depression among undergraduate medical students from
  Asia Metropolitan (Amu) in Johor Bahru. *Texla International Journal of Academic Research*, 3(1), 41-51. doi:10.21522/TIJAR.2014.03.01
- Maslow, A. H. (1970). Motivation and personality. New York, NY: Harper & Row.
- Massee, R. (2000). Qualitative and quantitative analyses of psychological distress:
   Methodological complementarity and ontological incommensurability.
   *Qualitative Health Research*, *10* (3), 411-423. doi:10.1177/104973200129118426
- Maulik, P. K., Eaton, W. W., & Bradshaw, C. P. (2011). The effect of social networks and social support on mental health service use following a life event among the Baltimore epidemiologic catchment area cohort. *Journal of Behavioral Health*

Services & Research, 38(1), 29-50. doi:10.1007/s11414-009-9205-2

- McCrae, R. R. (1984). Situational determinants of coping responses: Loss, threat, and challenge. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 46(4), 919-928. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.46.4.919
- McEwen, M., & Wills, E. M. (2014). *Theoretical basis for nursing* (4th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott William & Wilkins.
- Merriam-Webster. (2018). Dictionary. Retrieved from http://www.merriam-webster.com
- Meyers, L. S., Gamst, G., & Guarino, A. J. (2006). *Applied multivariate research: Design & interpretation*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Mirowsky, J., & Ross, C. E. (2002). Measurement for a human science. *Journal of Health* and Social Behavior, 43(2), 152-170. doi:10.2307/3090194
- Mistler, B. J., Reetz, D. R., Krylowicz, B., & Barr, V. (2012). The association for university and college counseling center directors annual survey. Retrieved from http://files.cmcglobal.com/Monograph_2012_AUCCCD_Public.pdf
- Mitchell, T. R. (1985). An evaluation of the validity of correlational research conducted in organizations. *Academy of Management Review*, 10(2), 192-205. doi:10.5465/amr/1985.4277939
- Moal, M. L. (2007). Historical approach and evolution of the stress concept: A personal account. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *32*, S3-S9.
   doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2007.03.019
- Moen, P. (1998). Women's roles and health: A life-course approach. In K. Orth-GomerM. Chesney (Eds.), *Women, stress, and heart disease* (pp. 111-132). Mahwah, NJ:

Erlbaum.

- Moffat, K. J., McConnachie, A., Ross, S., & Morrison, J. M. (2004). First year medical student stress and coping in a problem-based learning medical curriculum.
   *Medical Education*, 38(5), 482-491. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2929.2004.01814.x
- Mohammad, A. H., Al-Sadat, N., Loh, S. Y., & Chinna, K. (2014). Validity and reliability of the Hausa version of Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support Index. *Iranian Red Crescent Medical Journal*, *17*(2), e18776. doi:10.5812/ircmj.18776
- Monzani, D., Steca, P., Greco, A., D'Addario, M., Cappelletti, E., & Pancani, L. (2015).
  The situational version of the Brief COPE: Dimensionality and relationships with goal-related variables. *Europe's Journal of Psychology*, *11*(2), 295-310.
  doi:10.5964/ejopv11i2.935
- Morimoto, H., Furuta, N., Kono, M., & Kabeya, M. (2017). Stress-buffering effect of coping strategies on interrole conflict among family caregivers of people with dementia. *Clinical Gerontology*, 23, 1-13. doi:10.1080/073115.2017.1368764
- Moscaritolo, L. M. (2009). Interventional strategies to decrease nursing student anxiety in the clinical learning environment. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 48(1), 17-23. doi:10.3928/01484834-20090101-08
- Mojaverian, T., & Kim, H. S. (2013). Interpreting a helping hand: Cultural variation in the effectiveness of solicited and unsolicited social support. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 39, 88-99. doi:10.1177/0146167212465319

Muller, L., & Spitz, E. (2003). Multidimensional assessment of coping: Validation of the

Brief COPE among French population. *L'Encephale*, *29*(6), 507-518. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15029085?dopt=Abstract

- Munro, B. H. (2005). *Statistical methods for health care research* (5th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.
- Nausheen, B., Gidron, Y., Peveler, R., & Moss-Morris, R. (2009). Social support and cancer progression: A systematic review. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 67(5), 403-415. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychores.2008.12.012
- Neuman, B. (1995). *The Neuman system model* (3rd ed.). Stamford, CT: Appleton & Lange.
- Ni, C., Liu, X., Hua, Q., Lv, A., Wang, B., & Yan, Y. (2010). Relationship between coping, self-esteem, individual factors and mental health among Chinese nursing students: A matched case-control study. *Nurse Education Today*, *30*(4), 338-343. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2009.09.003
- Norton, P. J. (2007). Depression Anxiety and Stress Scales (DASS-21): Psychometric analysis across four racial groups. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping*, 20(3), 253-265. doi:10.1080/1061800701309279
- Norusis, M. J. (2012). *IBM[®] SPSS[®] statistics 19: Statistical procedures companion*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Oei, T. P. S., Sawang, S., Goh, Y. W., & Mukhtar, F. (2013). Using the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale 21 (DASS-21) across cultures. *International Journal of Psychology*, 48(6), 1108-1029. doi:10.1080/00207594.2012.75535

Oxford University Press. (2018). English Oxford Living Dictionaries. Cope. Retrieved

from https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/cope

- Padma, V., Anand, N. N., Gurukul, S. S., Javid, S. S., Prasad, A., & Arun, S. (2015).
  Health problems and stress in information technology and business process outsourcing employees. *Journal of Pharmacy and Bioallied Sciences*, 5(9), 9-13. doi:10.4103/0975-7406.155764
- Pallant, J. (2016). SPSS survival manual: A step by step guide to data analysis using IBM SPSS (6th ed.). Maidenhead: Open University Press/McGraw-Hill.
- Papazisis, G., Tsiga, E., Papanikolaou, N., Vlasiadis, I., & Sapountzi-Krepia, D. (2008).
  Psychological distress, anxiety and depression among nursing students in Greece. *International Journal of Caring Sciences*, 1(1), 42-46. Retrieved from
  http://internationaljournalofcaringsciences.org/docs/Vol1_Issue1_06_Papazisis.pd
  f
- Passer, M. W., & Smith, S. E. (2009). *Psychology: The science of mind and behavior* (4th ed.). McGraw-Hill Publishers.
- Patil, N. V., Mohite, V. R., Shinde, M., Satwe, V., Kadam, S., & Shirole, S. (2016).
  Assessment of the level of depression, anxiety, and stress among 1st year RGNM students. *Indian Journal of Applied Research*, *6*(7), 130-132.
  doi:10.15373/2249555xy
- Patterson, S. L. (2016). The effect of emotional freedom technique on stress and anxiety in nursing students: A pilot study. *Nurse Education Today*, 40, 104-110. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2016.02.003

Paykel, E. S. (1994). Life events, social support and depression. Acta Psychiatrica

Scandinavica, 89, 50-58. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0447.1994.tb05803.x

- Payne, N. (2001). Occupational stressors and coping as determinants of burnout in female hospice nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *33* (3), 396–405.
  doi:10.1046/j.1365-2648.2001.01677.x
- Peng, J., Xiao, W., Yang, Y., Wu, S., & Miao, D. (2014). The impact of trait anxiety on self-frame and decision making. *Journal of Behavior Decision Making*, 27(1), 11-19. doi:10.1002/bdu.1783
- Pidgeon, A. M., McGrath, S., Magya, H. B., Stapleton, P., & Lo, B. C. Y. (2014).
  Psychosocial moderators of perceived stress, anxiety, and depression in university students: An international study. *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, 2(11), 23-31. doi:10.4236/iss.2014.211004
- Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2008). *Essentials of nursing research: Appraising evidence for nursing practice* (8th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Wolters Kluwer.
- Pryjmachuk, S., & Richards, D. (2008). Predicting stress in pre-registration midwifery students attending a university in Northern England. *Midwifery*, 24(1), 108-122. doi:10.1016/j.midw.2006.07.006
- Pym, J., Goodman, S., & Patsika, N. (2011). Does belonging matter?: Exploring the role of social connectedness as a critical factor in students' transition. *Psychology in Society*, 42, 35-50. Retrieved from http://www.scielo.org.za/scielo.php?pid=S1015-

60462011000200004&script=sci_arttext&tlng=en

Radloff, L. S. (1991). The use of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression Scale

in adolescents and young adults. *Journal of Youth and Adolescents*, 20(2), 149-166. doi:10.1177/BF01537606

- Rafati, F., Nouhi, E., Sabzehvari, S., & Dehghan-Nayyeri, N. (2017). Iranian nursing students' experience of stressors in their first clinical experience. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 33(3), 250-257. doi:10.1016/j.profnurs.2016.09.003
- Rahat, E., & Ilhan, J. (2016). Coping styles, social support, relational self-construal and resilience in predicting students' adjustment to university life. *Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice*, *16*(1), 187-208. doi:10.12738/estp.2016.1.0058
- Rahnama, M., Shahdadi, H., Bagheri, S., Moghadam, M. P., & Absalan, A. (2017). The relationship between anxiety and coping strategies in family caregivers of patients with trauma. *Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research*, *11*(4), IC06-IC09. doi:10.7860/JCDR/2017/25951.9673
- Ramezankhani, A., Gharlipour, Z., Heydarabadi, A. B., Tavassoli, E., Motalebi, M.,
  Barekati, H., . . . & Moosavi, S. A. (2013). Perceived social support, depression,
  and perceived stress in university students. *Journal of Paramedical Sciences*,
  4(4), 31-36. Retrieved from http://journals.sbmu.ac.ir/jps/article/view/4846/4299
- Ratanasiripong, P. (2012). Mental health of Muslim nursing students in Thailand. *ISRN Nursing*, *2012*. doi:10.5402/2012/463471
- Ratanasiripong, P., Kaewboonchoo, O., Ratanasiripong, N., Hanklang, S., & Chumchai,
  P. (2015). Biofeedback intervention for stress, anxiety, and depression among
  graduate students in public health nursing. *Nursing Research and Practice*, 1-5.
  doi:10.1155/2015/160746

- Rathnayake, S., & Ekanayaka, J. (2016). Depression, anxiety, and stress among undergraduate nursing students in a public university in Sri Lanka. *International Journal of Caring Sciences*, 9(3), 1020-1032. Retrieved from http://www.internationaljournalofcaringsciences.org/docs/31_rathnayaky_originia
  1 9 3.pdf
- Reeve, K. L., Shumaker, C. J., Yearwood, E. L., Crowell, N. A., & Riley, J. B. (2013).
  Perceived stress and social support in undergraduate nursing students' educational experiences. *Nurse Education Today*, *33*(4), 419-423.
  doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2012.11.009
- Rezini, D., Baki, T., & Rahmani, Y. (2016). A new concept of plane stress analysis of notched flat bar in axial tension. *Archive of Applied Mechanics*, *86*(8), 1483-1494. doi:10.1007/s00419.016-1130-z
- Ribeiro, I. J. S., Pereira, R., Freire, I. V., Oliveira, B. G. O., Caotti, C. A., & Boery, E. N. (2017) (in press). Stress and quality of life among university students: A systematic literature review. *Health Professions Education*. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.hpe.2017.03.002
- Richardson, J. T. E. (2011). Eta squared and partial eta squared as measures of effect size in educational research. *Educational Research Review*, 6(2), 135-147.
  doi:10.1016/j.edurev.2010.12.001
- Risal, A., Manandhar, K., Linde, M., Steiner, T. J., & Holen, A. (2016). Anxiety and depression in Nepal: Prevalence, comorbidity and association. *BMC Psychiatry*, *16*(102). doi:10.1186/s12888-016-0810-0

- Risal, A., Sanjel, S., & Sharma, P. P. (2016). Study of depression among the nursing students in a university medical college of Nepal. *Kathmandu University Medical Journal*, 14(3), 264-268. Retrieved from http://www.kumj.com.np/issue/55/264-268.pdf
- Roohafza, H. R., Afshar, H., Keshteli, A. H., Mohammadi, N., Feizi, A., Taslimi, M., & Adibi, P. (2014). What's the role of perceived social support and coping styles in depression and anxiety? *Journal of Research in Medical Sciences*, *19*(10), 944-949. Retrieved from https://eds-b-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=e4bd16d9-d740-4c86-a95b-fe6446d23bab%40pdc-v-sessmgr01
- Roohafza, H., Feizi, A., Afshar, H., Mazaheri, M., Behnamfar, O., Hassanzadeh-Keshteli,
  A., & Adibi, P. (2016). Path analysis of relationship among personality, perceived stress, coping, social support, and psychological outcomes. *World Journal of Psychiatry*, 6(2), 248-256. doi:10.5498/wjp.v6.i2.248
- Roy, C. (2009). The Roy adaptation model (3rd ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Roy, C. (2011). Research based on the Roy Adaptation Model: Last 25 years. Nursing Science Quarterly, 24(4), 312-320. doi:1177/0894318411419218
- Rude, S. S., & Burnham, B. L. (1995). Connectedness and neediness: Factors for DEQ
   AND SAS dependency scales. *Cognitive Therapy & Research*, 19(3), 323-340.
   doi:10.1007/BF2230403
- Rueger, S. Y., Malecki, C. K., Pyun, Y., Aycock, C., & Coyle, S. (2016). A meta-analytic review of the association between perceived social support and depression in

childhood and adolescence. *Psychological Bulletin*, *142*(10), 1017-1067. doi:10.1037/bul0000058

Sahoo, S., & Khess, C. R. (2010). Prevalence of depression, anxiety, and stress among young male adults in India: A dimensional and categorical diagnoses-based study. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, *198*(12), 901-904. doi:10.1097/NMD.0b013e3181fe75dc

Samuolis, J., Griffin, K., Mason, M. J., & Dekraker, N. (2017). Connectedness to campus and likelihood of help-seeking for suicidality among college women. *Journal of College Student Psychotherapy*, *31*(3), 238-246. doi:10.1080/87568225.2017.1312176

Sawatzky, J. A. V. (1998). Understanding nursing students' stress: A proposed framework. *Nurse Education Today*, 18(2), 108-115. doi: 10.1016/S0260-6917 (98)80014-2

- Sawant, N. S., & Jethwani, K. S. (2010). Understanding family functioning and social support in unremitting schizophrenia: A study in India. *Indian Journal of Psychiatry*, 52(2), 145-149. doi:10.4103/0019-5545.64593
- Schafer, J. L. (1999). Multiple imputation: A primer. *Statistical Methods in Medical Research*, 8(1), 3-15. doi:10.1177/09622809900800102

Selye, H. (1976). Stress in health and disease. Boston, MA: Butterworth.

Shakya, D. R., Lama, S., Shrestha, M., Pandey, A. K., Shyangwa, P. M., & Deo, B. K.
(2013). Psychological problems among nursing students: Study from a Nepalese health institute. *European Psychiatry*, 28(1), 1. doi:10.1016/s0924-9338

(13)76341-7

- Shavitt, S., Cho, Y. I., Johnson, T. P., Jiang, D., Holbrook, A., & Stavrakantonabi, M. (2016). Culture moderates the relationship between perceived stress, social support, and mental and physical health. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *47*(7), 956-980. doi:10.1177/0022022116656132
- Shelton, E. N. (2012). A model of nursing student retention. *International Journal of Nursing Education Scholarship*, 9(1), 1-16. doi:10.1515/1548-923X.2334
- Sheu, S., Lin, H., & Hwang, S. (2002). Perceived stress physio-psycho- social status of nursing students during their initial period of clinical practice: the effect of coping behaviors. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *39*(2), 165-175. doi:10.1016/S0020-7489(01)00016-5
- Shrestha, S., & Lama, R. (2014). Stress/stressors as perceived by Nepalese nursing students. *International Journal of Nursing Research and Practice*, 1(2), 5-9. Retrieved from http://www.uphtr.com/issue_files/4%20Sandhya.pdf
- Shrestha, T. (2013). Stress among PCL nursing students of TUIOM nursing campuses in the Kathmandu Valley. *Journal of Institute of Medicine*, 35(3), 56-61. Retrieved from http://jiom.com.np/index.php/jiomjournal/article/viewFile/647/600
- Sigdel, A., & Pokharel, P. (2015). Prevalence of depression among certificate and nursing students of Chitwan District, Nepal. *Journal of Nepal Public Association*, 6(1), 8-12. Retrieved from
  - http://journal.nepha.org.np/images/Prevalence_of_Depression_among_Certificate _Level_Nursing_Students_of_Chitwan_District_Nepal_By_anil_Sigdel.pdf

- Singh, K., Junnarkar, M., & Sharma, S. (2015). Anxiety, stress, depression and psychosocial functioning of Indian adolescents. *Indian Journal of Psychiatry*, 57(4), 367-374. doi:10.4103/0049-5545.171841
- Singh, N., & Kohli, C. (2015). Stress reaction and coping strategies among nursing students in Delhi. Asian Journal of Nursing Education and Research, 5(2), 274-278. doi:10.5958/2349-1996.2015.00054.3
- Smith, G. D., & Yang, F. (2017). Stress, resilience and psychological well-being in Chinese undergraduate students. *Nurse Education Today*, 49, 90-95. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2016.10.004
- Spielberger, C. D. (1983). *Manual for the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (Form Y)*. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Sreeramreddy, C. T., Shankar, P. R., Binu, V. S., Mukhopadhaya, C., Ray, B., & Menezes, R. G. (2007). Psychological morbidity, sources of stress, and coping strategies among undergraduate medical students of Nepal. *BMC Medical Education*, 7(26). doi:10.1186/1472-6920-7-26
- Stebleton, M. J., Soria, K. M., & Huesman Jr., R. L. (2014). First-generation students' sense of belonging, mental health, and use of counseling services at Public Research Universities. *Journal of Collage Counseling*, *17*(1), 6-20. doi:10.1002/j.2161-1882.2014.00044.x
- Stecker, T. (2004). Well-being in an academic environment. *Medical Education*, *38*(5), 465-478. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2929.2004.01812.x

Steese, S., Dollette, M., Phillips, W., Hossfeld, E., Mathews, G., & Taormina, G. (2006).

Understanding girls' circle as an intervention on perceived social support, body image, self-efficacy, locus of control & self-esteem. *Adolescence*, *41*(161), 55-74. Retrieved from https://search-proquestcom.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/docview/195937968/fulltextPDF/68A986DEF4D748 A4PQ/6?accountid=14872

- Steinberg, A., & Ritzmann, R. F. (1990). A living systems approach to understanding the concept of stress. *Behavioral Science*, 35(2), 138-146. doi:10.1002/bs.3830350206.
- Stevens, J. P. (2009). *Applied multivariate statistics for the social sciences* (5th ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Stupnisky, R. H., Perry, R. P., Renaud, R. D., & Hladkyj, S. (2013). Looking beyond grades: Comparing self-esteem and perceived academic control as predictors of first-year college students' well-being. *Learning and Individual Differences, 23*, 151-157. doi:10.1016/j.lindif.2012.07.008
- Suen, W. Q., Lim, S., Wang, W., & Kowitlawakul, Y. (2016). Stressors and expectations of undergraduate nursing students during clinical practice in Singapore.
   *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, 22(6), 574-583. doi:10.1111/ijn.12473
- Sulkowski, M. L. (2011). An investigation of students' willingness to report threats of violence in campus communities. *Psychology of Violence*, 1(1), 53-65. doi:10.1037/a0021592
- Suls, J., & Fletcher, B. (1985). The relative efficacy of avoidant and non-avoidant coping strategies: A meta-analysis. *Health Psychology*, 4(3), 249-288. doi:10.1037/0278-

6133.4.3.249

Summers, J. J., Svinicki, M. D., Gorin, J. S., & Sullivan, T. A. (2002). Student feelings of connection to the campus and openness to diversity and challenge at a large research university: Evidence of progress. *Innovative Higher Education*, 27(1). Retrieved from https://eds-a-ebscohostcom.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=9cc56c5e-

Suresh, P., Mathews, A., & Coyne, I. (2013). Stress and stressors in the clinical environment: A comparative study of fourth-year student nurses and newly

68ca-4712-9f2c-77215e7470b5%40sessionmgr4010

doi:10.1111/j.1365-2702.2012.04145.x

Tada, A. (2017). The associations among psychological distress, coping styles, and health habits in Japanese nursing students. *International Journal of Environment Research and Public Health*, *14*(11), 1434. doi:10.3390/ijerph14111434

qualified general nurses in Ireland. Journal of Clinical Nursing, 22(5-6), 770-779.

- The American Heritage Science Dictionary. (n.d.). *Stress*. Retrieved from dictionary.reference.com/browse/stress
- Thoits, P. A. (1986). Social support as coping assistance. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *54*(4), 416-423. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.54.4.416
- Thoits, P. A. (1995). Stress, coping, and social support processes: Where are we? What next? *Journal of Health and Social Behavior, (extra issue)*, 53-79. doi:2307/2626957

Thoits, P. A. (2011). Perceived social support and the voluntary, mixed, or personal use

of mental health services. Social Mental Health, 1(1), 4-19.

doi:10.1177/2156869310392793

- Thomsen, T. G., Rydahl-Hansen, S., & Wagner, L. (2010). A review of potential factors relevant to coping in patients with advanced cancer. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 19 (23-24), 3410-3426. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2702.2009.03154.x.
- Timmins, F., Corroon, A. M., Byrne, G., & Mooney, B. (2011). The challenge of contemporary nurse education programs. Perceived stressors of nursing students: Mental health and related lifestyle issues. *Journal of Psychiatry and Mental Health Nursing*, *18*(9), 758-766. doi:10.111/j.1365-2850.2011.01780.x
- Tonsing, K., Zimet, G. D., & Tse, S. (2012). Assessing social support among South Asians: The multidimensional scale of perceived social support. Asian Journal of Psychiatry, 5(2), 164-168. doi:10.1016/j.ajp.2012.02.012
- Tosevski, D. L., Milovancevic, M. P., & Gajic, S. D. (2010). Personality and psychotherapy of university students. *Current Opion in Psychiatry*, 23(1), 48-52. doi:10.1097/YCO.013e328333d625
- Townsend, K. C., & McWhirter, B. T. (2005). Connectedness: A review of the literature with implications for counseling, assessment, and research. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 83(2), 191-201. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6678.2005.tb00596.x
- Tran, T. D., Tran, T., & Fisher, J. (2013). Validation of the depression anxiety stress (DASS) 21 as a screening instrument for depression and anxiety in a rural community-based cohort of northern Vietnamese women. *BMC Psychiatry*, *13*(24). doi:10.1186/1471-244X-13-24

Turner, J. H. (2007). Human emotions: A sociological theory. New York, NY: Routledge.

- Uchino, B. N. (2009). Understanding the links between social support and physical health: A life- span perspective with emphasis on the separability of perceived and received support. *Perspectives on Psychological Sciences*, 4(3), 236-255. doi:10.1111/j.1745-6924.2009.01122.x
- Uras, C., Poggi, A. D., Rocco, G., & Tabolli, S. (2012). Risk of anxiety and depression in nursing students in Rome, Italy. *Igiene e Sanita Pubblica*, 68(4), 555-564.
  Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23073375
- van Berkel, H. (2009). *The relationship between personality, coping styles and stress, anxiety and depression*. Thesis of Master of Science in Psychology, University of Canterbury.
- Walker, L. O., & Avant, K. C. (2011). Strategies for theory construction in nursing (5th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Walkey, F. H., & Welch, G. (2010). Demystifying factor analysis: How it works and how to use it. Bloomington, IN: Xlibris Corporation.
- Walton, G., & Cohen, G. (2011). A brief social-belongingness intervention improves academic and health outcomes of minority students. *Science*, *333*, 1447-1451. doi:10.1126/science.1198364
- Wang, X. (2014). Subjective well-being associated with size of social network and social support of elderly. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *21*(6), 1037-1042.
  doi:10.1177/1359105314544136

Wang, X., Cai, L., & Peng, J. (2014). Social support moderates stress effects on

depression. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, 8(1), 41-45. doi:10.1186/1752-4458-8-41

- Wang, S. W., & Lau, A. S. (2015). Mutual and non-mutual social support: Cultural differences in the psychological behavioral and biological effects of support seeking. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *46*, 916-929. doi:10.1177/00220022115592967
- Wheaton, B. (2007). The twain meets: Distress, disorder and the continuing conundrum of categories (comment on Horwitz). *Health: An Interdisciplinary Journal for the Social Study of Health, Illness and Medicine*, *11*(3), 303-319.
  doi:10.1177/1363459307077545
- Whitlock, J., Wyman, P. A., & Moore, S. R. (2014). Connectedness and suicide prevention in adolescents: Pathways and implications. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 44(3), 246- 272. doi:10.1111/sltb.12071
- Williams, K. L., & Galliher, R. V. (2006). Predicting depression and self-esteem from social connectedness, support, and competence. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 25(8), 855-874. doi:10.15211jscp.2006.25.8.855
- Wilson, J. F. (1981). Behavioral preparation for surgery: Benefit or harm? *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 4(1), 79-102. doi:10.1007/BF00844849
- Wolf, L., Stidham, A. W., & Ross, R. (2015). Predictors of stress and coping strategies of US accelerated vs. generic baccalaureate nursing students: An embedded mixed methods study. *Nurse Education Today*, *35*(1), 201-205. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2014.07.005

- Wongpakaran, T., Wongpakaran, N., & Ruktrakul, R. (2011). Reliability and validity of the multidimensional scale of perceived social support (MSPSS): Thai version. *Clinical Practice & Epidemiology in Mental Health*, *7*, 161-166. doi:10.2174/1745017901107010161
- Xu, Y., Chi, X., Chen, S., Qi, J., Zhang, P., & Yang, Y. (2014). Prevalence and correlates of depression among college nursing students. *Nurse Education Today*, *34*(6), e7-e12. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2013.10.017
- Yaman, E. (2015). Mobbing and Stress. International Journal of Progressive Education, 11(2), 6-13. Retrieved from http://web.b.ebscohost.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?si d=edf5ae3f-a750-40f8-ba70-6ab9ad530ddb%40sessionmgr115&vid=3&hid=118
- Yamashita, K., Saito, M., & Takao, T. (2012). Stress and coping styles in Japanese nursing students. *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, 18(5), 489-496. doi:10.1111.j.1440-172X.2012.02056.x
- Yasin, A. S., & Dzulkifli, M. A. (2010). The relationship between social support and psychological problems among students. International *Journal of Business and Social Science 1*(3). 110-116. Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com/
- Yehia, D. B. M., Jacoub, S. M., & Eser, S. M. (2016). Predictors of coping strategies among nursing college students at AL-Zaytoonah University of Jordan. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 7(15), 149-154. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1103144.pdf

Yildirim, N., Karaca, A., Cangur, S., Acikgoz, F., & Akkus, D. (2017). The relationship

between education stress coping, self-esteem, social support, and health status among nursing students in Turkey: A structural equation modelling approach. *Nurse Education Today*, *48*, 33-39. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2016.09.014

Zhang, Y. C., Chernaik, M., & Hallet, K. (2017). Relationship issues among college nursing students: Associations with stress, coping, sleep, and mental disorders. *Teaching and Learning in Nursing*, *12*(4), 246-252. doi:10.1016/j.tein,2017.06.005

Zhao, F., Lei, X., He, W., Gu, Y., & Li, D. (2015). The study of perceived stress, coping strategy and self-efficacy of Chinese undergraduate nursing students in clinical practice. *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, 21(4), 401-409. doi:10.1111/ijn.12273

Zimet, G. D., Dahlem, N. W., & Zimet, S. G., & Farley, G. F. (1988). The multidimensional scale of perceived social support. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 52(1), 30-41. doi:10.1207/s/5327752jpa5201_2

Zung, W. (1965). A self-rating depression scale. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *12*(1), 63-70. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.1965.01720310065008

## Appendix A: Sociodemographic Information

- 1. Age (completed years):
- 2. Current living arrangement?
  - a. Hostel
  - b. Living with family
  - c. Living with relatives
  - d. Others, specify
- 3. Residence prior to joining college
  - a. Rural
  - b. urban

#### 4. Marital Status

- a. Single
- b. Married
- c. Divorced
- d. Widowed
- 5. Arrangement for paying college fee
  - a. Scholarship
  - b. Education loan
  - c. Parents/relatives
  - d. Others, specify _____
- 6. Do you have difficulty in paying your fee on time?
  - a. Yes
  - b. No

Researcher's use Only

Code No.

- 7. The reason for choosing nursing as your college education
  - a. Self interest
  - b. Parent (s) influence
  - c. Failure in another interested field
  - d. Others (specify):
- 8. Are counseling services available in your college?
  - a. Yes
  - b. No

### If yes,

- 9. Who provides counseling services in your college? (you can choose more than one responses)
- a. Faculty
- b. Professional counselor
- c. Administrative staff
- d. Others, specify _____
- 10. Current academic year
  - a. First
  - b. Second
  - c. Third
  - d. Fourth

# Appendix B: Depression Anxiety Stress Scale-21

Please read each statement and circle a number 0, 1, 2 or 3 which indicates how much the statement applied to you <i>over the past week</i> . There are no right or wrong answers. Do not spend too much time on any statement.									
<ul> <li>The rating scale is as follows:</li> <li>0 Did not apply to me at all</li> <li>1 Applied to me to some degree, or some of the time</li> <li>2 Applied to me to a considerable degree, or a good part of time</li> </ul>									
3 Applied to me very much, or most of the time									
1	I found it hard to wind down	0	1	2	3				
2	I was aware of dryness of my mouth	0	1	2	3				
3	I couldn't seem to experience any positive feeling at all	0	1	2	3				
4	I experienced breathing difficulty (eg, excessively rapid breathing, breathlessness in the absence of physical exertion)	0	1	2	3				
5	I found it difficult to work up the initiative to do things	0	1	2	3				
6	I tended to over-react to situations	0	1	2	3				
7	I experienced trembling (eg, in the hands)	0	1	2	3				
8	I felt that I was using a lot of nervous energy	0	1	2	3				
9	I was worried about situations in which I might panic and make a fool of myself	0	1	2	3				
10	I felt that I had nothing to look forward to	0	1	2	3				
11	I found myself getting agitated	0	1	2	3				
12	I found it difficult to relax	0	1	2	3				
13	I felt down-hearted and blue	0	1	2	3				
14	I was intolerant of anything that kept me from getting on with what I was doing	0	1	2	3				
15	I felt I was close to panic	0	1	2	3				
16	I was unable to become enthusiastic about anything	0	1	2	3				
17	I felt I wasn't worth much as a person	0	1	2	3				
18	I felt that I was rather touchy	0	1	2	3				
19	I was aware of the action of my heart in the absence of physical exertion (eg, sense of heart rate increase, heart missing a beat)	0	1	2	3				
20	I felt scared without any good reason	0	1	2	3				
21	I felt that life was meaningless	0	1	2	3				

### Appendix C: Campus Connectedness Scale

Directions: The following statements reflect various ways in which you may describe your experience on this entire college campus. Rate the degree to which you agree or disagree with each statement using the following scale (1= Strongly Disagree and 6 = Strongly Agree). There is no right or wrong answer. Do not spend too much time with any one statement and do not leave any unanswered.

Strongly Disagree 1	Mildly I 2	Disagree 3	Mildly Agree	4 A	gree	Stroi 5	ngly	Agro	ee 6	
1. There are people of I feel a close bond	n campus wi	th whom			1	2	3	4	5	6
*2. I don't feel that I r that I know on campu	eally belong	g around the	e people		1	2	3	4	5	6
3. I feel that I can sha other students	re personal o	concerns w	rith		1	2	3	4	5	6
4. I am able to make of a diverse group of peo	connections ople	with			1	2	3	4	5	6
*5. I feel so distant fro	om the other	students				1 2	3	4	5	6
*6. I have no sense of	togethernes	s with my	peers			1 2	3	4	5	6
7. I can relate to my f	ellow classn	nates			1	2	3	4	5	6
*8. I catch myself lost connectedness with co	ing all sense ollege life	of			1	2	3	4	5	6
9. I feel that I fit right	in on camp	us			1	2	3	4	5	6
*10. There is no sense with my college friend	e of brother/ ds	sisterhood			1	2	3	4	5	6
*11. I don't feel relate	d to anyone	on campus	5		1	2	3	4	5	6
12. Other students ma	ake me feel	at home on	1		1	2	3	4	5	6
*13. I feel disconne	ected from c	ampus life.			1	2	3	4	5	6
*14. I don't feel I part or any group	icipate with	anyone			1	2	3	4	5	6
*Reverse score nega	ative items	2, 5, 6, 8,	10, 11, 13, 14	and s	sum all 14	l iten	ıs			

### Appendix D: Multidimensional Perceived Social Support Scale

Instructions: We are interested in how you feel about the following statements. Read each statement carefully. Indicate how you feel about each statement.

Circle the "1" if you Very Strongly Disagree= VSD

Circle the "2" if you Strongly Disagree= SD

Circle the "3" if you are Mildly Disagree= MD

Circle the "4" if you **are Neutral= N** 

Circle the "5" if you Mildly Agree= MA

Circle the "6" if you Strongly Agree= SA

Circle the "7" if you Very Strongly Agree= VSA

		VSD	SD	MD	Ν	MA	SA	VSA
1.	There is a special person who is around when I am in need	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2.	There is a special person with whom I can share joys and sorrows	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3.	My family really tries to help me.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
4.	I get the emotional help & support I need from my family	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
5.	I have a special person who is a real source of comfort to me.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
6.	My friends really try to help me	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
7.	I can count on my friends when things go wrong	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
8.	I can talk about my problems with my family	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
9.	I have friends with whom I can share my joys and sorrows	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

								201
10.	There is a special person in my life who cares about my feelings	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
11.	My family is willing to help me make decisions.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
12.	I can talk about my problems with my friends	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
## Appendix E: Brief Cope Inventory

There are many ways to try to deal with problems. The following items ask what you've been doing to cope with your problems. Obviously, different people deal with things in different ways, but I'm interested in how you've tried to deal with it. Each item says something about a particular way of coping. I want to know to what extent you've been doing what the item says. Use these response choices. Make your answers as true FOR YOU as you can by ticking ( $\sqrt{}$ ) answer (either 1, 2, 3, or 4).

1 = I haven't been doing this at all

2 = I've been doing this a little bit

3 = I've been doing this a medium amount

4 = I've been doing this a lot

S.No.

## **Coping Strategy**

1 2 3 4

- 1. I've been turning to work or other activities to take my mind off things.
- 2 I've been concentrating my efforts on doing something about the situation I'm in.
- 3. I've been saying to myself "this isn't real.".
- 4. I've been using alcohol or other drugs to make myself feel better.
- 5. I've been getting emotional support from others.
- 6. I've been giving up trying to deal with it.
- 7. I've been taking action to try to make the situation better.
- 8. I've been refusing to believe that it has happened.
- 9. I've been saying things to let my unpleasant feelings escape.
- 10. I've been getting help and advice from other people.
- 11. I've been using alcohol or other drugs to help me get through it.
- 12. I've been trying to see it in a different light, to make it seem more positive.

- 13. I've been criticizing myself.
- 14. I've been trying to come up with a strategy about what to do.
- 15. I've been getting comfort and understanding from someone.
- 16. I've been giving up the attempt to cope.
- 17. I've been looking for something good in what is happening.
- 18. I've been making jokes about it.
- 19. I've been doing something to think about it less, such as going to movies, watching TV, reading, daydreaming, sleeping, or shopping.
- 20. I've been accepting the reality of the fact that it has happened.
- 21. I've been expressing my negative feelings.
- 22. I've been trying to find comfort in my religion or spiritual beliefs.
- 23. I've been trying to get advice or help from other people about what to do.
- 24. I've been learning to live with it.
- 25. I've been thinking hard about what steps to take.
- 26. I've been blaming myself for things that happened.
- 27. I've been praying or meditating.
- 28. I've been making fun of the situation.

Scales are computed as follows (with no reversals of coding):

Self-distraction, items 1 and 19

Active coping, items 2 and 7

Denial, items 3 and 8

Substance use, items 4 and 11

Use of emotional support, items 5 and 15

Use of instrumental support, items 10 and 23

Behavioral disengagement, items 6 and 16

Venting, items 9 and 21

Positive reframing, items 12 and 17

Planning, items 14 and 25

Humor, items 18 and 28

Acceptance, items 20 and 24

Religion, items 22 and 27

Self-blame, items 13 and 26